———y
o

ngl
gy
Fis s

V
Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328

SECRET 1
NO FOREIGHN DISSEY

KGB EXPLOITATION OF HEINZ FELFE

successful KGR Penctration

of a Western Intelligence Service

SECREH
NO FOREIGM DISSEM

Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328



I.
1.

III.

Iv.

V.
vI.

Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328

SECRET
NO FOREIGM DISSEM

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction and Summary

Soviet Operations Against Gehlen Organization
in the Early Post-War Years

a.
b.
CI

dl

e.

Background Information on Felfe
Background Information on Clemens
Soviet Recruitment of Felfe and Clemans

Alternate Versions of Racruitment by KGB
and Hiring by Gehlen Organization

Early Stages of KGB Operation -- the BALTHASAR

Deception

Operations of the Early 1950's

a.

b.

KGB Work in West Germany as a Sovereign Country:

a.
b.
.

d.

Efforts to Discredit tha Gehlen Organization

Felfe Settles In -- the gggg Deception

Targeting of CIA, Provocation, Tactical Decaption
Support of Soviet Policy and Political Deception

Methods of Communication

Hew Directions?

Investigation and Arrest

The Aftermath

ANNEXES

The HACKE Story
LILLI MARLEN Case

The Sokolov Lase
ZUVERSICHT Case
MERKATOR Case

Glossary of German Words and Abbreviations

e

SECRET
NO FOREIGN DISSEM

Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328

Page

15
17
20
21

26

1956-61 50

92
96
101
112
115
117



Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328

What happens Wi the KOB® has a high Level penstration of
& Western intelligence service? MNow does the XGB exploit the
volumincus informetion received on enemy operations, while at the
same time protecting the security of its source? More importantly,
does the XKOB handling of such an sgeut leave tell-tale signs
which would permit an alert and knowledgeable Western counter-
intelligence officer to surmise the existence of such & penetration?
:tmmwmmmaamm;«mm,
ut mgmmmmorxemramwmpm

Mmmmummma:ammw
@nd security services, Eeinz Felfe wvas certainly one of the most
successful. Felfe was an officer of the West Germsn Foreign
chsmiee (BED)** for ten years, six of them as deputy
chief of the section responsible smong other things for countering
Soviet ssplonage. He vas a dedicated Soviet sgent throughout this
wm,and’f’lmummmmmmmmm
in November 1961. Ne was detected as a result of a leed provided
by a CIA-run penetration of the Polish Intelligence Service (UB).

Pelfe was more than & simple penstration agent; he becams, in
effect, & consultant to the KB on many of its operations in West

Gormeny. Through Felfe, the Soviets pursued three objectives:

8. To protect the security of Soviet installations and personnel

%  For convemience, the texrm KB will be used throughout this
peper, sven though during part of ‘the period cosered the proper
terminology for the State Security Service ¥as M3B or MVD.

**  From 1947 to 1956, when 1t had no lsgal status, this was
known as the Gehlen Orgsnization. In 1956, after Weat

had regained its soveredgnty, it hecsme the BND, which iz the
Germen abbreviation For Pederal Iutelligence Service. Foxr con-

venience and simplieity it 1z frequently referred to as the BID
mﬁatﬁem&iﬂmnmﬁ.
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in West Germany and in East Germany, and to detect Western
operations inside the Soviet Uniocn. To this end, the XGB
ran deception operstions designed to expand Felfe!s access
to information not only from his own service, but also from
other West German and Allied services including CIA.

b. To confuse, disorient and discredit the West German
foreign intelligence service. The aim was not only to
penstrate the gervice, but to manipulate it to serve Soviet
interests.

¢. To collect political intelligence on West Germany.
This goal, and the equally important objective of political
disinformation, assumed increasing importance as the case
progressed and may have ultimetely become the most importsnt
in Soviet eyes, as & suppert to Soviet foreign policy
cbJjectives.

The reader will not find here a coxplete history of the Pelfe
case; that would require a much larger volume. The broad lines
of the story are here, and one chapter in particular is devoted
mmwmmmmmn,mmtmgmw
perscnas. nﬁamgfummmEmmmmmcm,
and theu, thru Clemens, Felfe. Thay had been collsagues in
Nesi istelligence during the war, motivated after the vai by
revenge against the Americans, uouey, and a desire to be on vhat
they considered the most poverful side. MW essentially
& selsctive and interpretive account, for the purpose of illustrating
KGB methods of bandling and supporting s well-place staff penetration of
a!&tmvme. The lessons tc be learned lie in the various
deception and diversionary operations run by the XKGB to bulld up
Pelfe's reputation in the BAD, expand his access, protect his security,
and creste an’'illusion that the Serman service was effectively fulfilling
its CE misslon, vhile the Soviets were generally ineffective.

There are many vays by which Felfe might bave been urmasked
earlier than he wvas. Even a thorough nemecheck might have done
the trick. mcmmmohmbmcmghtmxmu‘m';mm
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been given to analyticsl evidence which clearly indicated something
was amiss, rather then waiting to be spurred to action by & report
from our own sensitive penetration soures. Indicsations of Soviet
ponetration of the IND were to be found in the deception and
diversionmry operations run by ihe KGE for the express puIrpose
of supporting or protecting Felfe. Although support and protection
of penetration agents in Vester: services i1s not the only resscn
t::a mj:u %fe; deception and diversionmry operetions, it 88 appesre © 4
the principal ressons for such operaticus. Study
of the Felfe case suggests that when a mamber of Sovist deception
and diversionary operations are soncentreted in one ares, or
against one servics, these qsnmstianigﬁ%;fétﬁfhn carefully analyzad
to detersine vhether ﬁi:;;igﬁicaﬁn Soviet pemetration in that area
or that service.¥ Many examples of degspiion and diversionary
operations ave discussed io detall in this study; the most important

ars summrized in the following peragraphs.

The first KiB deception opexsilon in support of Felfs was the
"BALTEKABAR" case. As far as the 2D knew at the time, BAIFEASAR was
one of 1ts better positive intelligence operetions, yrodueing infor-
mation on Soviet mining of uraniunm in Eest Gexwman end its shipmect
to the USER. The agent BALTHASAR wes a vartims friend of Clemeas
who had re-initiated contact with him snd then allowsd himself
40 bs recruited by Clemens for the ID. Actually, BALMEASARWas a KGB agent
from the bDegimning. The KIB initisted the operation to provide
Pelfets co~conspirator, Clemens, with an official ressou for repested trips
to Weat Beriin (to meet BALTHAGAR), from shere he could easily
cross to Bast Berlin to meet with iis and Felfels KGB case officer.

Another deception opereticn, the sv-called "LEEA” case was
mmtmmmmmmnmym&-mn;m
Serman intelligence officer, and probsbly also %o his career as &
Soviet sgant. It gave him status and atature within the BHD, and
mansuversbility as a Boviet agent. It wvas the vehicle for many
gambits to brodiden Felfels access to collact information, especially
political informatlon, and sometimes o disseminate disinformation.

~ ety ». q. sgapttongnd
% e = . C&S.S,,@Ij}j' ind ; ; Y ~ /
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LENA was the BND cryptonyn for an Last German political
functionary and publisher. He travelled frequently to West Germany,
where he was well recefvad in certain West German socialist cfrc}és
as an apparently fndependent, outspoken East German. His role as
a BND agent, doubled by the KGB, goes back to the early fifties.
But in January 1954, shortly after Felfe's assignment to the BMD
Headquarters CE Group, LERA sudcenly turned from what had been
{from the German point of view) a poiitive intelligence operation into
a CE case. LENA reported to the BMD that he had been introduced to
a KGB officer, and that after a flurry of meetings he had been
formally recruited by the Soviets and immediately assigned the
task of creating a net of agents to produce information on the
West German Forelgn Office and the Chancellor's Office. The Soviet
plan, as related by LENA, was highly ambitious. LENA was to be the
“German net director,” to recruit two principal agents, a pa?itica!
advisor and spotter, several support agents, and to provide names of
potentfal penetration agents. As a davgloping CE case, handling of
LENA was then transferred to the CE Group, where the newly arrived
Felfe became the Headquarters case officer. His assfomment to
this case was probably not accidental: Felfe's {mmediate superior

o elived Ho Aare_fcr
at the time was admest—vertstigy 2nother KGE penetration of the BHD,

With KGB assistance, LENA developed rapidly into the BHD's most
important CE case, and 1t made Felfe's reputation as an authority on
Soviet counterespionage.

LENA's talkative KCB case officers revealed information on
other Soviet operations in West Germany, compromising several
bona fide Soviet and Fast German agents in the process. LEBA
was “such an'inte11§gent man® ihat his VBB case officers
ostensibly enjoyed talking politics with him, and these long
conversations revealed occasional glimpses of the “true” Soviet
policy on Germany. On ths surface, LENA'S operation to penetrate

the KGB

4
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on behalf of the BND vas far more successful that the Soviet
operation using LENA to penetrate the Bonn Government. Although
LENA weporbed many potential recruits to the KUB, the only real
penetration actuslly recrulted was an ailing and incompetent

gentleman in the Press Office, who contented himself with the

product of waste baskets as his source material. To some obBervers
1t seemsd incredidle at the time that the KBB should go through so
pany mobions jJust fer this. There was created an impression of
KO8 incompetence, and KB failurc to cbtain important informatlon
fmmaamnsammamofﬁaes.*ktmmtm,mﬁw
possing the HND detalled and comprehensive information on parsonnel
mmmmmwmm'smtamxmmmm
Karlshorst. So thet this information could continue, Felfe
decided 1t was neceasary to rovide the KOB with build-up
material to keep LENA's faltering Vest Cerman net alive. For
ﬁhm,hﬂamedmmammmm
govermment for the clesrance of build-up msterial. He obtained
from the Federal Attorney Generel a statement that any material
alresdy demonstrably known to the opposition was swtomatically
no longer secret. By extension, that vhich was no longer secret
could be passed to the oppositicn as tuild-up material. Thus
vhen a XUB case officer told 1EEA, aranyaﬁhurmuam
reporting to the BED, that certoin areas of information were
alyeady covered by the KO8, Felfe could argue the virtus of
providing this information to LIFA as build-up, to satisfy pre-
sumed XGB cross-checking, or to smoke out the premmed Boviet
source. In this way, Felfe was abla to maneuver a wide variety
of information "legally” into Boviet hands. Discussion within
mmm,mtofmdecwmucm
mwmmwmwmww
Felfe's access to positive intelligence othervise inacceseible

to hinm; information which could nct be cleared for pessage &b
build-up mvmmommmawbyhm.

The LENA case also providel Felfe -~ and the KIB -- with
a resdy-made mechanism for investigsting West German personalities
of target intexest to EKBB. mmMoﬁmfwnmt
mwmmom ecertain iaformation concerning a West

K€ m tta Ty prr gl Bt P Lanbrel y FHhe cenirl <o, on (%‘ et e Vi
‘2(,(( e J/ﬂ v 2l A T2y r/&ﬂ’f"" Qt"lf@ MZML—{@ ‘xN/,‘.-;W‘[/%( “mz;_’»
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German official. LENA reported this to the BKD, and the reported

Soviet interest then provided Felfe with cover for namechecking the
official in West German and Allied files. The results went to the ¥KGB
directly, through Felfe's own clandestine communications channels, and

at a later meeting LENA would report that his KGB case officer was no
longer interested. To make this exercise more thorough, Felfe eventually
arranged permission not just to namecheck the West German targets of
interest to LENA's KGB handler, but to conduct his own detailed investi-
gation of them. Felfe arqued that if the Y60 was interested in certain
West German officials and was sezking vulnerability data on them, then it
was necessary in order to protect West Cerman security for the BND to
conduct its own fnvestigation of these pefSOﬁs to determine {f they were
in fact vulnerable to Soviet recruitment. This was done, with the results
of investigation passed by Felfe to the XGB.

The LENA operation also helped Felfe break ground for liaison between
the BMD and CIA Berlin Base concerning operations agatnst Soviet fnstal-
lations in East Berlin. OND information on these installations had heen
checked in Berlin Base files since 1954, but in 1952 Felfe began a
concerted campaign to collect detatled information from CIA on fts
operational proyram to penetrate KGB Headquarters in ¥arlshorst., The
urgency of KGE attention to Berlin Base as a CI target was heightened by
the arrest in late 1958 of a CIA penetration of Soviat military intelld-
gence in Fast Germany {Lt. Col. Popov) run at the time from Berlin Base.
Twu,yéé?%xea}2ier, CIA's Berlin tunnel operation had been detected, as
well as an apparently successful CIA attempt to recruit a member of an
RY ggf@* inteiligence point in East Berlin. It was clear to the KGB
that CIA's Berlin Base representad a8 major threat to its security.

LENA provided the BND with sizeeble amounts of information on KGR offices,

*An RU 1s a Soviet tactical military intelligence unit. In this case,
it was the RU subordinate to the Group of Soviet Forces in Germany (0SFG).

The RUs are distinct from the RRY, which is on the @ General Staff level
and am concentrates on strateqgiz intelligence.

'”4{’
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safe houses, and license and telaphone numbers in the Karlshorst
ﬁeadﬁuartars compound. This information was then checked against
informatfon available to CIA Berlin Base, with the results going back

to Felfe -~ and to the KGB. LENA also met a number of ¥GB officers
under their full true name, and these tco were nametraced b} Felfe

with friendly services, providing the K0B with a mechanism for name-
tracing some of their personnel in CIA files. In additdon to LENA,

the KGB created other operations producing informatiorn on Karlshorst
Headquayters, and arranged for these operations to fall under Felfe's
Jurisdiction. Through manipulation of these operations, and his personal
role in engineering a number of crises in CIA-BND reiationships, Felfe
was able to force a reluctant Berlin Base to give him a general briefinn
on the status of CIA operations against Karlshorst. Over a period of
several years, Felfe, with the assistance of KGB operations. was able to
achieve ever-closer BND-CIA cooparation in operations against Karlshorst.
In one case when he - or the KGB - suspected CIA had an agent in an

East Berlin housing office, Felfe, with KGE assistance, boldly provoked
confirmation of this fact by trying to recruit one of our agent's colleaques.
He placed an ad in a West Berlin newspaper designed to attract secretarial
help from the East Sector. Our agent's secretary answered the ad”ﬁﬂg;’nz;&
behest), and Felfe informed us that he intended to recruit her as a

source, We then told him that we already employed her chief and asked

him to stop his approach since 1t might endanger our agent, As a result

of such activity by Felfe and the KGB, the hitherto unilateral Berlin
el

- Base program against Karlshorst wasA%gﬁgromised.

There mm were 2lso other cases of provocation to identify CIA agents.
One involved mm a West German businessman, recruited by Berlin Rase to
report on Soviet trade contacts, thén approached by the KGB and targeted
against the West German and U.S. Fmbassies in Moscow. He was suspected
by the KGR of Western intelligence contacts. Therefore, the KGB closed
out all the agent's KGB requirements except one, namely to spot, recruit
and maneuver inte place a West Serman girl suitable to be a German fmbassy
secretary. By intreducing a CE factor urgently affecting German security,
the KGB succeeded not only in forcing revelation of the case to the BHD,
but an actual turnover of the case to the DNO,

-
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umwemwmmsmwm,mm. In ancthex
case, a West Germen woman un by CIA,Felfe provoked revelation of our
mwmmmnsmmmormmwmsﬁm Lt
v Frad Ak T R W A
behavior while in Moscow. ang,mmmebmofﬁ
K'élg*MCM bt
208 "dangle” operation -- & Scovist lover

asd=appals mmtim: recruaitanle.

Another iktegral part of the Felfe case is the"LIILI MARLEX"

operation, which cceurred in 195%, and the relsted case of Ludwig
Albert the following year. LILLY MARLEX is the German oryptonym
for & Soviet operetion which inwolved the intentional compromise
hymmaf'&efmtthatithaﬁammeinmmﬁemw
for CE operations.* To carry ovt this operstion, the KGB prepaved
ucmnwmeﬁwmml,axWMMsmof
the cperstions of the BED £ield base. In June 195, = KUB agent
was sent to plsce this reyort in a desidrop in West Germany.
A second XGB agent was then sent to confirm that the drop was in
place, ther go to the local police and recite a pre-arranged story
of cbserving & man hide something st this spot. (This sgent was
subsequently arrosbed and confemsed his role in the deception.)

mﬂmm,amMMWtw patehed on a mission
to "recover” the drop, with the intention that he wnwittingly

walk into a police stakeont and ba arvested. The KB Judged

(correctly) that this particular agent would quickly confess to

being diapatehed by the KB, thus confirming KGB conmol of the
"penetration.” Through astéte pollce work, the operakion was

wamnsked 83 & Soviet deception, xt the fact remained that the

Boviets did have a complete and acowrnte rundownm on the activitdes
‘-';w%mmmmm:emmzmenmguyMawmmn
reporting this informmiicn. Subsoquant imvestigation, in which

Felfe played an important role, coptered on identificetion of this

m‘b. The report itself provided several clues mdﬂk'ﬂn provoeation ¢ f peleton
Wammmmwmmmvvmm@eﬁm

yrovide addttional clues polnting to Ludvig Albert, & senior officer
afthume,

A year later,
v'agonf»mmtsmaaeut Tingerad Albert, among others, as an

*msmmmm for 1’z buse wes V'L

" i 1 no T ]
w HIHnEM
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o P . b SQE
(M’Acwg gt Mﬁgfwu rtesenled é‘y e K6 B),
East agent, It camot %mwmu oot

m"msmwmea,haacmmmwm suggests
this was the case. Albert was errested and later committed suicilde;

.‘%I'/fwwvw o EQEAR Byl Ena By kgl
evidence found in his home confismed va““&-

Although there aregaps in our knowledge and hard evidence
is lacking, the KGB yurpose in the LIILI MARLEN and Albert cases
appears to have been three-fold: TFirat, inttddl Lmpetus fox
LILLT MARLEN mey have come from the defection of KBB officer Petr
Dexyatin. Daxysbin had served in the Cormsn CE branch in KOB
Neadqurters and vas pertially knowledgeedle of KOB operations
sgainst the HND.* ‘The LYLLI MARLEN cperation, which came just
four months after Deryabin's defection, mey well have been dasigned
o divert Western investigation of his information. By ereating
circumstances and fesding inforvetion wiich eventually led to the
arvest of Albert, the KB apparently hoped to shield o more
Woxmmmmnw,mm,mmmim. A
ummm% elisitnation of Albert who,although
mmm:i%w;éengm apparently become dispensable to the
thes relstes to the fact that Albert had become & bitter enemy
wmmww&mwmamwﬁm.

.wm méo'mmrmm*am

‘ > Mm@ e : ——r% . > l4/ /\éﬂ’}wnvt“\"‘ﬁ\/’"‘ "‘Z s
X @m mmaﬂtim b‘ o mess ( f/f < J criagi

72 ﬁqf/jefww At Lé u A
Mmmmmmmmmmxmmmr T nZes
this purposs.

h&emmj - X
WWWWW
increasingly complex. The BALTEASAR cperation wes followed by
the inoveasingly complicated LENA and LILLY MARLEN cases, dis~
cussed sbove. The final deception was the BESCH cmse, vhich
aborted in mid-plot as a result of ralza‘sm'b 4n 1961.

,detw/a’/élwlfiw\_
nnuAammmmm,cpmnMapm,umu

far too complicated to swmmarlze here. It is discussed in dotail

¥
Deryabin knew the XUB cryptonyns ("Peter” and "Paul") for both
Felfe and his co-conspiretor, (lemens iﬁgﬁ ; unsbls to
{

provide details vhich would helip £6 ntities.
§ OISR
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1n Chapter IV. Its purpose may have been té%;t!***t&ﬁ&=ﬂ§ﬁﬁ“ﬂé§#¥#§!@> /4;
—u+tﬁ—Fe%fe-eﬂasane=szhsna§rnﬂr$4%h#emthassﬁﬁu—em to deceive tho BND
kﬂﬁ L« a7 fﬂif&rtv\,tr(% el Ot K& IRW PNy %3/"')
about its own secur txA‘ﬁai Since the operation eénded prematurely the

KGB rationale and specific objectives are by no means clear., Felfe
exposed himself to many risks to get the operation started, so it
must have been destined for an important role,

BALTHASAR, LEMA, LILLT MARLEL and BiSCH are all cases run on Soviet
initiative for the purpose of {mproving communications, increasing the
access of Felfe ammifor

4
BHD. There is also an entirely different category of cases which merits

or gtherwise deceiving the

study. These are apparently clesn operations, primarily double agent
operations, Inftiated by some West German service,?ﬁ%xch took curious
turns after their compromise by Felfe. Twe of these, ZUVERSICHT and
MERKATOR, are described in annexes te this paper. ZUVERSICHT was an

Rii GSFG operation and MERKATOR an Easi German foreign intelligence
(nfS/HVA) operation, both initially doubled by the BfV.* They are
selected from among many such ccscs bacause in these two instances we have
confirmation from Lt. Col. Popov and an Fast German MfS/HVA defector

(Max Heim) that the KGR informed the handling services that their agents
had been doubled by the Kest Germans. The KGB specitiTadly asked the

RU and HYA to nefther drop nor re-double these agents, but to continue
running them for socurce protection or decepiten purposaes. He know the
date this happened and can trace the change 1n handling which occurred
after this date. In the case of ?ﬂUEQSICHT, the RY continued runninn

the case for four more years, but devoted minimum effort to carrying

out the KGB instruction to keep thz case alive. EBecause of this minimum
effort, PU communications with JUYERSICHT became more and more "insecure.”

from the agent's point of view., Felfe uséd this case to help create the

*BFY s the German abbreviztion for the Office for the f%otection
of the Constitution, the principal West German internal sacurity service.

- 10 -
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impression within the BND that the RU 6SFG is qenerally an {ncompetent
crganization. The NMERKATOR case. however, i]lustrates nore fmaginative
use of an agent known to be contrclled by the opposition. VWhen the

KGB advised the HVA that MERKATOR was a double agent, responsibility for
the case within MFS/HVA Headguarters was transferred to a €1 component
which apparently alsc handled other casos known to be controllad by

Western sefz?ées.A heneefartiv-th-—daios ri=ptbi=be roartyreidas

o - i 5 =~

-

became to disseminate political disinformation, to observe West German

CE handling of a double agent, ard to diverg Hest German counter-

intelligence by creating suspicion of aues#Ehetmi=dams West German

A fascinating example of KG8 expleitation of such an opposition-controlles
double agent s the Sokolov case. This started as a2 t. 5. Arny CIC
double agent operation. The casa officer on the Soviet end of the
operation was an RU GSFG Major (who used the alias Séka?ov} in East Germany.
In 1959, after several uneventful years, §:}c turned the case over to the
BfV. BfY study of the case revealed thut Sokolov was a drunkard, an
fnsecure talker, and a flamboyant and promiscuous typc. Further
investigation revealed he was known to various Western services under
various allases, ﬁt'this point the operation apparently became known
to the ¥GE, whether through Felfe or some othep penetration is not known,
and it took an interest in exploiting the case. The purpose was probably
primarily investigation of an insecure and possibly treasonous R
officer (Sokolov), but in the course of its investigation the KGB
pursued a secondary objective. This was to prosote, and then to

monitor -- with Felfe in the midcle -- a tour de force of interservica

HHaison. The method used by the ¥GB was to create or claborate upon
existing double agent operations fnvolving Sokolov, so as to provoke
operational interest in him and fe his agent networks in West Germany
on the part of the BfY, two LfV's,” the BAD and CIA {on {ts own and in

fts capacity as liaison reprasentative for CIC and 0SI intorests). From

*An LV 15 the security service of a Land or province. It is ‘
subordinate to the Land administration and while not directly subordinate
to the BfV, cooperates closely with the latter.

- 11 -
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H FOREIGH DISSF

Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328




Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328

SECHET
4O FOREIGH DISSER

the Western point of view, the case eventually came to involve

several interrelated double agent operations which resulted in
investigation of roughly 200 security suspectsira seemingly excellent
operational lead to an RU Major (Sckolov) in East Germany, and the
participation of nearly every Serman and American intellt{gence and
security service in West Germany. By insertinc into Bﬂé spatting
channels an agent who claimed to be Sokolov's mistress as well as his
agent, and who hinted that he might be recruitable, the KGR maneuvered the
BHD {and Felfe) intc a controllin: positian in the operation. The BND
inspired an interservice task force to work on this case: a CIA 1iaison
officer worked full time, for six ronths, axclusively on this case.

CIA provided traces, guidance, and information on RIS modus operandi and

ovrganization.

Felfe's behavior on the tash force was uncharacteristically passive -~
the case was pursued in the direction he {and the KGB) desired without his
customary railing at the incompetence of his colleaques, although during
one period he did try to persuade the task force to try to recruit Sokolov
in place rather than defect him. Sut most of the time. Felfe simply sat
back and allowed himself to be briefed by all participsnts. The executive
action phase of the operation proceeded smoothly: five RU agents arrested,
many more suspects identified, considerable espionage equipment, including
one of the newest Scviet W/T sets, captured., The West German services were
very pleased with their "success.' CIA was impressed Ly the proof that
close operational 1iaison with the Serman services could be gffective and
amicable, But the KGB was also very pleased, and Felfe m even recefved
a rare cash bonus for his work. The KG? achieved the probable arrest of
Sokolov and obtained a wealth of information on.t&e operational and
Yiaison procedures of Western services. Only the BU was left out in the
cold. Felfe's co-conspirator, Clemens, who was slower and less
sophisticated than Felfe, was shocked that the KGR deliberately allowed
an RU agent from East Germany to walk into a Yest German trap and be
arrested., Fslfe was merely amused.

In Summary, the Soviets achfeved through their various deception operations
a far broader exploftation of Felfe than would normally be congigered possible,
By rigging an operation especially for Felfe, the KGD couldﬁéiig; answers from
;E;;;EQ;;§ elements of the West German aovernment in the guise of build-up

material, - 12 -
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Bymmamﬂrcperkhﬁﬁ interest in certain {nfiividunls,
vmamwnm.mmmmmmam
Maemm&miadmm. Bycrmmmmﬁ
.zm@ and cosplexities, the KGB could help Felfe in his

pureaucrstic manipulations, sndesi=Fren-pTONDeSha=Scumletier-

By introducing

asmasmwmwmmm, the KB could canse
¢he case o be transferred to the protective custody of Felfe.
wwwamamwmmmmmmw
mmwmammmy,emmum,wa
mmmmemmmcmmw'anmﬁny.
@mwemdmmne source was endsfgered by the
wmmxnmmmmmmmmm«
#mmm,mmwm*s sacurity by mounting

a deception operstion which eorfimed the existence of pemetrstion
mmmawmummwmw
awtmwmm.

Mmmmmammmmmwm
mmmmmmﬂmmmwm. These
ars as follows:

a. In pursuit of tisbwve objectives, the KOB ves
willing to sacrifice agents (their own as well as GRU, KO
and Eest Germen agents), cage officer time, money, good
information, mwaymmmmm‘

j- mmmam.plmmmon, Felfe,
mawmumwmwmuwmm
and handling of each deception. Frequently, this penetration
penefited from the deception.

. mwmmWﬂu, {maginative and
ammmmmmzmwm,m
their execution was frequently inept by comparison. They
worked only because of the naivetd of many BED officers
mmwmmmmmmm,mmm
mmad&nﬂmﬂemitmpmuwmmu
fyom coming together in one place. Quite & few CIA officers

% in 1iafscn with the BED folt at the tims that these operations

officer responsible for
were "peculiar.” The £IAlisiuon
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BND security during parb of the peried in question fremkly
MM“MMWMnMWMM,
Particularly ia the light of currebt knoviedge of KB modus
operepdi (including this study of the Felfe case), it is
gilte possible for sn alert CI officer to detect such deceptlon
mnd diversionary operetions.

mmmmmgmmwwmmm.
mwrausmewmmmmwmu

mmmmm&mmwmgmm

. and wms divectly involved in several of them. MAitional inaight

MNDWMMWRSMBOEWWW
cmmmﬁmmmaxmmm. This
ineludes informstion on disagrocments within the BND concerning
mmnmmmmmerﬁanm,mmmt
role played by Falfe in the intae-service meneuvering. In seversl
snstances we know the facts from defectars or from s CIA-ccatrolled
penetration source. CIA was slsc intimstely involved inthe
mmmmwwawwmmmnuw, s,
MMwmmmmw,mwaf
mwmasmmeaMnmsnmuwmm
umm”itmmmuﬂmgmmw
Felfe or & fisst-hand eccount from his MR case offfecer.
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The history of the Felfe penstration has {ts begimning
in the sarly post-wex yesrs. The spotting of peopls like Heinz
Felfe by the Soviet intelligencc services wes not accidental,
but the result of e well-targeted, well-developed recruitment
compaign directed against forver police and intelllgonce officers
of the Nazl Reich. The thesds was simple: old intelligence hands
will flock together, will seel to returr to the work they know
best. Some ofthese people might be susceptible to a Boviet
spprosch because of their gencral sympathies. Others, such as
former fppmmy Elite Guard (88)% and Becurity Serviee (EB) mmmbers, meny
am~m;mwermw:&bhmmmﬁmlyby
hiding & past vhich had once wt thes among the elite , womld
be vulnerable to blackmall. The Soviet spotters wers to be found
- slmost everypvhere in Europe ~ East and West - in the POW camps,
in the war crimes screening commisgions, in the courtrooms. The
future Wegt Cerman intelligence and sscurity services could be
MMMW&&;maam.

mmemmmozmem,mmmwm
wwmmm(m)ﬂmwmmam
files and persomnel to G-2, .B.Am,fwtwh'w;
mmm:mmwmceo:wmnméo%
order-of-battle. Under Gé'smhumwwx\
wmsztmmwnaumwwmwy\
for the collsction of Soviet CB and ventmally of CI informetion
in the Soviet occupled zone of Garmany. It was a loosely knit
orgnization made up predominsrtly of former military mtaliimce
(Abwehir) and FHO officers who were held together by the officer's
code of honor and individus) btonds of friendship. From an institutional
point of view, however, the problems of comtrol, responsibility

and securlty wvere serious. qun‘e“mu

sssume the responsibility for the organivation and WM/?M A%W “
‘ae-n trusteeshiy which wes tc last for seven years.

%Bee Annex F for & glossary of Carman terms used inthis peper.

# PHO - Goneral Staff sectior dealing with information concern- _

1::5 of countries bo the Rast o? ﬂmy,»wa )7!*4‘4],0:4«774449
74”"“’ CSmrsw -
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To the outsider and to its enemias, the Sehlen Organization looked much

more 1ike an American puppet than it actually was.

—-sw.‘—vg-_r 323 35N R & - f 7' * ] : Sl e o L

KEB
By mid-1952 e work against varfous of Gehlen's

field bases had been successful, but an agent working om Soviet operztions
inside the headquarters organization in PuYiach was reportedly still
lacking.® Particularly successful had been the ¥BB work against Gehlen's
field base for CE and (I operat!ons which was located in Karlsruhe,

Within the Gehlen Organization t gmé was des!gnated as BVULTL** and it
will be referred to by that designatfmn throuchout this paper. GV'L" was
especially attractive to the KGB. The major part of its work fnvolved the
recruttment and handling of informants in other Cerman agencies for the
ostensible purpose of protecting the security of these agencies. The
same buase was alsc responsible for running dbuble_agent operations
against the Soviets, a function which brought its personnel into direct
contact with Soviet controlled agents. It was especially vulnerable
because it was heavily staffed by former SD and SS personnel who in
order to maintain their jobs were obliged at least ro prma to conceal
their background, and who still suffered to some extent from old social

and professional caste rivalries which kept the former Abwehr and FHO

officers in ascendency., In reaction to this situation there had graduzlly

o ’

*Primary source of informatfonjearly KGB work in Germany is Petr leryabin.
who was assigned to the State Security headguarters desk responsible for CE
vork in Gernany from May 1952 to ¢ epta%ber 1953, He read the Headquarters file
on the Gehlen Organfzation in 311v 1652 and has stated that as of that date
there were Soviet agents in the field bases but no evidence of a Soviect agent
in the Gehlen headquarters; however, we cannot rule out the possibility that
there may have existed restricted files to which he had no access. [Drnst WORM.
a Gehlen Headquarters officer working on Czech mperntions came anéﬁr very
strong suspicion of being an agent for some Eastern ssrvice in the,FhT! of 14952,

i
Llp g

*#The GV stamds fpr General Veraif*una -~ Gereral e The
“L* 45 an arbitrary designation.

"‘ o~
e F Oy
Th
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developed within 6V"L" a sort of mutual aid soclety of ex-S5 and $D
personnel for self-protection and professional advancement. This
group was particularly susceptible both to simple blackmail and to the
somewhat more complicated appeals of revenge or vindication.* It was
_TAe /“lézk.frxqvpc:>;\

through this base, GV'L", that
' ; bton was launched.

a. Background Information on Felfe

Heinz Felfe was born in Dresden in 1618, the son of & ¢riminal
police imspector. He started his own police career at the age of 13 as a
volunteer in a border unit. In 1938 he was inducted into an S5 reserve
unit, and from then on his schoeling, legal training, and subsequent assign-
ment to a job in the Criminal Police was guided and fostered by the 35,
In 1943 he went inte the foreigr intelligence section of the Reich
Central Security Office (RSHA)}, where he worked first in the Swiss section
at headquarters, then in Holland - for a while under Schreleder of "Nordpol”
fame. He finished the war as a Ist Lt. (Obersturmfuehrer) in the
militarized branch of the Nazi Flite Guard {Waffen SS) and as a prisoner
of the British. MHe was an average looking individual with no distinquishing
pﬁysica? characteristics. OFf the many recorded impressions of him fron
varfous stages of his career, certain personality traits dominate: a
highly intelligent man with very 1ittle personal warmth; a person with
a high regard for efficiency, and for authority, but susceptible to
flattery; venal; and capable of almost childish displays of vindictiveness.

Naturally a devious person, he enjoyed the techniques of engineering a

*A variety of formal and informal secret 5az;mgﬁggp€zations have existed
since the end of the Second World War. The KGE Ra& \hadfmuch success in
penetrating and controlling these groups from their inception, ard using them

as recruitment pools and as propaganda weapons. One of the most interesting
reports on this subject was provided by the senior Polish Intelligence (ur)
officer Michal Goleniewski, and concerns an organization which he called

HACKE, Information on HACKE s in Annex A. It shows how early and how
thoroughly the KGB penetrated and manipulated hard-core Hazi groups, especially
the former intelligence and security officers. These operations were the logical
outgrowth of the KGB's wartime sperations and began even before the war was

over. They still have ramifications in aamp areas of the world where former
Nazishave settled.

- 17 -
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good deception in his professfon. He was bhrillfant as an elicitor of
information, an excellent listener and an operations officer of such
generally recognized capability that from time to time he was given
special "vest-pocket” operations to manage for the chief of his
German service. Infinitely cool and brazen in the face of danger,

thorcughly aware at all times of what he wos doing,

- 17a -
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Felfe vas the "ice-cold calowiator” as he once sdmiringly describved
his favorite agent. The only xdwely smptions detectable in him

are his EGlEgess, o joyment of the game and his disdain for
his fellov man. These, btogether with his grest admiretion for
Boviet puwer and efficlency, secem i have sustained him throughout
his career and ifmprisonmsnt liis sttachment to his wife and two
children seems to have bean selatively perfunctory As for his
colleague in espionags for tam yemrs - and friend in sdversity

of even longar standing, Hens Clemers - Felfe found him in the end

merely a convenient scapegoat.

As & Dritish POW, Felfe vas interned st Blami Kappsl, an “‘ﬁg
interrogation center near Utrecht, which epecialized in the
interrogation of former German intelligence personnel. It is
possible that his name came to Soviet atiention through an sgent
smong the Dutch interrogatora. One of Felfe's fellow-priscuers,
a former SD officer named Helmut Prosbsting, reported to Dutch
suthorities in 1946 that he and Palle had been a ed by
Max WeeneT (3¢ the tnterrogators, to work for the Boviets. Dut
Felfe dented that sny such incident had occurred, when confronted
vith this inforwmation after hia arrest. This is one of & number
of suspicious points in Felfe's background which could have been
uncovered by an aggressive investigation long befors his arrvest.

Felfs returned from the war in Nomember 1946 vith the deter-
mination to settle in the Western :som_af Germany, although his home
hed confistently bee: in Drapden, which-4s the Soviet occupled wone.
His wife and child jeined him at the end of the year. Seven
ﬁiffieult monthe followed until he finally found work as an agent
for a British miiitary inteiligencs unit (Bixth Area Intelligence
Office, BACR). His task was to develop information on Communist
student groups &t the University of Bonn. Under British instruction
he settled himeelf in the Bonn ares, reglstered in the Faculty of Law
and joined the Commnist Party(KPD). In the course of his work
he made several tripe to Bast Barlin and to Bast Gerwany to
obgerve student rallles, from which he took off on his own
4ngtistive to visit his mother in Dresdan. Here again the
possibility of Soviet wgmdu'gt Felfe says that on
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one of these trips, in 1945, his wother warned him that someone in the
town had recognized him and reported him as a former SS officer. On
another occasion, he says, he was arrested by t@)y police, but quickly
released at the intervention af his host, an official of the Last
German Ministry of Public Fducation.

The British finally dropped Felfe in April 1895C for serious
operational and personal security reasons, none of which unfortunately,
came to the attention of the Gehlen Gr@aﬁization in any very detailed
or forceful form until long after Felfe was entrenched in it. British
files on Felfe were received by the BND in 1961 and by CIA in 1962.
These revealed that early complaints against Felfe fncluded attempts
to sell inforuation collected for the British to several other
intelligence agencies, two West Serman news services and to the East
Gevman Socfalist Unity {{i.e., Communist) Party {SED). They also
contained an account of Felfe's attempt to involve the British in a
double agent coperation with the Soviets, as well as various agent reports
showing that he had blown himself as a British agent to all and sundry,
including the West Serman Commurist Party he was supposed to be
penetrating, and that he was guilty in general of "sharp practice” and
"varnishing of the truth.” As spacific grounds for dismissal, the
British told Felfe that his refusal to give up undesirable contacts
with former SS personnel could no longer be tolerated. Specifically,
they named Helmut Proebsting and Hans Clemens. Clemens was an old
Dresden friend and former colleague from the foreign intelligence
arm of the RSHA,

After leaving the aritish.~Feife continued to work against the
West German Communist Party for the Land security office (LfY) in
Kordrhein-Westfallen, to which he had already been reporting on the
side Qh%1a a2 British military intelligence agent. He fncurred the
wrath of this organization on at least two serfous counts: for
having sent a report on it to a contact in Cast Germany: and for
having tried to peddle the plans for the BfV charter, which he had
somehow acquired from someone in the Finance Ministry. to a Yest

- 10 -
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German newsman. From the LfV Felfe went to the Ministry for All-German
Affairs,* where he worked as an interrogator specializing in refugees
knowledgeable on the East German People's Police (VOPD). He remained
at this job, eventually writing a study of the VOPO for the Ministry
until his recruitment into the Gehlen Organization in 1951.

b, Backoround Information on Clewans

Anyone who has tried to understand Germany knows that bonds of common
local origin are often far stronger than the larger national concept. The
fel?awship of former Dresdeners is a thread which runs very heavily
throughout this story. Beth Hars Clemens and Felfe were from {resden,
and their recruitment by Soviet intelligence was directed by the KGB
office in Dresden. |

Clemens had been chief of an $D field office in Dresden in the late
thirties, when he had worked against the German Communist Party (KPDY.
Later he was posted to RSHA Amt VI (forefgn intelligence), where he
learned to know Felfe well, and subsequently he went £o the SD command
in Rome. At the end of the war he was captured by Italian partisans
and interned in various British and U.S. POW camps. In 1948 he was
indicted, and acquittad, during the well-publicized trial of his chief,
the Hazi Police Attache llerbert “appler, notorious for the murder of Italian
hostages in the Ardeatine Caves. At some point during his captivity he
Yearned that his wife Gerda, in Dresden, with whom he had been
corresponding, had been sleepinj with Soviet officers. He claimed that
this knowledge severed his aireacy weakened affections for her and decided him
in favor of resettling in West rather than Fast Germany after his release
from POW camp. He settled in Wast Germany in October 1949, but continued
to remain in Joose correspondence with his wife, through whom he had

learned the whereabouts of some of his old friends. One of these was

*At the time, this organization was known as the Kaiser Ministerium,
It became the Hinistry for All-German Affairs when Germany regained fts
sovereignty in 1855, The latter name is used here for simplicity and
clarity.
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Erwin Tiebel, a fellow-Dresdener then practising law auietly in
a small town in the éhine]and. Tiebel had at one time been a
confidential informant for Clemens in the Dresden SD. Later, he
had been assigned to the Swiss [ask of RSHA VI, where he had also
known Felfe. He was to become & support agent for Clemens and
Felfe in their work for the Soviets.

Felfe had already looked up Tiebel in 1947. Clemens wrote

to him from

- P08 -
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POV camp 4n 1948 or 1949 and arreng#d to meet hin after his release. A letter frou
Clasems' wife dsted Dresden, March 1549, addressed to the Felfe family and mentioning
Tisbel, suggests that these old threads ware kuotted very soom after the

war, %ﬁ%%c@m. Tiel2) was op 8 list of war criminals
accused of killing hostages in Dresden,anl there is some suggestion that

Clesems wes similarly listed. Gerds Clapens was wvorking as & Soviet agent

(&t leasd by December 19%9, and probebly Lad bean simca the emd of the

war,as Felfe later told his n'iuahcm of ficer. Har cover nume was -

"Erika". She reported to a XGB Colopel called "Max" in an office in the

Soviet Command, Dresden, vhich, sccording to Clemens, was concermed with

tracking down fermer police snd intelligeace officers fros the Dresden

area vho were lisble for var crimes, ’

Clamens had been every bit as mich of a Basi as Felfe, vith the difference
that he declared himself more frankly, Essemtially a less complicated
kind of person, cosrse and probahly brutal, Clemens' humean attachments
vere more real and meeningful than Folfe's. Where one hes the impression
Mthlfnmmnmﬁmamww,mmm
M‘MumﬁéﬁswmmwamofWWwfﬁmpo
mmmcmmmmmmmmmﬂ-mmu
ecrrect in a certain sense., But after his amrresi, he pretended that the
older man ~ Clamsms js 156 yesrs Felfe's sanior - had exercised a dominating
and pernicious influemce over him Ly drawin: him iato the Soviet sarvice
and making him stay there. Throughtut heic B careers, however, thay remeined good
frienis, and Clemens in his post-arrvest statement claimed that there hed
nover been sny friction or rivalry between them in their Soviet wark.

c. Soviet Becrultwent of Clewans ani Felfe

Within a remarkably short time after Clemens' return to Germeny -
about two months - Max sent Cerda Clemems to West Garmany with a recrutt-
ment proposal for her husband. This cecurred just at the emd of1949 or
possibly in early Januery 1950. Clemens slaims that the gitustion was
perfoctly clear to him: comply or face chargea. Moreover, he had no
stendy Job, he needsd money, and he was alsc intrigued by the idea of
& secret contact. He discussed the siftuetion with both Felfe and Tiebel,
#hile nome of the three seems to hove opposed outright the idee of accepting

NG BUORET T
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the Soviet approach, they did smtertain the notion of trying to offer

Clemews 10 somsone ag a 4 Clerens even talked to an official

in the Ministry of Intericr. Unfortunatsly, itbe latter hrushed him off
without giving him any concrete advice. TFelfe may heve offered Clemens
to the 1fV; British files show that he told his Eeitish case officer in
early 1950 that he intended to %o so, Falfe hed alresdy trisd umsuccess-
fully in November 1949, upon Clemens' arsival, to sell him to the British
&5 an agent. (He alsc tried to persuade them to recruit Tiebel,)
effort had merely earned him the admonition to stay awey fram his old
88 friends, vho were bad medicine for scmeone supposed to pemetrate the
Commmist Party. In Jamuary 1950 Felfe tried again, this time offering
Clemens as & British-Soviet double agemt. A letter dated 25 Jumewy 1950
from Tisbel to Felfe states that Clemens hod alresdy agreed in principls
to cooperante with the Sovists in Iresden. The British Iiles comtain &
memo of a visit by Felfe to hiis case officer on 20 Juusry 1958, dwring
vhich he reported that Gerda Clemens had arrived two days esrlier end
vas planning to return shortly to Iresdes with Ler husband in order to put
him in touch with the KGB., The British lingered ondy brielly over the
decision of vhether to play Clamens as & double agant. Shortly after
Felfe's proposal; evidence of his double-desling with the LIV becams
evident, and he confessed to having sent & report on that crzamization
to an East Cerman Coomeilst Party contact in Eest Berlin. ¥hen Frau
Clewens appemred in Jermpeny azain in early April, and Felfe trisd once more to
persuade his employers to undertske sn operation, the British case officers
cape to the decdsion that they should drop Pelfe and list Clemems aa
a "security risk". By this timm, of course, Clemems was no lopger Just a
security risk; he had already gone to Dresdem and become a Soviet agent.
npewylsﬁocmmttomﬁm,whmhewmw
his wife to meet Colomel Max in the Sovist "Waldschloesschen” Componnd.
Bere, Max debriefed Clemé hs on his 1ife histary amd present cantacts,
Jectured him on his culpability as am SD criminal, probed his feslings
of confusion and resentment, listened comstructively while Clemens deliver-
&mudamemWC&hismwfmmmmm-

(They had been twi¢e the cause of German defeat, etc., had smeshed his

home town epd caused the death of at least five of his relatives.) Max
nt@amﬁt@kﬁ]mamamdbm—mmmm, gt the

tide of Clemens' emotiomal reaction, of Pered him an opportunity of

lear cut and ise:
revenge against the Americans. The g?ga%l?ﬁs ¢ wec
SEU
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as a Soviet agent Clemens was to return to the Western zones, sesk out
old police and SD contacts and through them try to penetrate the Gehlen
Organization. The Gehlen Organization was an "pmiladen” {an American
shop). and any blow aimed at 1t was & blow at the Americans. Clemens
agreed: for money, for a personal cause, and to be on the side of
power, but not, he insisted, hecause of any special sympathy towarc the
Russians. (Here, as in many other cases. are strains of the old Hazi
theme of German superiority to Russians.) He signed himself on as 2
Soviet agent with the cover name “peter:" later he used German girls'
names. At this first meeting Clemens provided Yax with a 1ist of
potential recruits in which he included the names of both Felfe and
Tiehel. Clemens says he was very impressed by Max and by his
psychological adroitness: Hax was civil, sober, authoritative,
knowledgeable, but most important - as hoth Clemens and Felfe have
stressed many times - he never pushed or threatened directly. His
watchwords were to proceed slowly and nntura?1y. _

When Clemeéns returned to West Germany he told Tiebal and Felfe
the whole story and was able without much difficulty to recruit them,
in turn, for Max., (Clemens states it was perfactly clear to his
friends that Max's target was the Gehlen Organization. Felfe claims
that he did not understand that this was the case until ruch later.)
When Tiebel paid his first visit to Dresden some months later, he
received much the same treatment as had Clemens, with perhaps
qreater emphasis on the threat of war crimes indictment. He
roceived the cover name “Erich.” which he kept threughout his agent

career. Felfe, who by this time was working as a refugee interrogator

'16 tée Ministey for All-German Affairs, resisted making the trip east

for another year. He did, howcver, submit reports to Clemens. Tiebel
was later to be used as a courier.

Clemens was able to carry out his assignment for Max with amazing
vapidity. In March 1950 he caie across an old acquaintance from the
Dresden police named Wilhelm ¥richbaur who was then emploved in a
sub-unit of GV"L" in Bavaria. Through nim Clemens was able to join
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the Gehlen Organfzaticn in June of 1957 as a registry clerk and
courjer for the same unit. ‘(Clemens' Gehlen Organization alias
was “Cramer.”) Krichbaum himself was later to become highly
suspect as an early MG8/Dresden penetration of the Gehlen
- Organization, but it is not known whethor or not he wittingly
maneuvered Clemens or Felfe in the organfzation for the Soviets,
Clenens remained in Krichbaur's unit for two years. during which
time he reported on the organization and personnel of both the
Bavarfan unit and its parent base, EV”Lf,vané on anything =ise
that came his way. His reports were typed on thin paper and hidden
in cans of powdered milk which he sent periocdically to his wife in
Oresden, He collected rapofts from Felfe whonever they had the
opportunity to meet and sent them on in the same way. (Since Felfe is
reported, in British files, as having made a trip to Southern Germany
within a few days of trying to sell the plans for the BfV charter to a
news service, 1t is a good guess that these documents might also have
found their way into one of Clemens’ milk cans.) There was relatively
1ittle communication frow Max; what there was was handled by Gerda
Clemens, whe served as courfer and mail droep.

When Feife's work for the Ministry for All-Cerman Affairs drew ic
a close in September 1951, he acreed to meke his first visit to Hax in Dresden.
At about the same time Clemens recommended him to Krichbaum as a reliable and
experienced intelligence officer and Xrichbaum arranqed for his employrent
by the Gehlen Organization. Although Felfe will not admit it, it seems
1ikely that there was a definite cause and effect relationship between the
timing of his availability for work {in the Gehler Grgaﬂization and his trip to
Dresden, HMax was primarily 1n£@resteﬂ in the Gehlen Trganization as a target,
and presumably it was at the point when Felfe was actually able to penctrate
his target that Felfe became of {importance. There is some suggestion in our
records - no evidence ~ that Felfe might really have hagn recruited. aarlier,
but even 1f this is so his serious Soviat wcé% probably did not begin until

A
he was properly accredited Hest Cerman intelifgence officer.
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Around the first of September 1951 Felfe flew to lest Berlin, vhere
he was met by CGerda Clemens, who conducted him to ¥ax in the East Sektor,
Max drove him to the Sovie? Compound in Karlshorst, where he questioned

Felfe on his background - Felfe said he appeared to be very
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August 1953 = first as assistent to Rélle and, later, after Relle's
trausfer to headquarters in July 1952, as the main Soviet CE refermnt.
Reile baceme very impressed with the young mexn's emergy and ability, and
vhen he himealf moved to the hesdguertars CE Group to work on Soviet
targets he opmmed the door for Felfe's future career as a Soviet CE

ex;p?

Bere again, as in the case of EFrichbewus, stands s guestion mark: there
is much conjecture und considerable evidence that Relle, too, wms working
on the Soviet side.

3y KB and Hiring By Gehiem

Uywmw?tmﬁnstmywmmwm@mﬂm’
and Felfe's omn statesents concerning their recruitment by the K3B. Bul
thers is a great deal in their om admissions conrerning their serly
wmmmwumtwemtmmmmw
mmnmmmmmﬁammmm than the 1950's. The detailed
reasoning behind this speculation is paripheral to the main story apd
is not included here, but it is intereiting to note that when the defector
HﬂchéZE.ﬁollnitwiki resd Felfe's testizcy be lmewediately oame to the
same conclusion. Oolemiewskl is the ssmior Polish Intelligence (UB)
officer who provided the lead vhich evantually lod to Felfe's srrest. He
said he thought Felfe had mobmbly beea recrulied vhile working for the
British apd traveling to the East. Our best guess is that this would
have been in 19548, when he was allegedly mrrested hy the East German Folice
and released alter intercessiom by a bemefactor in the Blucstion Mindetry.*
But Felfe could wsll have been recruited even earlier than this. @mﬁ

"% This benefsctor wes Herber! Theuerkeuf. ‘Theverkeuf‘'s boss in the
Ministry of Biucation, Rudolf Boshw, wias a notorious KIB spotter in East
Gursany. For axmmpple, vhan IRNA ostendibly became a Gehlen Crgmnizstion
doubls sgent againet the XB, he reported that it vas Boelm vho had put
him in touch with the EGB.
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Jitrrt Akt
surmised that it aié%pﬂa§ebiy Felfe who spotted Clemens to the KGB,
which then assigned the "recruitment" of Felfe mk to P?enﬂns as &

»owt’c(] mﬂwr/{mq Meto
. , yar the wiser., Goleniewski th@ught

test. Clemens
the Soviets did not employ this technique of “concealed recruitment”
{the writer's terminology) verv often, but claimed to have seen it
often enough to be completely familiar with the method.* Certainly
Clemens' account of his recruitment of Felfe makes it appear that
Felfe had been waiting for it with open arms.

?hefe are also alternate explanations of the circumstances
surrounding the Gehlen Orgafnzation‘§ hiring of Clemens and Felfe,
circumstances which were probably unknown to Q!emens and perhaps
also to Felfe. Wilhelm Krichbaum, who was responsible for both of
them being hired by the Gehlen Organization, was himself a highly
suévect individual. Although it cannot be proven, there is a
distinct possibility that the hirinq was maﬁéfu?ated by the KGB

sehif fe feioms. F 5]
Krichbaum was a for eqhia plr=gnei phttonr who %erV9d as a

witness at the Huremberg trials fem from 1947 to 1948 and then
entered the Gehlen Organization in early 1950, There is a report
that he had some sort of contact with the XG% {n Bresden as early
as 1946, In April 1952 he was relieved of his job in the Gehlen
Organization as a result of investigations which followed the
arrest of KGB agents Fonger and Verber in Vienna. Ponger had

been using Krichbaum as a source of inforgation on the Gehlen

*An example of "concealed recruitment” which occurs in the LENA cese
is perhaps significant because the LENA case was in so many respects a
sort of overt shadow play of Felfe's secret KGB career. LENA reported in
early 1954 that he had spotted a close business colleague of his for the
KGB. He saifd his KGB case officer told him he himself would recruit LLHA's
colleague and then instruct him to recruit LENA in turn as a subsource.
LENA should pretend to accept the approach without admitting that he
already was a Soviet agent and responsible for the other man's recruitrent
in the first place. 1In this way the KGB would have an excellent deuble
check on the new agent and LENA himself would enjoy a 3Yightly oreater
degree of security since he ard the other man were very close professional
colleagues. (Readers familiar with the LENA case will recognize here on
episode involving Or. Scurla of the "Verlag der Matfon.®)
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Organization and had also been trying through him to arrange for the
{9 The 3,2

hiring of yet another suspect KD a§2n§A After his arrvest, Ponger

said he had suspected Krichbuam of being & Soviet agent: Xrichbausm,

however, said he had not suspected Ponger. The result was the

conclusion that ¥richbaum had been an innccent incompstent who had

been used unwittingly by Penger.*@ But when KGB officer Anatoliy

Golitsyn defected in December 19€1, he provided a description of

a KGB agent whose background paralleled that of Krichbaum. In the

interim, Krichb&um had died, so the case was never resolved,

The role which Oscar Reile may have played in the hiring and
subsaquest promotion of Felfe {s equally suspect, as Reile too was
aiéizg;ggaiuiﬂiy 2 K&E anent. Feile was Felfe's first boss in the
Gehlen Oroanization, and it was Reile who arranged for Felfe's
transfer from GY'L" to the Feadouarters CE Group. In 1956, Refle
traveled to the United States with a group of CE experts, which
included Felfe and four other BHC officers. Yhen Golenfewskd
reported that the KGB had two agents in this group, Beile and
Felfe were considered to be the most likely candidates., There 1is
also other infomgatien from Goleniewski and from Golitsyn which
tends to point to Relle, but this is another lengthy story. Reile
was ihvestig&ted by the BND both before and after Felfe's arrest,
but no Information could be found which qualified as legal evidence
of treason. (Under German law o suspect must be caught almost
in flagrante.) However, the BKD and CIA officers concerned with
Reile's case are personally persuaded by‘the circumstantial evidence
available that Reile 15 a Icng-standjng ¥GB agent. Because of this

suspicion, Reile was retired from the BHD in August 1963,

“*It is interesting to note that in the Gehlen Organization's
report to CIA concerning Krichhbaum, during the Ponger-Verber {nvestigation,
there is the statement that Krichbaum had not been responsible for the
hiring of any staff personncl for the Gehlen Organization. It is not
known whether this falsehood was doliberate or accidental.
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e. Early Stages of KGU Operation -- the BALTHASAR Deception

The late fall meetings of 1951 4n Xarishorst and Dresden were
Max's last appearance. AL this time Felfe was {ntroduced to Max's
assistant, “Alfred," and to another Soviet whom Felfe and Clemens

nicknamed “8ig Alfred.,” for went of any other name. In 1952 Alfred

!lrwwm»¢v ¢ - il
took over the handling of Felfe, Clemens and Tiebel, 3ﬂé-fuﬂ—themf:$

Jﬂmdﬂa@/ﬂe“—/aﬂ ‘%&W-
afor the next nine years. To judae from the composite reports

of his three agents, Alfred was am%aw veung man when he //wwt
took over the job w-tE=xEse sfficer - about 26, He spoke excellent
German, also English, and had a thorcugh knowledge of his subject
matter: the wartime and postwar Gevrman intelligence services. tie
seems to have impressed the older men Ly his gencral civility as
well as his intelligence. Where they possibly axpectf%c find the
Russian bear, they found instead politeness and 2 greater degree of
refinement than they had thought possible. They have all remarked
repeatedly that Max and Alfred ireated them in the right way
psychologically, and that this treatrent went a long way in
influencing them to serve the Soviet sé;;;;§;§§!§%3—§e9941é~

The first problem which Alfred had to tackle as case officer for
Felfe and Clemens was to perfect the very shaky and dangerous
cormunications system with his agents, AL the moment, 1t depended
on ﬁerda Clemens, an Fast Zone resident. Clemens had not reported
to the Gehlen Organization that he was still in contact with his wife.
On the contrary, he went out of his way to give the impression that
he loathed her and had nothing to do with her. Host people had the
impression that he was divorced. Actually he was not; the Soviets
would not allow him, or help hi=n, to get a divorce, since it provided
them with 2 control in that his two children still lived with their
mother. This constituted a shaky point in the securitiy of the
ongration, because if his secret commnications with his wife had
become known, this could have caused suspicion of Clamens on the
part of the BND, Unfortunately, however, it is Just one of several
potentially suspicious {tems ahbeout Felife and Clemens which did not

-2 -
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come to official notice until too late. While Tiehel had been
recruited as a courier, he could be used only occasiorally, since as a
lawyer in a small town be had only very rare excuses to go to Cerlin.
{He had relatives in East Germany whom he managed to meet occasfonally
in West Berlin, and Clemens twice managed to hire him for the Gehlen
Organization for brief periods as a source on various general Fast
German tarqets, using the East Zone re1ativés as sub-sources.) Gehlen
~employees ware in an even more difficult positfon: no Gehlen employee
could travel to Berlin without special permission - in effect, withou*
an official reason, The simplest answer, then, was to provide the agents with
a good official reason for coming to Berlin on a fairly reqular basis.
What was needed was a case which would specifically require the presence
of Clewens in Berlin from time to time as the Gehlen handler.

Such a case was the RALTHASAR case (BND cryptonyn), an operation
engineered enti?e}y by the Sovicts for the pidpose of providing mobility
to their agent. BALTHASAH was Fritz Baltrusch, a Russian speaking Palt

who at one time had been Clemens’ superior in the Dresden S As of
| miéwlgéz.he was a doorman-receptionist at a Scviet vrun uranium plant in
Dresden and an agent for the KGB. At KGB instruction he wrote to Clemens,
faplying he had something of interest to discuss, and asking for a meetinn
in West Berlin, Alfred did not brief Clemens in advance that this would
happen, nor did he tell BALTHASAR that Clenens was also a Soviet agent.
Clemens rose satisfactorily to the occasion and on his own initiative
sefzed this chance to work up a case which would provide him with
opportunities to meet Alfred., Ia doing so he also showed his good faith
to the Soviets. Clemens took a proposal to GV'L® headquarters {very
Tikely to Oscar Peile) that he b2 allowed to g0 to Rerlin to find out
what BALTHASAR wanted and to see what he might have to offer for the

Gehlen Organization.” The convenient result was that Clemens was

*The Gehlen Organization had 2 report dated in May 1052 that BALTHASAR was
working for KGB Dresden as an informant on former 5D members living in the
_area. Whether this report went unnoticed or unheaded, we do not know.
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ordered officially to Berlin to see BALTHksag.LﬁBALTHASAﬁiof course,
appeared to have excellent possibilities as a source on the uranpium
processing plant. At a second meeting a short time later, Clemens

was able to recruit him for the Gehlen Organization. From something

in BALTHASAR's marner, however, (lemens suspacted a Soviet presence.

He told Alfred about the case for the first time after recruiting
BALTHASAR and learned that Alfred had indeed engineered the contact
egpacially for é?emens. Alfred admonished Clemens never o let

BALTHASAR guess that he, Clemens, was a Soviet agent. BALTHASAR

only knew that Clemens worked for Gehlen. In addition, Clemens was

to be very careful in his correspondence with BALTHASAZ as the Gehlen

case officer; he must always let BALTHASAR take the initiative in

setting meeting times, so that no one at the uranfum plant would have
cause to suspect BALTHASAR's inteiligence connections. By the same token
Alfred claimed that any information produced by BALTHASAR for the Gehlen
Organization would be good, and SALTHASAR would reply to any FEI to which
he had Togical access. (Clemens was very impressed when BALTHASAR was
allowed to deliver to the Ghelen Organization in fulfiliment of a
requirement a piece of uranium in the state in which uranfum was requlisriy
shipped to the USSR for final processing.)® Alfred said that Clemens would
not need to report to Alfred about his contacts with BALTHASAR: Alfred would

get this information from BALTHASAR himself. Thus Clemens would no longer

*It”ﬁ?:ua%eincidence that of ail possible varieties of operatinn which
the KGE cau@d have chosen as a vzhicle to provide cover for Clemens' trips to
Berlin, they picked one which produced information on a target which at the
time was of number one fmportance to the West for positive intelligence
collection, and to the Fast for security protection. At the time, TALTHASAR's -
information on uranfum ore shipments was considered ong of the few imporiant
successes of the Gehlen-Srganization, !, 5. estimates of Soviet nuclear
capability drew upon this type infermation. In addition to providing cover
for Clemens’ trips, BALTHASAR was obviously an ideal deception chammel, hut

we do not know f telhar the Soviets doctored the vranium sample
and The ore shipment information for t@ismgggggse, There were other sources

veporting on this field at that fire. It is possible the Soviets were aware
the information was already compromised and thus permitted BALTHASAR to pass
good information. It is equally possible the other sources were also under
KGE control and part of a multi-channel deception. Poth explanations are
consistent with known KGB modus operandi.

- 3} -

SECRET
KO FOREIGH DISSEM

Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328



Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328

SECRET
NO FOREIG' DISSEY

need to communicate direct]y‘wizh nis wife, as Alfred would learn
of Clemens' plans to come to Berlin through EﬁiTﬁASAﬁ and would
automatically expect to sce Clerens immediately after the meetinc
with BALTHASAR,

For the next two and a half years this case was used as a cover
for Clemens's trips from West Germany to Berlin to meet his Soviet
case officer. He delivered bott his own and Felfe's reports on these trips and
brought back instructions and money (often concealed in the 1id of a candy-box},
Clemens met Alfred about every two months in a Karlshorst safehouse, uwhere
their discussions were regularly recorded on tape. For the most part
their reports were delivered in clear text or orally by Clemens. lot
until later were more elaborate and technical methods of Communication
introduced. The BALTHASAR case provided the main method of communication
until the fall of 1955, when it collapsed because of one of those unhappy
flaps of which Max had spoken so prophetically to Felfe, {Copies of
BALTHASAR's reports to Clemens were found in the home of a Gehlen
employee who had been accused of working for the East, and the case
therefore was declared "blown to the opposition.”) While the 1wséaure
1ink via Gerda Clemens had been eliminzted, the BALTHMASAR channel was
slow and unwieldy. There were two accormodation addresses o bolster
it and there was Tiebel with his automebile for emergency use, but
nefther of these methods was safe or satisfactory for Eegu!ar communication.

During 1952 and 1953 Felfe and Clemens reported extensively on GV'L
and on those of its field sub-bases which they knew. For a time they
worked together in organizing a sub-bese for the Rhineland in Duesseldorf,
but for the most part their assignments kapt them physically separated - Felfe
in Xarlsruhe and later at headquarters (%un1ch/?u!1ach} ang Clemens in
Stuttgart and later Cologne. The difficulties in local communication
between (lemens and Felfe remained throughout their careers a weak part
of the Soviet operation, since %Sehlen regulations officially discouraged
social contact between fellow-workers. Thus, their frequent correspondence,
long-distance telephone calls and visits were quite abnormal. For a while,
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in the fall of 1952, Felfe had a case (Dolezalek) which allowed him
trips to Berlin, but this folded for some vaguely defired security
reason. In December 1952 Alfred provided Felfe with a cover address and a
carbon S/N system, and alsc with & KGP office telephone number in
Karlshorst for emergency use, thus giving him some measure of
independence from Clemens, levertheless, Alfred's cardinal operating
tenet was that his acents must do rothins outside of thefr ordinavy
working schedule; at all costs, contact with the Soviets must occur
within the framework of officially sanctioned Gehlen husiness.

In August 1953 Felfe wes abie to transfer to the hegdquarters or
group with the help of Oscar Reile. He was now definitely the more

promising of Alfred's agents.
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I1I. Operatigns of the Farly 1250's

During the period 1952 to 1955, the major theme on which Seviet CF
operational planning in Germany revolved was the question of the Gehlen
Organization’s legalization as the official Hest German Intelligence
Service, and - cqually 1mportaﬁt - of Reinhard Gehlen's personal tenure
as chief of that organization. 1952 marks the beginning of talk about
an eventual restoration of Hest German sovereignty. Despite recurrent
threats to fehlen's tenure and powers, the KGB had apparently decided
by the middle of the year that the Gehlen Organization was probably
there to stay. As the creature of the strongest occupation power, it
probably would one day become the official German service. From the
Soviet point of view, it was no longer simply a vehicle with which to
harrass and penetrats U.S. operations, hut another place to seeb a
toehold in the future Hest German government. 1952 alse saw the beginning
of a serfous, aggressive build-up irn Soviet work against the West German
target. In the sarly part of the year an extensive recruitment campaion
was mounted in the-USSR (among POWs) and in Fast Germany for agents
who could be resettloed in West Germany. In the latter part of the
year a general recrganization of the Soviet State Security Service
brought to East Germany a new, tougher, more tightly organized group
of counteréﬁpfmnage officers.* This was a period too of intense
in-fighting among the nascent West German security and int&?Xﬁgenﬁ&

services - the BV, the BND, and . the Defense Ministry, tEfriune

These erganizations rivaled each
other for the supremacy of their service and many persons vied with

Gehlen, both from within and without the Gehlen Crganization, for his iob.

*Sourced: Petr Deryabin, ana c}4L0&(2W9222
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a. Efforts to Discredit e Gehlen (renization

The KGB gotls during the eerly 2050's were alterpately, to weaken
anl discredit the Gehlen (rgapization by exposing 1t s riddled with
Soviet agemts, and to menipulate it ilwough wa&l«mmimmm.
Genaral Gribencv, Chief of the KOB Internel Counterintellizence Directorate.
is quoted relisbly as having made the statsment that between 1953 and
1955 the Soviet services daliberately exposed over 100 of their douhle
sgents anl staff pemetration agents in an effart to force changes in the
Gehlen Crganisation lsedership. The Soviets, he said, had two agents at
that time in the organizaticn's leedership. Ome of them wes faressen
as "chief of the orgamizaticafly But in the context of the statement it
is not totally clear just vhat vu%umtby”m orgenisation.” Our
source who heard the statewmt claims 1t refawed to & KOB plan to remsce
Gen. Gehlem himsell with a Soviet agent.* s is certainly a logical
KOB objective, and the XTB may have felt at thet time that it hed the
assets to achisve such & goal. However, thare is alsc & tawedbls argpment
that the sctusl XGB dbjective for ite agemt was the job as chief of ane of the

major components of the orgsmization, suck as GV'L', rather than chied of
the organization as & vhole.

Eulle Alfred vas cerefully devising a pev md complicated modus oparsndl
Tor Felfe, destructive scandals were slready taking shape in various of
Geblen's field bases. At least ome of them was seriocusly to endanger Falfe.
In Yebruary of 1953 a section chief in Berlin, Wolfgang Hoeher, was spperently
kidmapped and spirited into East Bariin, It later beceme apperent thet this
wes & case of & long-tlme agent being recalled and that the kidnapping
sceme had been contrived both for covar end dramatic effect. (Felfes was
dstailed to investigate Hoeher's diseppearance since he and Hocher had been
friends. He reported on the investigation tc Alfred, and to his swperiars in -~ .

Wm 1 Golemiawski Prom (lan. Olac Mikhadlewieh Gribancy '
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xidoapped and was not a Soviet agent as of the time of Nis dissppearance.
mmmmmmmwmmtmmwm, for
whAleh

%h&mwﬁmmmtmm:rwemlm.) Tz October of the same

yeur another pemstrmtion of the Gehlem field Tase in Berlin, Hme Celer, wae

A d <o p Mﬁ Md/f—/ge»vwx_ Mmﬁma_

AnS

recalled to East Gerwany <
SBorivtm-to-Pat-edte- In November 1953 & third dissppearsnce or
defection took place - again a Perlin based officer - Werner Hease. The
Bast Gormen redio smouneed a massive roll.up of Gahlen sgemts in the Bust
Zeme following Geler's recall in October, and in December the East Germsn

press launched an axpose’ of the Gehlen Organiration. The mein substance
of the Esst Cerman material appesrsd to be om Gehlen's £ield bases,
rether than the headquarters, with a strong exphasis on GV'L" and its
depaniencies. Pelfe recognized sase of his owe reparting and wes scmeshat
weasy. Anmalysts in the Gehlam Organization aldc fownd eonsiderable
portions of it attributadls to Hosher and Oefer. The most Lrmediate
effect of all of this was o groduce a recrgarization of the GV'L" base. It vas
mm,mm%mmﬂmum Coartlous
analysts assumsd, hovever, that so destructive am sxpose would not be
deliberately wndertaken unless some peastraticn asset remained safely
behind to repart on the orgeaization.

Scem of the scendals vhich shook the Gehlen Organization during this
Period wvere demomstrably KIF f;butmmamquinmm
self-generated. The situation was over-ripe for scandal in the atmosphere

of intense recrimination, suspicion, apd charncter sssassimation vhich
scconpunied the West Oerpan political rivalrics at this time. Some of

the Gehlen Orgsnization's security operations contiridbuted hesavily to this atmo-
Slieve. Moot of these qurations were rm by Ludwig Albert, the

£l Chief and later Deputy Chief of GV'L". Albert's I Wmumch was investignting
the security of other Vest GCexman agencies ami, in the early 1950'e,

cns of its most immediste cbjectives wes to search out rightest aleremts in the
m‘ Por this purpase, Albert ran a mmber of "special commections” in
peerly every lapd amd faderel seawrity sgemcy. From thm to time these
special commecticns became known, with cbwiously scendalous results. While
Wmmmwrmmmmanamtmuwm

Commmist infiltrators, his security operations, on the other hend, tanded

to give the imgresd, ion of a widespread inf13ration of police power,
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sometimes of ex«Nezi police pover, mrmmmmwmmmt
W,amwmmmmmmasmummmm
said they were imvestigeting. There was altrn on rmey fronts, not the least

among American occupgtion agencles.

In feer of its wwisldy offspring, U.5. Army Buropeen Covsmnd
memmmgmmtummmmumwmm«e
German govermmant in order to tast for rishtist influences. The CIC
effart, uom as "Operation CAMPUS®, lastod wmtil 1953, by which time ﬂ}:

ooy i,

MMWMM'WMMMﬁwMeMM,\ PUS utilized
two Germen pricipel ageats, Heinrich Schaite aud Richard Sciwrsizer,
vho in turn had thelr ovn "specisl comnectioms” throughout the verious
Pederal enl Land security sgmcies. The relationship between Schmits and
Alvert was rather complex. maddiﬁmﬁeahmmvatﬁmmwmm,
Albert had hired Schmitz in early 1952 tc report ca CI® to the Gehlen '
Organization. Gehlen lsbter crdered Albert to drop Schmits becauss his
reports on CIC vere mot of value, but Albert 412 not do 80, ostemsibly
because of his close frieniship with Schmitz. Vhen the CAMPUS operation was term-
smated by CIC end Schmits feered losing his job, Albert agresd to reverse the
£iow of Information. e begen giving Bchmitz Feports an the Gehlen Crganization
for passage to CI. Albert's reports to CIC coucerned derogatory information
co Gehlen Organizetion persomwel, vith prticular emphesia on Felle, ¥hom
Albert labelledf as a suspected Soviet agent.

The situstion wvas vastly camplicated, and in retrospect it is even
mmmmnwdatmm,fmwmmml
very importaut sdditiopsl facts. One of these is that Albert reported
mwmt“mmmmmm,mmmmmmtm
EM::MRWW#:&E. Another is thet he was also
mwmmwm»mmvxe,mmm,mwﬂe
and mw dﬂlibemﬁls fingered sni Asmounced Wm
mtzamt-malmwtrytcﬂmésmli@tmwamm
situaticn end Pelfe’s role therein, but the reader should note that what
follows is a speculdtive and interpretive account. There are important
mmw\morm-mm@eamammm,mnummm
to imvergret the kuown scts in other wiys. -
m:mwwmitmﬁmmufmmmofmoﬁim S
Petr Dervabin in Vienns in Petrumry 1954. Deryabin hed served in the

Germsn CE section in KGApproved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606326F 1@ on the E—
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Gehlen Orgamizaticn. Derysbis vas sble to_report-be-his CIA dehriefers
the W of three K3B agenis in tuc Gehlen Organization, teo of ¥hich
were identified mexy jyears later as the KUB cryptomyms far Pelfe amd Clemens;
the third remmins unidentified, but may possibly have been aither Geisr or
Hasse, MﬁMMgmet&*MWMGMMMMW
to Deryabin's defection. The KIB ves SScbatdy ucertain of the full
sxtent of Deryabin's kiwwledge of agmnt idemtities. In any case, the
KGB had axgle cause for concers about tim secwity of its agents within
the Gehlen Organimation. Knowing thet Deryabin's revelations would rompt
another ilnvestigation of Gehlan (rganization secwity, 1t beecame important
o the KGB to divert the investigation ‘n a way designad to protect the
mtmmﬁaw* The X:B operation which appesrs to have
besn run for this purpose 1s mown by ito Gehlem Orzanization eryptonym,

-S'C' SE“

In June 1954, just four momths after Deryabin's defection, & German
cimwwmmummeumgswg,mww, that he
Mim;mmmw.araewmmm e man's fwrilve
memner had aroused the citizen's suspicicms. On inspecting the spot, the
mﬁcﬁfu@.a“&%ymﬂhimar&l&atﬁwm Sevexal days later,
WMW&W&%W,WW&&WW%
retrieve the deaddrop. This mam quickly comfeseed to baing & KIB agent.

m&mwmmMawchuwmwm”--itscrmm‘
isation, persczmel, aod many of its cperatioms. It wes signed "artf],
and clesrly implied that "Artr” was sctually in GV'L'. Gehlen smalysts felt .
wntmzymcnmwwmcrm;mawcwmmwamm:w
Knowledge, yet the style in which 1t was witten mad certdin inecerect
nommnclature suggssted thet the repart might heve been prepared by m oute
sider. All things comsifered, the primesy suspect was the chief of G¥"L",
W,%MMMMW lavestigation for marious reasons for a

e onelis-thc, b an Lupactant agent is known
“ii ut up & "Talse victim” vhode srrest takes
gemt, The "falme victin" may hw imnocent,

mmww this "false vietim” hachnm
taught to trainses et lsast/es sarly as 1539. vas helng

A 1
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Seversl days after the LILLI MARLEN Swadirop vas fownd, & GV'L"
mtmmﬂratmmmuﬁmmmumssmwm'
report in the deeddrop -- was apyroached bty & Soviet agent who tried to
persuads him to coms to the East. ¥her Artur refused, the sgent tried
wmmmmwmm&«mmmﬁ-mm@
arrested. Artur refused to rise to eittor provocstion. This ineident
wmmmwmmwm,mmm'awvau
m,thwmmmwmammrmmmne
suwrifacing of the LILLY MARLEN fini for propsganis prposes.

Typically, &nd understandsbly in view of his position, Felfe was
smong those assigosd to investigete the LILLI MARLEN case.® mww
Folfe, sn iaportant break in the case did ccme several months later. A
mwmmmwwmmmwmmw
police revealsd that he wos in ¢ comgtact with the Seme KIB principal sgent
18 Bsst Berlia who had dispatchad the agent the police had arrested tryling
to recover the deeddrop. Subsequent investigation confirmed what had
.mmWhmumxy,MMdiwdm
dssddrop vas a deliberste Soviet expose. The documnt had been prepared
by the M8 hence the errors in nomamslature. mmwmmuxmt
mmmmwmmmmﬁmmm
had been imstructed to tell the Indwigsburg police that he had accidentally
Atecovered it, mnl a third sgemt had beem sent to walk wwittingly imto
the police stake-out snd be arvested ville sttempting to empty the desddrop.®

This exposure of the LYILI MARLIN desdrop as & Soviet deception
operstion only served to sdd to the mystery, rether than to clerifyimg it.
The KIB clesrly hed an excellant sowrce of informmtion om GV'L", and the
problem of identifying this source resained. Morsover, several aiditiomal
questicns rose: Why would the KUB went the Gehlen Organisation to kmow
GV'L" vas panetratad? Woeuld the XGB cause so much attemtion &o be .
focusel om GV'L" 1f 1t reelly did have good agemts there? Might the XOB
have had the intention (follsd for the mosnt) of trying to burn sn old
recaleitrant agent who wes causing trouble?! Or, might LYLLY MARLEN have been

d  mbdanmb £ oo Poram n apant m M M
an atbempt to dsflec) Shiemtion e OT8/05I5T 03608325
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@plaoation relates to Derysbin's defectilon and KGB efforts to minimize
the wﬁf’;/{”m by is Fevelations. The KOB hed nothing o lose by
indicating it still hed an active penetration of the Gehlen Orgzanization --
Deryabin had alresdy dome that. But it did have a tital interest in
ereating & certein imgression as to vho or vire that pemetration was.
mmmuamtoﬂ”’!}' a5 the locus of Soviet penetreation, both
Polfe Jiwm agest Reile were mrotected, as both had by this

time alresdy transferred from (VL' to Hesdquarters. KIB agent Albvert,

on the other hend, was ceught in the middle, and we do not knmow what

the Soviets intended should happen to him. As it worked cut, Albert

vas promoted from Chief CI to Deputy Chief of GV'L" during the reorganization
which followed the LILLY MARIEN investigation, sc it could be that il
Soviets intemisl that he bemefit from the operation. It is more likely,

however, that he hed become expendabde and ves the intended target of

the LILII ukﬁm/zxmam, a scapegoat to meke it appear that the most
af & w&rd [RYe 13- %
fmportant of the Lkmmm;rahmhadmc&ught. If 80, that

part of the Soviet plan wAich vas intended to finger Albert ae the source

of the LILLY MARLEN desddrop either 11d not work (the provocation of Artur)
or was sborted after the Cehlen Organization tusbled to the fact that
emplacemant of the deaddrop was a delilerately staged KOB scemario.

The EIB probebly had cause for belng discontent with Albert snd wanting him
out of the vay. Since at least 1953, Albert had been voicing dissatisfection
with certain of Gehlen's personnel policies. Part of this dissatis-
faction was undoubtedly justified; pert surely stemmed from am old rivalry
between GV"L" snd the Headquarters CE chief, Irr. Eohler, and when GV'L°
officers like Rgile end Felfe "defected” from GV "L and vent to work om
Ir. Kohler's staff, they too became persomal targets of Albert. Bub even
apert from the influsnce of the rivalry with Dr. Kohler, there hed been
mmercus instances vhen Felfe's behsvior, operational and peracpal,

Bad incurred Albert's particular wrath and evem suspicion. Albert's main
objections were to the closeness of Felfe, Reile, and certain of their

friends in what he termed an "SD clique.” He consifiered them "politicelly
unreliable” anl possibly dangerous. With few exceptions, Albert's G?!:N 2
complaints fell on deaf ears within the Gehlen Orgsnization, but Big N Dl g_gx:M

Brother amst 8180 hiApproved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328t to imagine that  — K-
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Albert's sceusetions agaimst Felfe could have been made on KUB instructions
_ar with KUB spgroval. It is more plausible thet the KUB vas considerably
mntmwtw%m&mnmwmﬁiﬁm
Albert's sctions cast doubt upon his layRlty to the causs, and that the
KIB's hands were tied because telling Albert to lay aoff Felfe would memn
in effect confirming $o=Wtn that Yelfe was Mamw¢msm1
mywmwummmmmw@

@emumwwmnmmsmwmm

of the Gehlem Orgsmization’s CB operations were so clsar, that it wvas
necessary to develop s scapegoat) ty focusimg athention on Felfe, Albert
wmm&masmtsmssmmmr. The latter theoy is
WWW:&%WﬁMWﬂMMsmMmW
mmW&mmmm,dmmmwn
probably caused Albert many a slsepless nisht. In Septesber 1954, Albett
mmmwmcmm-mm,mmamaﬂaamt
aﬁmﬁshayﬂ&wtinmywimmhmwmﬁmmm,
smong others, was on "enmemyy . fie told CIC that he comsidered Felfe
Wibkfwmwﬂmwhmmsmmmmw
December 1953 press exposé on the (ehlen (rgemfzation; he thought Pelfe's
behavicr in mtmm some of the recent flaps was "suspect;” he
described in dstail several incidents in vhich Pelfe behaved with suspicious
miasimmumwmcmmmmmmmwm
mmumtmmuhmmﬁmmmmwmhe&m
mreserve, with Felfe one of the ringleaders.

Atmswmmwwm,wcmwammmm-
knowledge. As noted previously, Albert reported his "recruitmen " by
¢ to Gen. Gehlem and was run by Gen. Gehlen &s a double agent against
CI§. Although Gehlen directed the case parsomnlly, there wes ome cape
officer involved who was never identified to CIA but vho mey have been

Pelfe. This phase of the Albert ir was meticulously kept secret from CIA

fwﬂfhﬂ!ﬁ"’? s .~ (_f,f_%
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&—— by both Gen. Gehlen and by CIC. Gen. Gehlen has persisted in
believing that CIA was the actua) controlling service behind the CIC
recruitment of Albert, and the Gehlen Orgeaizetion files have been
denied to us. CIC records om the case were aldo never revealed to us,
ostensibly becsuse of the hopeless task of attempting to retrieve the
fides. Therefore, we do not know vhen the "doublirg" of Albert took
place. We do mot know vhether Gen. Gehlem speoifically spproved Albert's
wammrmtmmmwcé,w,ﬂm,wi Ve
suspect, but do not kmow for certain, that Felfe wes somshov involved

in the case. We do not know whether Albert regorted truthfully on this
espect of his activity m%&r%mg’m be vithheld this Informmtion.
In viev of these gaps in owr knovledge, we are not certain that the XiB
Imew of Albert's demmcistion of Pelfe to CIC, but it SEcrotwtly
ressomadble to sswume it 413, skes- slmerdy there were a wmber of ways in
vhich 1% eould have obtained this informedion. If the XGB was aware of Albert’s
allegations against Felfe, 1tcmx1dsca€mmhmmmamnm
situation. Indeed, 1{ would have hed considersbly more wrgent reasons
for trying to gat rid of Albert thap vas the case ot the time of the
LILLI MARLER opmretion,

The fingsr wes put on Albert in May 1955, aine months after he
began reporting to CIC. Herbert Veimmann, a former Zast Germsn MLS
case officer/courier, after having been wweestel in West Germany ou &
charge umrelated to esplonage, made a clenn breast of his espionage
past in reton for immunity fraw prosecutlon. In zo doing he

A ool preladty Miem crn Td firat Ly e Ko 8, and A
Albert as an MPSAZE agent; smi also ¢ & large mmdber of othere
=t relatively insignificanty NIS sgents. According to Welmmmm, the
tirst part of Albert's MPS dossier, which he claimed to have seen, Lad
been trenslated into German from Eussian. He ecould not say vhan Albert
had besn recrulted by thecKUB, or when hoe Lad been turned over by the
K38 to the MfS, except that the file wvent back s mmber of yxars. Albert
was mxrested on the basis of Velnmanmn's allegatians, and during » seerch
Mw'a_mmmmwmmm,MWW

mede availeble to CIA . According wﬁ?@mmt, a senior security officer
&mmwmmaumsme, part of the evidence
wis three sets of £ilés ot tifes Albert amloyers - CIC, the Gehlen
Orgenization and the MPS/XOB. Berphardt stated privately that he had

Mm
no doubt Albexrt wes @=RE8 agent, & clewr indication that the totality
’ Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328

——

-1

(7 ~



Approved for Release 2019/02/21 C02606328

CRET
Yo FOR:&IC‘N DISSEM

of the svidence on this score was convincisg te the Gehlem Organizstion.
But despite the evidence, Albert refused tc admit to Esstern contacts
watil the might of 13 July, vhen his intervogatars thought they sew
signs he vas ready to talk. Although his Sailers were warped to watch him
carefully, toward morning their attemtion wepdersd, end Albert was found
humlpa_wnnunaeth:;as‘hﬂsning still for meny peopde as on the day it
happened.

There is no dovbt thet Welmsunm wes an WIE sgent of long stemding,
. but it is SHEREly suepected that his "confessicn” and demmciation of
Albert was KGB imspired. Although pert of his information wes clearly
mmmmny febricated. After his relsase from
mmmw,mwmwﬁ*mmmnmm
looked very mach like an stiempt to suppert his boga fides as e source of
inforsmtion. A very well blomn double agent allowsd the Qehlan Orgmnistion
to come imto possession of & letter addressed to Welmwammm by his MIS.

case officar. In it the MES officer expressed surprise that Weimmsmnn
had been relsssed from prisom 50 soon and comcluded that he must have
conducted himself well, A few months later Welmrsam was comtacted again,
but this time through 8 more securely maneged contact vhich mey not have
been intemied to come to Westera attemtion. At this time, Weirmemn
received instructions o "coutimm” giving infermation in the vay he bad
pean giving it, vith a few spacifisd exceytions. |

The Albert and the related Weimmaen sni LILLY MARLEN cases have
besn the subject of comsidereble mmlysic end speculation over the yesr's.
There ere sany questions which remain unclarified, but cne thing is clear.
e net effect of the Albert case was to solidify,rather then weaken,
Felfe's position. It brought the negzing derogetory data on Felfe out
into the open, snd shmwhow the doudbts were resolved in Felfe's favor.
That he was clemred is evidemced by the special trust placed in him by
mm,mmmutmwwmmﬁmmmmm
"sensitive” cases in which Gehlen hed a personal interest. 7o be swre, in
belated comsegquence of Albert's accusatims, Felfe wes subjected to e
security review on charges of "D apd Bastern commsetions,” but this was
a perfunctory matter. In Felruary 1956, Felfe was asked farmally, "officer

SR
9O Aol e
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to officer, fubether he had been  wewber of the SD, Ee replsed with ..
wazen "o, sir,” despite the fmct that his !D past wes knows to & muber
of Gehlen ofitcers and could have been readily mroven by a check of
vartine redords under Allled comtrol at the Darlin Documents Center.® The
results of this "investigation” wvere ”Wm% Although the HED's
security £ile on Pelfe was kept up in a desultory feshion for the reat
of his careet, nothing mich was to come from it alome, By this time,
Felfe was alreedy well on the way to becoming one of the more emergetic
apd productive CE experts in the H. His pofessional reputation wes
growing, and Felfe's corner was & disheartening place in which to lock for
additioon) treachery.

b, Telfe Settles T the/LONA deception

Vhils all these storms were brealling, Fylfe vas carefully settling in
. ' F rt‘xi-‘;‘-fj
to his mew Job.asim Bemicr case officer in the Soviet Jection of the CE Group.
/676.5'0)7’8/
a-wmtmt/{mﬁmmas 2 hemiquarters officer in the fall of 1954,

almost & yesr after his transfer. He reveals caly very ganerally vhat

they discussel at this meeting: problems of access, his snl Clesens'; amd questions
of how to hinder the lagalization of the Gehlen Orgenization. He gives no further
detail, but under these headings ope assumes that the basic modus opsrendd and @
cortain musbder of specific cases mast have baem dlscussed. The dasic

operating plan was thet Felfe should have ond general meeting with hic

Soviet cese cfficers esch vear. Cammications from him would be via Clemans

a8 courier end via S/W letters to an Bast Perlin sccomsodation address.
Commpmnication from Alfred would be via Clemens or directly to Felfe via
microdot. (Felfe and Clemens dissgree in their tentimony &s to who
m%mﬁw‘;@mm&a&ﬂ. Clepmens! statements sess wore plousilile,
pemely, that it wvas Felfe vho handled the microdot commmicatioms,

Yexdived
retrieving snl dgmeiaglng the £iln and sending to Clemanms only those EEI vhich

¥ Felfe worked hard on seversl of his CIA lisisos contacts to get him

an "informal” copy of his Berlin Documsmtatien Cester dossier. He was

clearly concerned that it might contain evidemce % prove he had lied

sbhout his background. He may bave hoped thet he wes lucky and that,

as heppeued in manycases, his file had beem lost or wes incomplete. Another
indication of his copcern was 2 comammt to o UIA liaison officer in March

1956, He s8id he hed hesrd that Albert hed esked Schmitz to investigate him,
and thet while he had recelv ;i oved for Release: 2019/02/27 C02606328R» ke hoped that
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Mw‘mmm) Training in 5/W and microdot wes given to
;e&mlsﬁm,maaaim,hemmw:ﬁﬁmam. These
technical innovations in the coperation provided yet preater coupartment-
ation between Pelfe and Clemens and reflacted the fact that Pelfe was now
sesan as the sonicr of the two sgents.

From the fall of 195k on, Pelfe photographed Cehlem reglstry
carda on a regular besis for Alfred; he also performed spacific neme
checks for the X0B. Other £ile material he rhotographed on a more
selective basis. As an example of his encrmous sangfroid (or perheps
of the ease with vhich a spy can operate ever in a highly compartmentesd
agency), Felfe says that he used to photogrark 7ile rmterial fes—hifved
in his office, with & tripdd, during the twerty minute interval between
the official closing time of 5:00 puam. and the begiming of overtime
vhen special rezistration of one's presence In the building was required. He
says he never photograghed after this howr, cven if he worbed late officially,
for fesr of being controlled when leeving the building., When leaving
the building he hid the film wnder his clothing next {0 his skin. Sometimes
he handed the film directly to Clemens, sceeiimes he sent 1t to him
by registered mail. On other occasions he checked files out offieially
and tolfi them with him vhen he had official twsiness in Clemens’
vicinity. Then he would photogreph the meterisl in Clemens' apartment,
%o which he had his own key. MHe vas a keen mmmteur photographer (and in
genersl & lover of gadgets) and lster on built himself a darkroom in
his weekend cottuge vhere he could do some of his XGB work.

¥hat Felfe does not tell us about this 0LL meeting #ith Alfred was,
however, probebly mmms mre important, Yithiz a very short time
after his arrival in headquarters, Felfe had bween put In charge of a double
agent through vhom he was soon to make & repwsetios for himself as sn
suthority on Soviet CE wattars. This was called the "IEEA"case and

was unquestionsbdly the most important single contribution to Felfe's career as an

intelligence affignv. Felfe claims he mever discussed this case with
Alfred, that it was e "clean” ERD operation. This is geperally accepted
as being inconueivable, and Felfe's atitampied deception only confiems
the case's importance. The LENA case geve Fplfe memeuverability as a
Soviet agent and status @s 2 B offiicer; it provided hilm with a channel
to recalve and to fulfill EEI; it wosndemed considerably his access

both to collect inforemiion and sometimes to disseminate disinformetion.
Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328
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It fits the basic formale of the BAJTHASAR case, only with & much grander
conception and much greater complexity. For the years 1954 to 1958, it
noves like the shedow play of Falfe's real Soviet career.

1XNA is the HMD cover pewe for Guenther Hefe, an Bast (ermam political fun-
etimr:f'aa&mw. Hofe wvas & member of the Cemtral Cosmittee of the
NDPD (Bational Democratic Party of Germany - an ostensibly independent
political party), divector of its publishing house, "Verlad der Hatiom,”
and editor of the party/edgem, Sationale Zeitumg. He had a minor reputation
uamwwt,wmmwmmatmwmwnmim
in certsin West German Socialist cirches as en apparently indepenient,
outspoken Bast Sermen. LENA's story to the BID was thet he had Jolned
verious Commmist front groups in orxder to "bore from within! and that
vary scon after the war he decided for ideological ressoms to volunteer
his services to & Western imbtelligemce service. Through an old Iafiwalfe
comrade in West PBerlin he came into contact with Fremch intelligence, the
SURCE, in 1948, The French rem him for sgveral yesrs as a polilical source
end were spparently highly satisfied with him. Ry early 1953 it had
WW&&tM«;Mmffeemmvmﬂguamim
agent for both the SDECE and the Gehlam Organization, and for 2 year
or so LENA was{ in effect rup joimtly. Is mid-195k the case wes officially
transferred to the Gehlen Crganization. Scwhat prior to the famnover,the
Geblen Organization asked CIA to evaluate scmwe of IENA's intelligence product
for them. Without maming the source, they esented us with a copy of
a stuly of the NDPFD written by EENA, CIA's branch for the study of
international commmiss wrote an evaluation which said in part: "This
study is & biased collection of overt and semi-overt knowledge of the
KDPD, missing several essential points pertaiping to the orgamizationm,
purpose and utilizstion of the Pariy by the Soviets in Eastern Germanyr..
the extensive use of NDPD members by the Soviet intelligence for missions
in Vest Germany is not mantioned.” A prophetic note, but esaler to read
with hindsight.

Despite this ons negative evsaluation, IENA beceme highly regsrded
by the Gehlen (rganization as a political source. Within five months
ot?’m's transfer to headquarters, howower, 1ENA ebruptly became & CE cage.
Through the NDFD Party Cheirman he had been introduced in Janmuary 1954
to & Soviet iatellipemce officer. After a flurry of meetings, he was
formally recruited in early March and immediately assigned to the task

. Brrn deon cmmadrimin £uilPoetmnes b4 e rom P
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Poreign Office, the Chancellor's Office; and the Federal Fress Office.

The plen vas granliose: LZNA was to be the "Germen net director}) o
recruit two principel agents end a sort of general political adviscr ani
spotter, snd several suppart agsnts, and to provids nmmes of potential pese-
tration ggents. As & double-agent in comtact with the Soviets, wvhose
 sativities were divectly to affect West dermmn seourity, the IXNA case

nov properly belonged to the CE Group of the Gshlen Crganization. Felfe
was made the hesdquarters case officer. Be directed LENA through a field cese off-
mm%wmwmms. mué&%mﬁ
the fisdd handler or any other Oehlen persommel besides Felfe vho wers
connected with the LENA case were Soviet sgemts, slthough, since all
analysis of this case insists that it was a XIB "set-up" Ifrom the beglmning,
muawwsem&i)ﬁs;masammmm

Gehlen hesdquarters to ensure that FElfe would be made the respousible case

officer. metR.mm?em’:mmmatMs

1EMA was cast a3 the perfect agent: intelligent, cool, & demondc
vorker {"meeds cnly four hours of sleep & night”) with a phemcmenal mexcry
( be claimed to find it relsxing to mesceize the license mmbers and makes
of the Soviet sutomobiles he saw in Kmrlshorst!). PFelfe tock grest
pains to point out IZNA's excellent persoms) qualities spd to empbesize the
ipdications in his reporting that the Boviet slso had a very high respect
for him. In contrest to IENA, however, the Soviet handiers seemed
somevhat naive. Indeed all his Soviet cmse officers in successsion had
the shockimg fsult of being chatterboxes and through them LENA was osten-
sibly able to pick up & grest variety of information about other Soviet
agents apd operations in West Germeny vhich were wnelated to him.
m,mmmmmmmmmu&fémmmmt
memmmtﬁmmmmmammmgm
mwmmnmwncymm. Much of the infoarmation
that 1ENA delivered to the Oehlen (rgamization wes excellemt. Several
bons fide RU and MFE sgents were identified for the HFND in this memer}
the XOB appareatly had little compunction about m-mm;}-n\nymm -
of its sister services, although it 413 zive svay same of its own sseets ,

t0o. The licemse plAtespproved for Release: 2019/02/21 Co260637¢iresses of — Ho-
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KGB safehouses were all sccurate; that (s, there wars traces [rom other
cases on them. Unfortumately, it was not eomplately clear in 195k

and 1555 that these other cases were blwx cases of the KIB/CE section
working against the Gehlen Orgenization and the éther Germam security
services, locking back on this fact, cne can cay that it should have
been disconcerting to find so magyy tracee from blown CE cases in 8 case
which the XOB pretended vas a political intelligence sollsetion operstion.
Similarly disconcerting was the fact that one of LBNA's case officers,
Viadimir Shohukin, had been described to us in early 1954 by Derysbin

as a former collenzue working on Vest Coarmmn security amd intelligence
sgencies. Deryabin deseribed him as inccupetent, one fact at lesst whiech
sesmed to be corroborated by LENA. In addition to their telkativeness,
Shehukin and his collesgues were unusuel snd puzsling in spother respect:
they dealt with their sgeat under their full, irue names.¥ They were
thua 1::06:11.1' checkable. Tochaical discreymncies abounded too: for example
mé KOB gave LENA & false West Germsm ilentity documemt in August 195%
vhich vas so obvioully falsified that they said they were cbliged to
apologize, and thet unfortunately they ware umsble to produce amything
better.

On the surface,lENA's operation to pmmetrate Bomm on behalf of the
wi«t?:ig‘:ga spectagular then his ggerstion toc psnetrate Kerlshorst on
behalf on the BED. The lsads he zatherad for the Sovists ware mmerous,
but they often petered out. Many potential recruits were reportad to

with s
the Soviets %ho Oehlen Orgenization standing by to sake & double recruitment

[ A I

e

N _ et e

¥* Uit

dote by way of comperison thnt neisher Felfe nor George Blake wora ovar
giveon full nameg or true namoeg of their Krrlehorst IGB hondlers. The wurpose
oi revoaling full true nomeg to LEIN wae prooumably Lo give Felfe cover for
car oll-zgoncy nemecheck on them.
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in case the Soviets followed up), but only one reel penetration was
sctually recruited: en alling and incompetant geptlaann in the Press
office vho contented himself with the prodict of wvasbte baskets for his
source material. To some cbeervers 1t seeasd ineredible at the time that
the KOB should go through eo »eny motions just for this, /Amd, indeed

it did not. The EOB wes in fact very intecested in information on the
Foreizn Ministry and Chancellor's offliee: persomnel rosters, tables of
orgmaization, interpal directories and otbhar msaorsnda, comgeromising
information on lesding officials etc. Thess KET wers all given directly
to Felfe by m‘ He ddmits that at his 1555 snd 1955 meetings with
the KOB officer they discussed these targets. In addition Alfwed asked
him to identify Gehlsm informents within the other govermumt departzents.
Felfe denies that he was sble to fulfill Alfred's requiremsnts; he claims
mma&mmua.mmmteﬁfhwmm In 2 certain semse
this was true, but the feet is ﬂnt/flm case did his work for Rim.

The singulsr and eMpecial importemce of LENA's net of agemts in
mt@mm that it forced the Cehlen Orgmmization to produce
"hui?ﬂ.w" mierisl on the target azencies an & systemitic basis and to a greater
sxtant than had ever been dome before. It csused amavers to be produced
to Soviet questions, while at the sspe time cremting the impression
within the MD that the Soviets 41d not have otuer agents in these
targets.. Bechuse of the cougrehens:ve natire of LENA's targets and becsuse of his

detailed reporting (deseribed by CIA offiedrs ms "moe MW&M
mxwmmnm'autmmtesm,

for permission to pase sppreoprite bulldeup patarial to keep LERA's
falparing pet alive: the theory ves that coe hed to pleese the Soviets
sc that & source of importamce both formtmmmur&tymﬂm&bh
for an eventual pmetration of the OB might remain viable. Yelfe's rin-
cipal problem ves that at this time thers was no mrovision for clsaring
mﬁ.mﬂupuurialinmmmt Pelfe first tried to persusie
saricus security officials in Bomm, then he ;nt to & CIA liaison officer,
hoping that ve would intervens in some wey. h&%mmm
Attorney Gemersl and obtaimed & statement from him to the effect that smy
materisl slresdy Semonstrebly knowm to the opposition was sutomstically
no longer secret. By extension, ﬂﬁtﬁichmwmmmutcouMh.
pessed to the opposition s duild-up meteriel. Finally, Oshlen himself
mmmmsﬁwmumgdmmmm,

Dr. Hans Olotke, on the case and obtained q}obkc': agreement in the matter:

s Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328 - %7 -
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specifically, this included permission to pass information on Foreign
Ministry personnel to the Soviets.* Thus armed, Pelfe was sble to man~
euver a wide variety of information "lsgally” into Soviet hands. A1l
that LENA's Soviet case officer had to do was tc declare that certain
areas of information were already known or alresdy "covered" by them,
and then Felfe could argue the virtwe of providing theat information %o
1ENA as bulld-up or to satisfy presumed OB cross-checking on LENA ,Or A8
a way of trying to mmoke out the presumed Soviet source. Any number of
Soviet targets could be treced in Bonn and in END files simply by working
Tv the LENA case
mmwma’:mmmny./\ﬁhcmnuwms in LENA's
reporting of persons or subjects of Soviet interest wige flash into the
limelicht for a moment - perhaps long snough to be checked out in Western
f1les? - axd then disappear froe the IEFNA case vith the Saviet case

officer's remark that he is no longer interested. <

-
o

g'r:;c this exercise more thorough Felfe eventually managed to get

permission to conduct his own investigation of u‘)_g;:ml know to be under
study by the Soviets, and on vhom the Soviets were seeking informstion on
vulnsrabilities for recrultment attempts. Even more brash is the incident
when Felfe asked a CIA liasison officer if CIA ecould provide leads, from
lists of dropped agents to persons who might be emploved at a relatively
high level in different Boun ministries whom he could then reeruit and
"feed" to the KOB vim LENA/

Through the LENA operation, the BND became intimately involved in
the security of the West German Poreign Ministry, checking on tergets
of interest to the Soviets, passing bulli-up and deception material, etc.
This established an important precedent at a time when the nascent West
german intelligence and security organixetions were still engazed in inten-
eive in-Tighting over the precise definition of their functions and

t aﬁmﬂm 8bout Felfe's tcehniquevrittm,‘by the
: 3 ‘security metters: to=—the s - e

Felfe "vexry e.lcverly Flayed the Gberbundesmalt (F‘cdersl Atbcrncy Gonoral)
ageinst his own supericras. BHe cbtained access to the Chancellor's office
through Gehlen's own sccess. Then he used (the Chancellery's) approval of his
wishes to insure the approval of Gehlen. Along the way he mede references
to the uncooperative attitude of various other ofﬂeials, including the
BV and security officers in the Poreign Office. Alllin al}), he made fools
out of everybody in the name of the security of the Federsl Rgpublic."

CRTTOR BTOSEM
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responsibilities., The BV, which has forasl responsibility for the
security of govermmemt offices, wes not yet sufficlemtly well-orgpmnized to
Wn responsibility. Using the IZNA case, the HND moved
into the wvacuum and established a precedent which still holds., The
BND still egercises certain de fucto responsibllity for Forelgn Office
security, despite the BfV's formml suthority in this field.

There was spother interesting geddit in the 1ENA operatiom vhich
wvas used by Felfe to exaverbate the alreedy exisiipz Trietion vetween the
R and the BfV. On Felfe's mmmmf,\%ma conzern to his
Soviet case officer sboul operating in West Germay a3 & Soviet sgent
end sbout the danger thet the BEV mizht get om his trail. The Soviet case
officer allagedly edvised LENA te have mo femr, as the BIV hed only two
£iles on him @&l they contained only routine Information on IENA's party
activities. Whem Felle got this informetiem fram LINA he checksd the BV om
an spprogriste pretext and found that their files were exmctly as described
by the Soviet m officer. This was yroof, Felfe then said, that the
mmmm Wwa cited rather widely by Oehlen, Felfe
snd other BND oﬂz&m to their American collsacuss snd presumably to
other elmnm v:xf the Carmmn govermment.

&
I

Waammammg the course cf the LENA operatiom that CIA
ewﬁkmﬁdwhmmmimmu. In the IENA case s in meny
m}:éwwnt {bnen, his contact with CIA was of emormous value as a kind
”ef mpr-l:f.&itm, since the varicus Qermem services would soretimes tell
their fmamt‘idm‘bam than they would tell eech other. Vhen
Imamaafnmﬁudmmmmituhbommki»a;wmm
%m],ﬂm ?:*me building in 1955 so that a tranemitter might be w
in 1%, B‘clf‘#\cm to CIA with the complaint thet there were at lsast
seven mtfmt. Gersmn szencies 40 which & vorkman mizht report g reeruit-
nent tmmh ﬁ:ﬁ that his orgmmizetion could e swre of hearing autommticalls
mwmam Be feared that 1" he did not have timely varning
of such an approach he might lose the opportunity o double the worker
securely: would we please manitor the s tustion for him? Typieslly
far the IENA case, nothing came of this nlen te recruit & workmen and to
plent an sudio device. In retrospect, we speculate the Soviets were
plaming to spproach such & workman idepamdentl; of LENA, end that they
uged this tectic té imsure that Pelfe would lesrn of it 17 their setusl

s J‘ ] }'J m
TTITTOTVY O e Seae
Approved for Release 2019/02/21 002606328 — W —_—



Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328

SFCRET
NO FOREIGN DISBEM

target reported the approach. Thus, if Felfe did not learn of any such
approach, the KGR could be confident of the workman's bona fides and
feel free to use its best (ané most sensitive) type of audio equipment.
The LENA case, while dazzling for a while, produced many questions
and suspicions in the minds of analysts in both the QKgéen Organization and
CIA. The unnatural talkativeness of the KGB case officers. the endless
and inconclusive backing‘and filling in the setting up of his net, the
lack of Gehlen control {LENA came and went at his own initiative, and
always in a hurry, to the West Berlin home of his old Luftwaffy friend, where
he simply recorded what he wanted to say on tape and left); all these
features ware puzziing even while the case was new. One colleaque of
Felfe's, Dr.fHerder, was puzzled enough to write a review of the case in
late 1955, He decided it was a fraud, but he m was not yet quite certain
why. Felfe's CIA contact felt the same way: there seemed to exist the
poss1bility of a deception, but the obvious take for the Soviets did not
appear to pay for output in terms of good leads given to the West.
There was no internal logic to the case. This of course was the correct
conclusion., There was no internal reason for running the case as a
deception, but there was a very jyood “external” one: Felfe, whose
benefits far outweighed the loss of any information to the West from
the LEMA operation. These stirrings of suspicion about the LENA case
constituted the seconﬁ obvious major danger signal -~ aftér Albert's

denunciations - to Felfe. The LEMA case would have to alter its course.

— Ha -
——gb
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IV. KGB Work in West Germany as a Sovaereign Country: 1956-61

The years 1955-1956 mark a major change in KGE operational policy
in Hest Germany, The post-war pericd was over and West Germany had become
a soveretgn nation. By spring 1956 the Gehlen Organization had become the
Federal Intelligence Service (Bundegnachrichtendienst - BND}, a dependency
of the Chancellor's Office, the legal forefgn intelligence collecticn
agency of the Federal Republic of fermany. Formal CIA trusteeship had
ended. The BMD was considerably reorganizad and its reiationship with
CIA'gradua]Ty began to normalize, although CIA has never really lost its
"favored” position. To meet the new situation new units were created in
the BND and BfY for the penctration of the Soviet installationsy which
were set up ?a!lewfng the restoration of soverefgnty and establishment of
diplomatic relations with the USSR. CIA bases in Frankfurt and Bonn also
turned their efforts on thése targets and in doing so found the need,
and the obligation, to operate closely - but as Ydafson equals - with
the newly independent German agencies. In Berlin, CIA's operations
base redoubled its efforts against the Soviet "extra-territorial® head-
quarters - Imbassy, Trade Delegation, KGE and GRU - in East Berlin,
producing in the process a fairly comprehensive body of documéntary and
biographic material, which, alonz with the CIA German Station's Tibrary
of CE case histories, became widely used for crosschecking new information
as weii as for trading purposes in the new #&mm 1iaison relationships.
For the KGB, the BND was no longer a target for possible destruction:
far more, now, it was an object to be manipulated. The opportunity to
replace Gehlen had been lost, but he could sti11 be embarrassed. It was
no longer possible to make use of his complicated jJockeying with political
rivals, bﬁt he might still have certain political dreams which could
be played upon. The fundamental theme of Soviet policy in Germany, now
stronger than ever, was neutr&lizatian, and as Hest Germany's economic
and military status incressed the KGR moved correspondingly to support
its own government, not simply with the collection of information or the
parrying of its enemy's operations, but by mounting a number of "influence”
or “Inspirational” operations, some of which filtered through Felfe's fingers.

s
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With the help of the LENA case - and ié 5pite of its potential
dangers and the distrust of Dr. 0 HerderZ- Felfe had established
himself in the headquarters organization fairiy solidly by 1955 as
the most energetic, aggressive case officer working on the Soviet
intelligence target. In late 1956 or early 1357 he succeeded‘ﬂefle
as deputy chief (in practice the real chief) of the 503 efiégzzion
of the CE Group. DBroadening of Felfe's access became 3 primary
ochjective. Alfred’s factual EEl for the period 19556-52 reflect
the KGR need for detailed organizational and personnel information
on the BND and its liaison partnars: the internal security
service, the military security service, the Forelgn MWinfstry, the
Chancellor's Office and, among the Americans, primarily CIA, Alfred’s
purpose was mainly protective: of Soviet installations in Bonn
and Fast Berlin and of the operations run from them. USSR internal
security requirements were reflected, too, in requests for Felfe to
develop information on the PND section running penetrations inte
the Soviet Union and to cutline Foreign Office security procedures for
the German Embassy in Moscow. In general, Felfe and Clemens wevre
expected to warn the chiets of any projected operation against them.
They were alse given specific names to check.

With a better bureaucratic position and tha allure of being an
“expert,” Felfe had considerably more maneuverability in his own
right after 1956, Inraddition he was antarprising and his talent
for elicitation was phenomenal. He made 2 practice of winning a
personal contact in every importart Federal and Land Security
Office: more than one security official has ruefully admitted that
he used to brief Felfe reqularly and informally on his cases in order
to get the expert's opinion. And where he could not develop an

already existing éont&ct he would try to insert one iIn the guise

- 51 -
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of a “"special connection.”® Wherevar Felfe had to visit another
government agency on BMD business he would Took up other contacts
in the area just to keep up with what was coing on. After a while
he devised the practice of taking along a tape recorder so that he
could cover more ground efficiently. Soon BND colleagues found
this a handy way of having him take care of some of their liaison
for them, and he was eventuaily relaying questions and answers
on various matters concerning Soviet, satellite and Communist
Party operations of the BND and BfV which otherwise were not of
official concern to him. From the BND's own damage assessment
we have the charactérizatien of Falfe during this period as
"shamelessly curious.”

Clemens in the meantime had been transferred to Cologne to

work in one of the new units tarneted against the Soviets in Bonn., His unit

*An interesting example of this kind of maneuver by Felfe involves
a man named Max Klemm, 2 former 5SS officer and late returrer from
Soviet PW camp. Felfe was instrumental in having Klerm taken on as
an agent by the BKD and ip having him get a job in the Office of the
Federal Chancellor. Felfe argued that such 2 person as Klemm on the
Chancellor's payroll would probably attract a Soviet recruitment
attempt. The SND (Felfe) could then monitor the operation for “security
purposes”! Somehow Felfe succeeded in selling this idea to his superiors,
but there was never any sign of a Soviet approach. (There are various
possible explanations of Felfe's motive for inserting Xlemm into the
Chancellor's office. 1t may hava been simply to use him as an
urwitting source on this office. A more ominous speculation is
that Xlema was a KGB agent, and that Felfe devised the BND operation
utilizing Klemm as cover for moving him intn a sensitive job and
ensuring all concerned of his "security.”) Klemm later became the
BNO 1iaison officer to the Security Group {SG), the unit responsible
for security of high governwental officials and the executive action
arm for espiorage and subversion cases of the Chief Federal Prosecutor.
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was designed to penetrate (primerily by sudio imstallation) the Soviet
Trade Delegation, apd it worked im tanders with & corresponding wmit
directed by the BV against the Soviet Enbasay. Pelfe could lesrn such
sbout these operstions from Clamens, and in eny cese, 83 & CE staff
officer he had the right to review certals relsvamt cases from time to
tims. Felfe's isvelvement with thess oparetiops incressed stesdlly,

so thet by late 1959 he was officially respomsible for the hesdquarters
supervision of mearly all BED operatioms agminst the Scviets in Germsny.
The X35 could well congratulats itself, At the sesm time it had to
mvmwwmmmmmmmmmumsm.
seale without endangering its source.

a. Tergeting of CIA, Provoeation, Tecticsl Decsptiom

The LENA case also helped to break grousd/ea lisisca with CTA
on operstions sgainst Soviet installatices im ¥ast Berlin. The CIA
Perlin Operations Bsse, vhich handled these operatioms, still emjoyed
the possibility of working unilsterally. The IND meturally wented badly
to have its share of sources in Xurlshorst, the seat of KGB Headquarters
in Emst Germany, and Felfe strova vwith & variety of ploye to further both
the BEND's end the KGB's cause. In Septestter 105C Pelfe snd Relle visited
sl Shbs,—amd CTA Bodquarters) oa members of & HID CE orientation
- group. During this visit Felfe gave e tmlk om the LENA cese, deseribing it
as eolesn, one of the best operstioms the HEND had, and practieelly »
peeetration of the KIFB iteelf. mxw;cmwat‘thumhomto
profuce sizesbls amoumts of lnforwetion on XOB /el

safe house sidresses, licemse Plate mmbers, telephone mwbers, ete. -
and in Jume 1956 the Berlin Bese Soviet operatioms chief hed discussed the
casevith Felfe, offerinz full support in evaluating and checking out
1ENA's information. TFelfe agreed to supply all tw positive operstional
detail cbtained by IENA through normel WP-CIA chemnels, end he also
offered, off= , to pass vhatevar sensitive information he
received affecting Weet Cermmn security if we would agree to be very
discrest sbout 1t. Ve responded with elecrity. Mot omly d1d we wish to
reep our foot in the door now that the newly legalized BD wes often eager
to dispense with us, we hoped that through this csse we could inluce the
spparently clumsy end wiprofessicmel XUE case officer, Shehukin to defect.
Bven more thmm&tamﬁwmmumim

within Sovist controlled terilory such as Earlshorst who eould give us
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"aarly varning® informetion on sny mmjor Soviet retreat or redisponition
in Fast Germeny. (The Soviets showed their joodwill im this respect by
letting IERA give s whole twenty<four hour advance potice of the East German-
USSR Troop Agreements, and sgain by givimg some spurious indicmtions ol
alleged Soviet withdrawals fmﬁ the Karlstorst Compound im 1957.) The
by~product of cooperation on the LENA case was to indicats more of less
umavoldably that CIA hed e certaim coverass of the Karlshorst Compound.
A similer process vas repeated in ncther operetion which had been rm
by the BND sgainst the Soviet Trede Delegation Pulyclinic in Karlshorst
snd vhich produced an encrmous quantity of personallity information on
the Trade Delsgaticn snd on some intelligamece officers under Trade Delegatior
cover. In late 1056 Perlin Base offered full support to this operstion,
wvhich was eventually to follow the slmost classic pattern of suddenly
turning into & CE case and being put into Felfe's hands.

Tn 1558 Pelfe began & concerted campalzn to collect detailed information
from CIA on its Karlahorst psmetrstion program. To this end he engipesred &
saries of erises in CIA-DED relstionshipe which resulted in his being
briefed by CIA on the status of its effori. The first of these triefings
cccured in Wy 1958. Dn October 1958 Felfe tried wmotictaliyjto got aerreval,
m&jm T chief of Berlin Buse, KHiNusBappmnd, but vas turned
dowvn. A seeomd offiecial briefing followed in Pebrusry 1959 and & third
in July 1959. At this point & mechanism wes created for close, comtinued
officiel PND-CIA coopuration sgainst Karishorst. A M case officer was
placed in the U.S. Army Berlin Compound und worked closely with Perlin
M liaison officers. This was an impor-tant end delicate step since
the BND rejresentative had to be documembed es & U.8. Army Barlin Commend
explcyes, supplied with an automebile with U.5. Forces licemse plates
apd other American Army support fscilities. Felfe in turn became the
BND hesdquarters' supervisor for the now offictal END Yarlshorst pemetration
program and the lmmediste supervisor of the B case officer in the Berlin

Comemnd compond.

At & meetinz witk Alfred in Berlia in December 1959, Felle discussed
the CIA operations ageainst Karlshorst. He said he had been making scme
headway in discovering what the Americars were up to, but as yot they were
pot revesling their sources to him. Alired proposed that he "help” the
mericans by semding some scurces for them bo reeruit, but Felfe clalms,

as he naturslly would, that he trisd.to discpurage this, Bome cases of )
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pmmm@mdcmwm CIA, but mot through Felfe's
s (,(Ll./y(x.

admissions, 80 we hEve no gEoof thet they were manipulated in direct

AAE 2

support of Felfe. In other cases, Felfu's rale & somswhat clasrer.

I m4-1957, Felfe had discovered ‘rouch,races on some of the XIB
pafehouses in the LENA case, that Perlin Base had ax excelleni source in
the Darlshorst Bousing Administration. (A source in this spot wes abls to
grovide considersble "order of bettle” iaformmtion on & veriety of Soviet
agencies, including the intelligence services, through regulsr monthly
reporting on Soviet billeting assizmmmts.§ This:source'had been cne
of Berlin Base's major Karlshorst assets for some years.) By 1959 the
Boviets had apparestly succesded in ident:fyinz the CIA scurce, w At
that time one of Felfe's collssgues suceended in recruiting this souree's
cowworker in the Nousing Adninisteution. After this, we begmn to note
that our soures's sooess to infarmetior was slowly dimimishing., Ve presume
the XOB decided to leeve her alons im crder to grotect their source (ﬁm),
but restricted her access im crder to minimise the smount of harm she
eould cause. Ve know her ectivities were closely monitored. Although << S
Fest German swrveillsuts watched her come to West Berlin for meetings with

T aresilid and pvea Iy

her CIA cuss officers, mm,\umufmmwunﬁwmtmna.
Shortly after she flead, the MMD recrult, who may well have besn KiB.controlled,
claimed to have received sn smonymous waraing ani also fied te West Berlin.
Thus the Housing administration vas pu-ged.

n several other cases we have bean sble to determine that within @
certain period of time, remging from two to nine momths after an ageat
or prospective recruit bad been idemtified o Pelfe, ihe sgent was either
mm,wsmxywmu@t,wmmmwwm. T
mmmmﬁmtdcnm“mtmmmmwm
housing office, Palfe, with XIB assistance, boldly boldly provoked coufirmmtion of
this fact by trying 5o recrult coe of cur sgsmt’'s collsagues. He placed sn
ﬁmmmmmmmmwammtmmm
the East Sector. Our agemt's secretery snswered it ﬁ?‘%ﬁé‘mﬂm
Palfe mxmounced to us thet be intended to reerult her 83 & HID source on
mmx.m,m%mtummmw
chief and asked him to stop his approech since it might endenger our
agent = who alresdy covered ths target in ans case. As & rewult of such
aggressive manipulation by Felfe sad the KB, the hitherto unilsteral Berlin
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rrogroin agrinst Inrieghorst wapg lorgsly compronicoed,  Until the Torlir

J’L g oroctod on 13 August 1961, however, the Soviets refrained from arresting
or doubling many of the agents Involved, orcetnably to avold genoroting cvepleion
v oony rie k to Felfe, after the twll, hcmever, vhen theso =gents corld no
visit West Borlin for narsonzl ne+binge with their CIA case officare,
Sovieve snd/ or 1S did move 1 ns' thase ngants under control. Thke
To oW were able to meirtoin of ne comwniestions vith Barlin Hhed
Itrr tho Ea.ﬂl soon shoued c..ci‘:ml.v a:lpjne of’ hostile control. ; i

. The Kﬁé also manipulated Felfe in support of its investigation
of other suspected CIA operatiors inside the Seviet tmion, One case,
which occurred in 1960, involved a Mest German businessman recruited
by Berlin Base to report on Soviet trade contacts during his freauent
visits to the USSR, This husinessman was subsequently recruited,
by the KGB, independent of the Derlin Base recruitment, and tarceted
against the West German and U.S. Tmbassies in Moscow. When the
KGB suspected him of having Hestern intelligence contacts, they
reacted by closing out all the agent's KGB requirements except one,
ramely, to spot, recruit and maneuver into place 3 West German
girl suitable to be a German Embassy secretary. By this maneuver
of introducing a CE factor urgentiy affecting West German security,
the KGB succeeded not only in forcing revelation of the case to
the BHD, but an actual turnover of the case io the BMD. Felfe
became the BHD Headquarters case officer, and the KGR continued
to play the operation for the purpose of {dentifying other BND
assets fnside the USSR. In another case, that of 2 West German
woman run by ClA, Felfe provoked revelation of our interest hy
sending us reports accusing her of seriously insecurs hehaviour
while she was in Moscow. Subsequently, she became the target of an afyanefﬁf
KGB "dangle” operation -- a Spviat ?oyer was introduced whowedbe:
Kiemne<tp appearﬁgzg;ntia?}y racruitable.

The Berlin Wall made K5B CI work in Berlin considerably easier,
bhut it did nething for the Sevict diplomatic and trade installations
in Hest Germany. In the Hest t#% problems of negatine German and
American counterintelligence operations without revealing the
existence of a major leak were more difficult. Paradoxically,
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Felfe himself had been largely responsible for promoting an operation
to tap Soviet Embassy telephones in Bonn. The KGB regarded this
situatian in a fairly relaxed manner, however: Felfe kept them
supplied with information from the transcripts.* Presumably it
gave the XKGG a go0d security check on the Embassy employees as well
2s a convenient deception channel: and, of course, they knew precisely
which Soviet offices were not tapped and, therefore, safe. The
Kirpichev case, descri&ed below, contains examples of the deliberate
use, as well as of the careful avoidance, of tapped wires for
operational purposes. For diffcrent, and obvious reasons, the KGR was also

erconiirmntd
guite swrgadee about the joint [ND-CIA audio operation against the
Hew China News Agency. Felfe reported to the KGR on this operation
and it remained maéerat}%& successful from our point of view. But,
while the KGB seems to have beer willing to allow us a passive
coverage of thégg?efficiai inste1lations through telephone taps, it

A i apythi i

was sonewhat more energetic in trying to cgunteﬁnaagés operations
against their own {nstallations and personnel, and in frustrating
Western agent aperationé mounte.! on the basis of the audio product.
By procrastinating bureaucratically Felfe could foil wany a plan. If
this did not work, then the audie equipment would often fail technically
for some unexplained reason, although in ro given case could the
failure be positively ascribed to anvthine but accldent. In other
cases, the target of the audio ageration‘weuld suddenly he moved to
another billet at the last minute after the audio installation had
heen completed, and an ewployee of no great interest to us would be

assigned to the wired apartment in his stead., In some cases, however, the

*Golitsyn reported that he learned in 1959 or 1950 that the KGR had
many repoerts on the monitoring of conversations in Soviet installations
in West Germany. He conjecturel sbstbuchieme that these must have come
from a KAB agent connected with BHD audio operations.
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defensive ploys had to be more complicated, and sometimes they did
not succeed, Tun of the best known examples concerned the Soviet
intelligence officers, Kirpichev and Pripoltsev,

Dmitriy Ivanovich Kirpichev was a XGE operations officer
assigned to West Germany under cover of the Soviet Freioht and
Transport Office, STVAG, in Hamburg. Kirpichev had been in contact
with a2 Soviet enmigre residing ir West Cermany, who, in turn, was
reporting on his contact tc the BfV. Kirpichev had been under
surveillance by the BfV in an effort to establish some legally
incriminating material which micht serve as the @ basis for an
arrest.’ Felfe says he learned of this case and of & plan to
arrest Kirpichev at a routing BID-BfV conference sometime in the
first half of Februarvy 1961. On 11 February he had a meeting with
Aifred in Derlin, at which time he informed the KGB about the
Kirpichev case. Alfred then asked Felfe (according to Felfe) if
he thought it would endanger Felfe if the Soviets "undertook

something” to protect Kirpichev. Felfe says he replied in the
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negative, as long as the Soviet counter-operation were carried out “"with
the necessary finesse”. He even suggested the ides of having Kirpibkhev
pretend to fsll sick vhile cn & trip to Berlin.

Teomedistely after this, on 16 Felruary, Felfe hal a conference with
the BfV referent for work on the Sovie' Esbassy. Fram him he learped
the details of Kirpichev's emigre operation, including the emigre's
KGR covername, “ﬂlﬂl&@m the fact the arrest was to take place soon.
Felfe reported this to Alfred in secret writing. At the time, he knev
that the police planned to interrogate KRITIX formedkly on 21 February for
the purpose of preparing the legal basis for the subsegquent arrest of
Kirpichev im Bamburz. Be meay or msy aot have been swsare thet the arrest
wos definitely planned for the 23rd.

On the afternoon of 21 Februery Kirpichev left Hamburg and travelled
to Bonn, where he spent the night in a hotel near the Soviet Embassy. Prick
to his departure, various Soviet offices indicated that Klipichev was
about to leave on a business trip to’ Berlin, but would return to Esmburg
on the 234 sf February. mmwmmmm;sm
produced this informmtion, sa the XOB Imew it would, and Felfe sent 1t on
to the BfV. Kirpichev proceeded to Barlin ca the 22nd. The £3rd came and
went with no arrest. A few days later Kirpichev's wife in Hemburg made
soms remarks on the SOVAG pramises, where a FiD agent was employed, vhich
“explained” why her husband Bsd not returned to Hamburg. Presumably this
agent was known to the XUB; in eny case, Kirpicheva took care that he
overheard her saying that her husband was severely ill in Berlinm. Two
more days pasaed and the BHD agent in OJOVAG was able to report the
receipt by that sgency of en official anncuncememt from Berlim that
Kirpichev had been stricken by su inflamed appendix end confiped to a
Berlin hospital. PFelfe sant this report to the BfV in a routine manper.

On the 15th of March this report was "confirmed” in a telephome csll betwean
the Soviet Embassy in East Berlin and the Soviet Trade Mission in Cologne.

Now all that resmined for the KGB to do was to give the BfV asd the BND

a8 specific reason on vhich to pin the entire failure of the Kirpichev
operation, and vhich at the sams time itight beed off any potentially

dangerous gemeral inquif y. Kirpicheva let the NND source in SOVAG hear

ber resa¥k¥ that she had been under surveillapee in Bamburg by an unknown person.
Meauvhile the BfV's double-sgent, KRITXK received a acuephratesdsd messaze

from Xirpichev warning him that they had been under surveillamce during
Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328 - 7'
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their last meeting and that Kirpichev hed fled Yest Germany for security
reesons. PFelfe infommad the BfV of the SOVAS pengtration agent's report;
the BfV sent him the item about Kirpichev's message to KRITIK and 1% seemsd
as though the operators had only themselves to blame for everything.
Although after his arrest Falfe tried tc give the impreassion that he
had not given this operstion eway in the first place, he was obviously
interested in seeing it work cut well for the X3B., According to Clemsme,
Felfe ssked him some time in 1961 to ask Alfred "if everything worked out
and Kirpichev got out all right.” Clemens said Alfred answered in the

afTirmative.

M interesting side light on the modus opersndi in this case is that
in its earlier steges (bafore Felfe had reported to the XOB éhat KRITIK was & dou-
ble-agent), the KGB provided KRITIK with sum emrgency contact vhom he could
resch by teleghone in the Press Section of the Soviet Ewbassy. The sign-
ificance of this is that the Press Section wes housed in a separsate build-
ing from ihe rest of the Embessy snd thekUB kaew, through Felfe, that it
vas not tapped, unlike the offices of KRITIK's regular case officer.

¥ot so successful was the Pripoltsev cese. Valsmtin Alsksendrovich
Pripoltsev was an sagineer assigned to the Soviet Trude Mission in Cologne.
The BV had uncovered Pripoltsev's rols az cmse officer in thres chses
which it was monitoring. Felfe lserned of this first in May 1961 at a
routine interagemcy conferemce. In July, at a second confersnce, he
lsarned that the BIV wes thinking of making an srrest. The dste of the
plammed arrest was, howsver, a closely guarded seeret. Felfe lserned it
on 24 August, only two days in sdvance of {he srresi date. The result
was that he was unable to warn Alfred irp time. Pripoltsev was arrested
and sentenced to four years in prison on cherges of espiomsge. Felfe in
turn received & reprimand from the X3B. (This event becmme ancther csuse
for the KOP's subsequent insistence on & faster commmications system
through the use of an Tllegal.) Felfe made scee sort of e#fort, howaver.
As soon 88 he heard of the date for the arrest he sant a talex to the Cologne
offies of the BED suggesting, on his own initiative, that it have & Russisn
linguist standing by. In doing this he used a cryptograghic reference
in & strange way wvhich revesled the neme of the Soviet to be arrasted.
The BND subsequently surmised that Felfe could have done this to alsrt
Clemens or sinply to extend the renge of Inowledge of the plsnmed arrest

in order tocmh&m!!igmevmmt Pripoltaev dlsappeared before =
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his arrest.

Ancther operation,known ss the Sckelev case, demomsirates Felfe's
usefulness in matters of Soviet internel security. During 1959 anmd 1960,
in the course of investigating an insecure JU oflicer, Pelfe end Alfred
managed to direct a series of provocations in such s mermer &s to involve
pearly every Cerman and Americeam intelliosnee service in West Cermany
together in one anti-Soviet case, thus giving the KOB a remavkable ipsight
into the lisiscn pratices of the Western agencles. This case is treated
in some detail In Ammex C. Tt is anocther excellemt example of operatiomal
deception|very intricate, vell-timed decaption, complets with apperent
confirmations &nd eross-checks of information and real sacrifices of agentis
and equipment. The primery goal of the XIB in this affair was to investigale
and entrap Sokolov, an insecure apd potentially tremsoncus RU offleer who had been
operating for Qme yeers ageinst US, air bases in West Cermany. ™he case
can also be resd s ap illustration of the KIB mission to investigate the
security of its militery intelligence ecclleagues, By creating, or slaborating
upon, variocus aeubaﬁ agent operations involvinz Sckolov, the X318 vas
imstrumental in provoking operational interest in him end his West Gersan
agent net on the gart of the BfV..#wo L{V's, the HED, sad CIA (both on ita
oun, snd ik its capacity es liaison representative gor CIC and 0ST imterests).
By imlcrtiag into BND spotting channels en agent vho claimed to be Bokolov's
m:tatms&, as well as his sgent, and _s;thﬁ ninted that be might be defectadble,
the K0B put the BND in a position to laspire the creation of, and then to
wonitor, s joint task force comsisting of represantatives of all the interested
services, TFor six months the Germsn snd American representatives omm
in elose, daily lisison to prepere the hoped-for defection of Sockolov
and capture of his Vest German agents. This constituéd a buremucratie

tour de force vhich put Pelfe at the ceater of vhal was virtually a sort

of ceptral clesrsnce mecheanism for the Bandling of this case. This experiment
i{n elose inter-service coordination proceeded to the genersl satisfaction '

of all parties concernsd. The pramtion end moaitoring of this coordimation|
process was probably one of the specific XGB cbjectives in the Sckolov |

oparation, There is no Joudt tmt & continuing syatem for

information on double agent casas, witk Polfe in a position to Mitm'
1t, would have sstisfied the Scviets ercrmously. We also Xmow that Gemeral
Gribepov, chief of the KDB's Intermsl Counterintelligence Birectorsts, vhile

briefing Soviet apd satellite C1 officers im late 1958 and early 1959, stressed
SECRET " |
ST TITQ Y
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the need to collsct informatiom and docwsmntetion on "ecordisetion” smomz
the Westarn services vhich could be exploited propassndistically szainst
e, &

In the course of the Sokolov operation, esch perticipsnt had consider
abls opportunity to learn sbout the othe- services buresucratic and oper-
ational methods, ani eamsidersble amounts of background information were
axchanged. CYA, s usull, was the most zrolifie, furnishing traces snd
orgenizational information g the Soviet intelligmwe serviecas. Felfe's role
throughout wes umusually passive (his collssgues remarked later on his atypical
behavior), although he did try during a certaim period to persusde his coll-
eagues to try to "reeruit" Sckolov, rather them to tmmtf on his zlef&ct»im.
Indeed, as the B significantly remarked after his srreat, gf;gimim
role wvas Just to sit back and let himsell be btrisfed by all sides. VYhen
it come time to Pegin the sxeeutive actiom phmse of the operation, the
roll-up of Sokolov's net went very well: five agents were arrested, many
more suspects dentified, and considerabls esplomage gear, inmeluding
one of the mevest Soviet W/T sats, was captured.®* Fot so successful,
however, mmmoru to defect Sckoiov. This wes not in the XHB
interest, and each time we tried to move closer to him he mmu "in
the hospital” or otherwise out of reach. It vas in the KGB's interest,
however, to allow the West Cermans to arrost, slong with Sokolov's other
agents, the voman who pupported to be his mistress. (Despite };;;Z:r?sl;.'ﬁiMa
in helping her Western handlers to try to defect Sckolov, she failed
ultimetely to convire them of her bona Zides.) Her testimony described
Sokolov's imsecure behavior and his "Wes<wora Wi«‘% Felfe states
that he sent a copy of her testimony {or excerpts therefrom) to Alfred,
and one assumes that from there it found its wey to the Soviet military

prosecutor.

Clomens « alvgys & little slover than Felfe -~ was shocked that Alfred
had let this agent be arrested by the Waui Germsns, indeed hed dslibverately let

¥
Source: Goleniewshi report of 5 April 1959.
* Lt
This W/T set had previously been compromised to CIA by|Col. Popov.
This feact was known to the XUB, s Popov had heen arresied before the start
of the Bokolov case, But 1t was not knosm to the Cerman servides which
were very interested in the "new” Soviet equipment.

iy
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her walk into a trap. Alfred's reply to him was to shrug andsay: "thi

had nothing to do with my office’ and "Sckolov will certainly be srrested.”

Felfe sdmitted that he lmd cbserved this case Jith soes Zlee and was asusel to
deliver derogatory information to ihe XO0B aboul the RU aflicer. He received a domus (
from the XilB of 1,000 IM for his efforts. His Vest Germsm prosscutors thought it |
was strange that be should receive & bonus in 2 case vhich had sctually been

a "failure” for the Soviets, ¢.g. {ive RU agents wrrested. Felle grobably

foud this smmsing, too, a8 he merely replied Yat be bad been conpensuted

for bard work despite the "losses” suffered.

Armazes D and E dewmeribe two other ceses -~ ZUVERSECHT epd MERKATOR -- whieh
show #hat happend' vhen the opposition learndl thet ‘@wrad iis’operations bas been
doubled st 15, In one of theoe cesss, tha opmation limped along
in desultory fashilon for quite & few yeers, anl Pelife used the case to support
his contention of opposition incomgetence. Thi other casse vas exploited
more agzressively as & chmomel Tor pgssing both politiesl and counterintelligencas

disinformation.

While Melfe could serve sdmirsbly s watcaldog for RIS sseeds in Ceremny,
Soviet needs

after 1955 had also created for him 2
grivate role oo the politicsl soems, which in scew WA s might have provided
hmmmﬁﬁmmmmwmb d1d his
oresueretic emiscinoce. IENA - g8 ever - provides & clue. During the
poricd of lagelization mnd reorgmisstion in tae HND, the IENA case had
besn dormmnt, possibly sleeping off m%‘s waobing eriticiems., In mid~
1956 1t suldenly ewcke, but this time in the guise of & political case.
Shebmkin told IENA to forget temporemily about his net to pemetrste the
Foredgn Office and to copcentrete on investigeting the existenste of &
Peesible neutralist fastion in Vest Germmny. Ihohdkin sald that the Seviets
m&mmﬁm in their power to establish & peutrnlist party which
wmwmmmmmmm (When almction time

camy, however, he sduitted that the Soviets 41l not hove this capebility:
be exid they had no assets for sterting & politieal pertyl) Seviet imterest
in IERA's task wamed and wened seversl times during the yemr between the
susmer of 1956 apd the sumer of 1957, bLut ms tesmion began to grow in the
Hest about the immdment wiveliling of a Soviet ICTHM and over the East Gersan
troop sorewments, LENA's case officer spoke more urzentl; of the msuitralist

assigment. Tn the summer of 1957, Felfe came to & CIA ofiicer with s report from
Approved for Release 2019/02/21 C02606328 — égg —_
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IERA vhich he said he considered very significant: the KOB wanted IENA to
find out if there d4id indeed exist in the West Cermen govermmst & fasdtion
advoceting closer repport with the BEast Germmn govermment snd with the USSR.
Fothing very much came % this item of "intelligemce”. It was not tremted
significantly for a variety of reasomns, not the least of which had to do
with CIA's increasing bafflement with the LINA case as & vhole and inereas-
ing speculation that it might be a decseption. As an indication of XIB
mtiml intant, however, it is interesting. After this, IENA re-
turned briefly to work on the Bomn pematration projeet, but im emrly 1958
was told definitely by the XOB to ease ocut of 1t snd to devote himself en-
tirely to political reporting.

Simultaneously, Felfe was involved im another XOB attespt to support
its governpent’'s policy. The Rapacki proposals for a auclsar-free Centrsl
Europe had come to mmught with the sucoessful pessage by the Bundestag in
March 1958 of & resolution favoring miclesr emagmets in West Germmy. Never-
thelsss, Soviet clandestine feelears for seme kind of rapgprochement were still
out. We can see a smmll exemple in one of Felfe's operations. T Siuee the
early 1550's, the Soviets hed been intercsted in the ex-Wehrmeeht officer,
Boguslav von Bonin. Von Bonin was 8 wallispokem, and oute-spoken, nsutralist,
vith excellent soclial commections, strany ideslism and rather little
political scumen. He had been chief of the lili:tnry Planning ssction of
the Amt Rlank, the predecesscr orgenization of the Defense Ministry, amd
in 1955 he had besn dimmissed from the Defense Ministry for publicly
propounding hils meutralist views. At that time the XGB, through Colonel-
General Alsksendr Pavlovich Terasov, Chief of Starff of the Soviet Forces
in Germamy, invited him to come to East Berlin to discusss the Germem
problem. He wvent, was delighted wvith denere)l Tarssov, lsfi him his notes
on his thoughts, but violently repudlsted & direct recruitment piteh from
& KGE representative. Gem. Gehlen, who had been in touch with von Bonin o
and off for seversl years, bscked him in his trip to East Berlin. Although
he realized von Bonin's besic political naivete, he had hoped to use
him in some vy to further an old personal dream; that he could shmehow
be instrumental in bringing about a rapprochement, if not a reunificatiom,
of his country through a personsl chammwl tc the other side. Felfe was
Oshlen’s personel represemtative in dealing with von m.* .
FFelfe sttel To Hs Americen interromis ;%WW&: the vom Bonin case 'y
was 8 gool exmmple of & Soviet "political operation rum by CE methods.” He &
added his opinion that the Soviets, in rumnimg this type of operation against

the HiID, were under the lmpression that the END played a far more important
role in the Owrman PolApproved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328 play.
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In the fall of 1958 the von Bomin case was raised again from the Soviet
side. In that year Falfe bhad three important meetinss with the KOB.
The first, in Berlin, vas with Alfred, and wes designed primerily to
introduce & faster commmication system by mesns of OWVL. Through the
nev rodic system Pelfe was summoned to Viennms in September 31958 to meet
a nav opd imposing person imtroduced simply &s "the dimhm-"‘% The
follcowing month he met the director sgain in Berlin. Felfe will not ‘
tell us: in deteil or im ey kind of orgsnimed £ashion sbout these meetings,
but he does convey that the basic opsrational reason for them was to
discuss von Bonin., Felfe says the director asked his edvice gbout vhat
to do with this case; i Pelfe thought it would be advisable for the Soviets to
extend apnother invitation for talks to vom Bmin. These meetinge ceam
to have made a great impression on Felfe. Ha speaks of the dirsetor
almost with reverence. Certainly this man appesled to Feli‘e_ intellacte
vally, and he obviously cultivated Felfe's not imsizmificent ego. Felle
+0ld Clemens when he returned from the Berlin meeting that he amd the director
hed talked at lemgth of meny "deep and important” thimgs. To his interro-
gators, Pelfe presented the topic of the director’s talk as though it
were & kind of -ofiaesaa policy statement. Actunlly, mw
the ciroumstances, consider it alsc in terms of & kind of propagada outline.
The director began with a discussion of historicsl Russisn regpect for
Germeyy. He said that Soviets realized the imposgibility of meking West
Germany into a Commmist couniry, but that this was all the more reason why
everyone should try to seek agreemsnt, to find some guarantee of peace. The
Soviets were diseppointed, he said, thet the comtacts stabted Ly Adenaver
on his tripwthemmlﬁﬁwmtmmﬂmﬁw, Thera nov seemed
Little 1ikelihood of suceess on ihe obficial diplosatic Sontatis’| > meay
intelligence chiefs should maintain satisfactory contact with each other.
There wers distinct mﬁaibilitiw in this direction and "the doors were
alvays open.” This is all Felfe tells us, but in the context of the von
Ponin operation 1t suggests much. It also locks &s thouzh information pessed in
the ope case, LENA, nanely that the Soviets were sincersly interested in 3
peacaful solution in Germaxny, wes produced to confire the rightness of Oem.
Gehlen's ini@etions in the other case, von Bonin. These sre but spall detalls -
one would expeet to find meny more - of the poaca nessaze wvhich has often

been played against the louder themes of mcze werlike Soviet statements.

- (About three weeks after the directors’s meeting with Felfe on the Von Bonin

case, the Soviet govermment mede its firgt threatening statement of the
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Perlin crisis - Khrushchev's statememi of 10 Hovember 1958. )

Felfe says that the director wemirewmsde urgedhir to develep his
political reporting - even to Join the Foreiga Office (although this
lest comment might be one of Felfe's wn embellishments rather tham & real
XGB ides). The dammg‘/f\‘su‘;m Felfe tu speed up his political reporting,
particularly the tremsmitial of HND and BV weekly and monthly situstion
reports, which he had begun to send rogularly in about Mareh 1558. He
also asked for information on the NP of fices concerned with politieal
intelligence collection on areas othe: than the Mt Unicn.

Ce ods of C eation
N
" In sddition to incressesd comcentomtion on the political scene, the

1958 meetings between Felfe and Clemess and their KOB memtor also brought
ebout Important developments in the agents’ metholl of cammmnication with the

KB, ItﬁﬁhmMWleﬂZA%dmungmmwmi@

cover for Claseus to make regular trizs to ¥est Berlin on BND business, and
that during these trips Clsmens vent sver to East Berlin for msetings
with Alfred. Af‘ber the BAINHASAR case collmpsed in fall of 1955, Brwin
Tiebel, who had been more or less in reserve since his recruitment, took
over as courier batween West Cermeny xd Alfred in Berlin. Upon occasion,
however, Felfe apd Clemens alsc travelled clandestinely to Berlin, despite
the risks which such tripe entailed. For these trips, Alfred supplied
all three sgents with Vest Cermen ideatity documemts in other names
(completely valid documents, vnlike tae obviously forged product in the
mm)) and suitcases with a false penel to conceal reports and Tilm.
The sgent would then drive through the Zast Zone, holding a quick meetin:
y_ith Alfred at a predesiznated kilometer marier (Km. seone 197) on the

Bight vears later, the von Bomin 2ase was dredged up by the Soviets on
vet & third otceasion, this ﬂmuuwommmmamm&tm
Gehlen and the BSD. In December 1965, the Mosgow correspopdent of Der

mzazine, the Vest Cermen equivalent of or %:n,
on t initimtive, given an interviev W a Colone » The
o:m:s,w purmg §«= inm'viw vag for Col. XKxrpov to provide derc-

informatidn , ehian& tahmkm parsonally, (hnaiewgiely)

mwmm v s, " Noor the end of the inter-
viev, however, Ccl. m;!ov : tbat be was not mmm in
mm,mmmmwummmce
reportedly & KOB agent), Xarpov then groceedsd to reveal A:s the
individual vho had met with Cen. Cehlen's perscnal representative {von Bonin)
wvhen Oshlen initiated contect with the Soviet militery lesdership in East
Germany in 1655. Karpov's account of thia operation was teilered to give
the impression Gem. Gehlen bad initisted gecret discussions with the Soviets
on the Germen problem without the knmowledge of either the Vest Cerman or the
U.5. govermments, The interview, together with HED rebuttal, appeared Iin
the 10 Jenuary 1960 issue of Der Spiegel.

vv"T
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Helmstedt-Berlin Autobaln inside East Cermmiy, to pass him documentary or other
incriminating material. The agents then proceedsd normally intc West Berlin and
met Alfred lster for a lenmgthy meeting in Xirlshoret, Clemsms at this time (195C)
had also been givem sn 3/W system and & cods system for wing one-time

pads. This procedure vas fairly skbisfactosy, tut Clomens had Seseeskim

iless chance of lsagthy oral reporting to Alfred, while &t the sswe time the
volume of reporting incressed. Felfe had bapnn to rely more apd more dn the

tape recorder (he was apperently very lamy about composing written reports, and
several instances of Alfred's impatience wii: him in this respect are documented),
and his reporting consisted primarily of a hendful of rolls of Minox film and seve
eral spocls of tape on which {(mccording to Jlemens) hc recardsd situation reports
snd the latest changes in BND personnel and T/0. Gomstimes he would vieit
Clemens in Cologne, vhere he would dictate 1 report in cipber which

Clemens would then transpose into 8/ This worked well emough until

March 1650, when Clemsns wes unexpectadly ralieved of his post im the Cologne
penetretion unit and demcted to a survelllsace tean.. Clsmens' superiors

in BED hesdquarters had apperently beem dissatiafied with his work for

sope time. YWov his usafulness to Pelfe and to the XOB wms sharply curtailed.

e clains that Alfred was uninterested in the informmtion he was able to

develop from most of his surveillance activities {primmrily azuinst mewbers

of the Algerisn independence movemsnt in Germany). At this point OWL

was introduced, Clemens acted as the receiver andl decoder. Commmnication

was made once s week, with one alternate per week as well. After & while,

& "burst” transmission method was Iintroduced, for which Clemens had to use

a tape recorder hooked to his radlo. After recording the high-speed trans-

mission, il he would play

4
muwutwmm«mmmm¢ At one

time Alfred wanted 5o imtroduce 8 system of rubbin: metal shavinss amto the
tape so that the impressions would becope visible, but Clemens and Felfs found
this method too messy énd too unreliable snd refused to use it.

Clemens says that from 1958 on he received very few persomel ipstructioms
from Alfred and that the mejorily of the aessages were for Felfe. In
short, he had become lsmrpely a m?mrt agect for Telfe. Vhen Re did go to Berlin
after this date :.tm&ts/fwwfmn 1930, vher Felle was able to bring him
back briefly to on operationsl role in a dcuble agent case). Alfved tightemed uyp
the security by refusing to let Clemens cope to tha Esst Sector ol Bearlin
an; longer. All thelr meetings vere merel; trush meetings on the street, RN

o e - gy —emdacat a® Unacdhe i di Pase Y mn s d s - E
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repeatedly - with only occasiona? success - to bring Clemens into a
case in order to give hin legal excuses to ao to Berlin, but the problem
of quick, seéﬁre communications remained a serious one.

It was as much to this probiem as to political matters that the
director addre$seé himselT in his Septerber and Jctober 1958 encounters
with Felfe. He announced that he wished Felfe and Clemens to saver
personal contact with Alfred and the Cast Berlin Rezidentura and to
work from then on solely through z2n I1lecgal Rezident 1n West Germany.

They would be introduced to the I1legal. but their primary communication
with him would be via dead drops. Each man would have his own set of
dead drops and 1t would no longer be necessary for Felfe to comunicate
laterally so often with Clemens on KGB business. The director safd that
any communication via this systen would reach Karlshorst within 24
hours. The immediate reaction of Clemens and Felfe was dismay. Their
refusal to comply with such a proposal was adamant, They clained

that the intraduction of an unknown intermediary between them and

Alfred would merely provide more risk of exposure or asccident over

which they would have no control. The director and Alfred {ried to
reassure them, saying that the I11zgal Rezident was an absolutely
reliable perscn, a Soviet citizen, but the two agents contfnued to
refuse. For the next few years the Soviets allowed them to have

their own way.*

Sometime in 1959 Felfe received a new KGB cover name: "Kurt.” Clemens
became “Hanni,” an&, along with Tiebel, was referred to5 in KGS files as
part of “Kurt's Tean" or of “Operation Xurt."™ In 1960, during one
of his rare visits to Berlin, Clemens was presented with a citation
by the KGB in honor of his ten years of service: a letter from the then
T #he KGD use of Illegals to handle West German CF operations goes back
a long way, Deryabin told us in 1954 that while he was on the German Desk
in Moscow in 1952-53, there were plans afoot to set up two such Rezidents,
one in Duesseldorf and the other in Munich.

mSource: KOB defector Golitsyn,
- 57 -
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KGB Chaivman, SheTepin;ﬁand a bonus of 2,000 D4, Felfe also received
a letter from Shelepin, and we presume also a bonus, although he did
not confess to this.

Alfred held his last meeting with Felfe and Clemens in Vienna in
September 1961. At this time he informed his old agerts that at the
end of the vear he would leave Germany for good. This time there was
to be no auestion of whether ¢r rot they would work with an Iilegal
Rezident, Alfred informed Felfe and Clemens that at their next meeting
later in the fall they would meet the Rezident, and that after this
they would work through dead dreps.  Each man was to select and set
up drops for himself: Felfe in the Munich area, Clemens fn the Cologne
area. From time to time they would have personal meetings with 2
KGB cése officer in a third cotntry, and 1f they should ever feel
themselves in danger they could go to the Soviet Military Attache in
some Western Luropean country other than Germany.

A very rough estimate of the Frequency of personal meetings between
Felfe and/or €lemens and their HGD case officers during the course of
their KGB career is once everv three months. But this freguency varied
greatly during different stages of the operation, depending upon the
availability of cover for trave: and the intensity of the operational
devaiopmenté at the time. The personal meetinas were, of course, heavily
supplemented by impersana!lcnmmunicatisns.

d, Hew Directions?

We have seen how Felfe, as chief Soviet counterespicnase referent
in the BhD. was able in the last vears of his career to cover Soviet
requirements on a variety of levels and a varifety of topics. ﬁyArigg1nq
an operation especially for Felfe, Alfred could force answers from
almost any element of the West Serman government in the gufse of

“bufld-up material. By creating certain operational situations or

*5 BT comment on this subject conjures up a humorous scepe in which

~ Clemens “in the purest Saxon dialect” innocently asked his KGB case officer

"who this Shelepin might be." Alfred apparently was really shocked, and
Felfe clatmed to be annoyed with Alfred for not orienting Clemens better.

- 68 -
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complexities, Alfred could help Felfe im his bureaucratic manipulations,
indeed even prcﬁnte the formulation of helpful bureaugratic reqgulations
or precedents. By {ntroducing a Soviet CE factor into any BND case
anywhere, the KGE could cause the case to ba transferred to the
protective custody of Felfg. gy fntroducing a Soviet CL factor urgeptly
affecting German security into the operation of any other agency.
German or foreian, the KGB could hope to bring many another case

under Felfe's scrutiny. Finally. Felfe, because of his own

personal qualities - brashness, inaquisitiveness, agressiveness - was
able to broaden his access to informatfon in areas in which he had no
offfciai excuse to be interested. (In this respect he is reported

in one of the PHD security investications as having tried to meddie in

a BXO operation

- H3a -
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;Evolvsng s West Cermap nuclesr scilentist - probably in respomse to & specilie

request Trom Alfred.) In the end, Felfe had become pich more tham Just
& simple servant of the KGB. (It's dovbtful i he ever thousht of himsell
as such.) Evidence from intercepted VL broadcests -~ as well, of course,
ss Felfe's own statements ~ shows that Alfred often asked Felfe for advice
about the Soviet hamdling of certsin operations. This included advice on
the Soviet haniling of END-XOB double apents and the timing and temor
of XOB propaganda operatioms. Pelfe h:d become in many ways something
of a consultant to the XGB, as well as an agent.

In spite of the fsct that in many weye Felfe had an almost ideal
position, there iz evidence that im 1560 bhe vas imstructed by the KB to
move on to & new job. This was the pont of security officer for the BND
Comnmications Unit. At this time, discussions were undervay for the
satablishment of the BHD as the Jersen commmications mxligagg;(tlul\ggr- ‘
ity. Yelfe knew that the post of commmieations security chief was shortly
to b ecome vacant, through the retiremmt of its imcusbent, Mhezrn‘hnbh
m that the job would assume gZrealer imporiance once thecomN'r”ﬁ"z‘w-

, ment wvas signed. He sulmitted his applicstion for the post early end
worked hard to sell himself 8s the pexi caniidate. In meny respects,
however, muwm&m@tmtmw interested him as wmxh 28
his cld one, and it {8 curiocus that he tried so hard to get 1t. In
his post-arrest statements he went to zreat puins to claim that the KUB
vas definitely sgaimst having him trapsfer, but there is sufficlent evidence
{including intercepted telephone cammeats bLetween I'elfe snd Clemens) to
suggest that the opposite is trus. If so, mm@miw/ﬁﬁﬂ%b
speings wt:%éﬁqms eosll-esb-conoutvedly hove asked an agant vho wes
;&g%cbiﬁd&t@&oﬁaﬁ@hcﬂmmﬂwu’-m: Job unless

it had a replacepsnt with equal or betisr acce G.

R—_
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mmons his leads becm mmim mea. One ef )F-lfa'a last operations
dds 1tsdlf to the intergretation that 1t nisht have been intended in
somd mmyé B support operation for ancmr CE section penetration. (/m the
Busch dmse, described below.) There m altp Aisturbing md mysterious /
indicat ,. s in OWVL traffic amd in tha noﬁeboo}: which Felfe kept xo mét-
1eu:.6;u1y his KGB and BND opsratima * In u&dition, there is a variety
/ﬂf namgs of possible suapnct-s yhich have been aug@sm to ua t?/ ough other
) oparations apd otum sourcc/n mticulaﬂ.y those mg Felfe' y ‘and Clamens'
cotarie of ex-5S ofl ccr; Finally, there is & mrk\ mglitm
quality about Alfred’'sXlest EXI to Felfe which suggcstn-'/ t they mizht
have been, in purt st lesst, comgprehensive imstructi for someone else,
but here, admit M1y, we are\allowing ourselves pare speculation,
In Fﬂi‘e’@fﬂﬂt mesting with Alfred in v&m/m September 19¢1,
Alfred cla/bé‘:‘ratad on A mumber of spesoific qu /tmu or themess for

to work pn for their next meeting. He'gavé Felfe s typewritten
w‘;laieh f1ated ateps Canbe by the HND afted August 13th, as a result ot ,\
the/ chungod Berlin sttustion; explangbion of \certain dylrﬂiml N
poves ugainst various Soviet offi /oialu in Vest Jermany} mrthwr awﬂomt
vef the Busch case. Fioally, 7: rather strange re titign of the obvious

EEY which Ft}i’a had alresdy been coverins es a nﬁm > course for soms
yeurs, A}.frea nsm ins tions to report on sll m gents; to report
N,

the contents af 311 cgées run by the BND against éovlet inskallations; to

. * WYL mrm,m ccgtuimd ratux'mcu to somecne called ° .
. Manfred sppesred to bs & covir name. Nelther Felfe nor Clemsus gver oluntesred
6f their three or ch,ovcrnms Clamens simply did mt :

knov the pame. When Felle was usked who Manfred was, he rescted w&akn

asd stre »: Be seemed upset tried to pretend he didn't kww the \

pén he somevhat clumsily uccepted the imtarrogstor's suggestion |\

/ might have been one of his cover names. Another ‘strange \

dent showe Felfe at his goolest moet brazen. In the pressnce of

p gatars vho were reviewing his te‘oook with him, he snatched up ‘-\

m and scratched out a ntme in & ¢ resding ;eeor:ling to

fusacher is & Karlshorst source.” He rpfused to djvulge the name on the

mm&s thut‘it vas "ineriminating''! Vu:i Rypotheses as to the m hlwa \‘

/osen mede; ibly the closest so far is Reile, sinco Schupmcher 4id '
tt one tm elomly with him.

=l
8

1
e
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Having moteld Pelfe's effort to get the job of CROMY securiiy chiel
snd reised the guestion of other pmetrations, ve will proceed to a
description of the Busch case. This was another camplicated operstioyal
chess match, somsvhat on the crder of the LENA case, possibly replacing
it to somd extent as an opurstionml vehicle. The Busch case had as its
immedinte purposs to deceive the BAD abcut its own security. Read side
by side wvith a deseription of Felfe's cffm;t t0 be trepsferrad to & pow
job, and with Alfred’s instructioms of September 1961, cne is left wondering,
at lsest, if the case might alsc have been destined as s support in scae
vay for apother Soviet CE sectiom penetratiom.

The Busch case is sctually two cases, ope supsrimposed on the other.
It is a fascinating exsmple of mitiple daception - the more so sinee it
was not entirely svecessful. Oo one level it iavelved & KOB/CE officer
(calling himmelf "Beins") rumning a decepticm operation sgainst the M.
He had begun with & straight pesetration attempt, discovered it to be
controlled by the BED, ani them tried to salvage what hw cculd by using the
conmmction to pass dmceptiom about the state of KUB Informstion on the BND.
At the other end of the cperetion was & HED field cese officer newsd Pried-
rich Buseh, who vorked undsr the directiom of various HiD Soviet CE
section officers to coumter the KIE opmetiom with deception material oo
the HND.

At a certaln point in the cperation, vhen both the BHD and the XUB
semmed to think 1t umworthy of further uttemtion, Felfe andl Alfred entered -
behind the scenss - to direct it in ways whieh suited their cwn purpose. On
the BRD side, Busch was of ecourse umwitiing of Felfe’s inimiesal role.
on the KOB side, the XUB case officer "lipinz" was allegedly unwitting of
Alfred's role. Felfe quotes Alfred as oeying, "Busch's case officer has no
ﬂ.mwmm-im%&ﬁamﬁmmmmamm. This
vas & bad situmtion in seme ways: Alfrod‘'s merionetis did not always dence the
wey Alfred wanted him tc)

LM

Lokt
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Consequently, Alfred had to ask Felfe to make his BND puppet, Busch,
provoke the desired responses from the other KGB officer. Felfe was
forced at the same time into the very crude and dangerous business of
having to make fabrications to his superiors about Busch's operation.
This was Felfe's last great plot: he vas arrested in the middle of it and
we have no way of knowing exactly where it was supposed to take him, but
from the risks which Felfe was willing to take to manipulate this operation,
we can conclude that 11 was destined for an important role. The ostensible
purpose, aé planned by the BND, was to set up a BND staff officer for KGR
recruitment, as a BND deception against the KGB. From Alfred’'s point of
view, we conjecture, it hed to do in some way with getting another real
KGR staff penetration. A macabre touch of humor in the files is a remark
from a BHD security officer, before Felfe's arrest, to the effect that
Felfe's handling of the Busch operation was so strange it wouldn't even
be surprising if Felfe were to suggest himself as the eventual target for
KGB recruitment!®

We would like to describe this operation in detail because at nearly
every stage offﬁgs development, 1t was replete with signs of danger, which
should have been heeded by an alart Western service, tnfortunately, the
use of multiple cryptonyms {o disguise sources and agents and the fierce
compartmentation in the BHD {in tais, as in the LENA and many other cases,
pravented anyont from putting two and two tnqether fnv 3 long time, To
make sure that no one could arrive at the proper conclusions in this case,
Felfe charged out all thé pertinont file material to himself, and no one
eise had access to it.

Friedrich Busch was another old Gestapo friend of Clemens from wartime
days in Italy. He was also an old acquaintance of Oscar Refle and the
protege of Carl Schuetz - Clemens’ former chief in Cologne. Clemens

recruited Busch for the Gehlen Organization in 1951 - as he had Schuetz - and

*Aljas Fleming to CIA Liaisan Officer
SECRET
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subsequently Busch worked for a time 1n GV'L" with Reile and Felfe. Wis
professional history is cloudy at best: while a GV'L' case officer he
appears to have tried to run a Soviet double agent case without informing
his BWD superiarsfK When the deception was uncovered he gave a rather

lame excuse and was transferred to a non-sensitive job in a field debriefing
office. He 1s described as a weak man who crics Qnder pressure and who s
not particularly "quick on his feet.” Our files contain a note that Felfe
tried at some point to get him a staff position in headquarters, but

wWas unsuccessful.

In early 1956 Oscar Reile hrought Busch into an extensive KGR deception
operation known by the BHND cryptonym “PANOPTIKUIL." The first player to
111 the lead role in PANOPTIKUM was General Friedrich Panzinger, a former
senfor officer in the RSHA, He had been in charge of Rote Kapelle
tnvestigations for a while, later Chief of S Ostland (Baltic States and
Belorussia). In 1947 he had been captured by the Soviets in Vienna and
imprisoned in the Soviet Union on charges of war'crimea cammittéd against
a Soviet officer. In 195C he was released on the promise that he would
work for the KGE "to penetrate the BND and to report on political events
in the Federal Republic.” Upon his return to Germany in early 1956 he
went directly to an old friend, the President of the Cavarian LV, to whom
he reported the KGB recruitment and who in turn passed ﬁ&m on to the BND
in the persen of Reile. Reile's plan was to put Panxinger in contact
Q’tﬁ an ostensible BHD net {real people, fabricated activity), about which
he could then report to the KGB. Ihen Panzinger happened to become
reacquainted with Busch, whom he had known before the war, Refle allowed
Panzinger to mention this to the ¥GB. Panzinger did not know Pusch was

a BND man until the KGB wrote bact telling him to be wary of Busch. fReile

*Busch's double agent operaiicn was a typical Soviet operation for the
perfod and possibly significant for the early history of this case: the
brother-in-law of a Gehlen employee had run 2 scrt of service in the imediate
post-war years assisting former SD personnel to cover their tracks and fo find
gainful employment. The ¥3B in Yienna caught on to him and with this compro-
mising knowledge wermmedie recruibﬂghe Gehlen employee. The Gehlen man re-
ported the Soviet recruitment and found himself with Busch as a case officer.
Why Busch really tried to play him back without telling anyone {s not in CIA
records, nor {5 any description of the content of the play-back, which lasted
nearly two years. .

' - 73 -
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then made Busch Panzinger's BND case afficer and a deliberate sitting
duck for recruitment by the KGB. The casé was handled in a desultory fashion
by Reile for a while, then by another collezgue, until the fall of 1988,
when 1t was given to Felfe. During this two yzar period nothing much
happened., Indeed, Panzinger's K38 case officer, “"Heinz," exhibited
all the reactions of a very suspicious man. Panzinger met him only
once during the two years (in one of the LENA case safehousas in
Berlint), and the whole proceeding had come tc a near staadéti??

when Felfe moved 1in.

- 73a_
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At this point the cese picked up speetacularly., Pelfe proposed
to the CB section to smle Panzinger more attrective to the XuB: he
hed Pumzinger tell Heingz that Busch had asked him to serve as a letber
drop for the END apd also that Busch had boen made chief of a specisl
HiD office handling Baltic and Horth 3Sas operations. In Pebrusry 1959
he had Papzinger ssk the KUB for a meeting. As resson for the meeting,
Panringer wes to discuss the wer crimes charges which hung over his head.
The Soviets hed releaced Pansimger without ziving hix an mmesty and the old
General lived in femr of arrest. Actually, sometime previausly the 8D had
arranged with the Bavarian 1LV President to brief a high official of the
Bavarian Justice Ministry so that no astion would be taken sgainst Panzinger

& (U Mo Heormi & it

without pricr warning to the BAD. mfartxmagf,nﬁ f::aﬁ perscn
in the Justice Ministry was briefed. The K3IB - of it, however,
aince once bafore when Pansinger hac dis¢udced the charges with his
KGB case officer, the latter hed assured hin that his case would never come
up. Nevertheless, wnder Felfe's direction Panzinger ssked the KB
case officer for a meeting €8 discuss this problem. He travelsd to Berlin
on 22 Pebruary 1959. The XOB case cofficer told him e would see what he
eould do sbout the charges, but did pot offer much hope for an emmesty. At
the semi time, he said he thought Penzinger’'s cese peribted & more "secure”
conmmications arranzemsnt and instrveted him in the methods of GWVL
reception. {Felfe told his Western eollemgues with gzreet interest that
this was the first END double azent to receive OWVL from the XGB.)

Now strange things began to sfheppen in Penzingsr's opersticn. In
July he received a KGB instruction via WI. to Pind out if &sAtvaAerman
dafector Max Heim had beem & HEND or & B3IV agest prior to his defection.
This wvag in wmany ways & very indiserest queation on the part of the KGB.
The CIA liaison officer for security matters, who was already on Pelfe's

trail at this time, wrote the followming camamsmis in August 1950 3

o

—

Panzinger hes grossly cverstated his BRD comwmetions to the
Soviets 1t is strange that the XUB seems te think he mizht bave access to

{

this information, If the KGB; actuelly ssked the question this could be

an indication that the KGR inows Papsinger hes been turped and caleulates that
the BD vill supply a true answer. On the other Wand...consider the
possibility that {Pelfe) hes been asked this questiom..."

S CERRT
HG FOKEIGN 1M SSEM
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In the meantime Psnzinger had imnocently carried out his KIB case officer's
instruction to esk Gehlem, whom he knew alightly, for a job in the END, He
wrote a lbtter of spplication and, after an appropriate interval, Felfe
drafted an answer Tor the sigmature of ane of Gehlen's deputiea. Felfe's
dralt was nothing short of a desth blow to the Penzinger operation, and
indesd there was speculstion even et the time that it wvas for some resscn
a deliberate blow., Felfe and his ccllsazues in the BHD and CTIA hed
discusped the type of answer vhich should be prepared to Panzinger's
Istter of application and had decided topether thet a sovrt of nop-committal
reply suggesting "no present vacancies” but still ‘holding out some bope
would be the best., Tt appeared strange, them, vhen Pelfe produced the
signed reply vhich stated that Gehlen eould sot employ Pansinger until

the matter of wer crimes chexges wes settled. The CIA lieison officer
reporting on this epieode wrote:

-

. "Comsidering the fact that the charze was & very painful thing to
Panzinger - &8 time proved « it seems soevhat urmsual snd & bit grotesque
that Pelfe should have writtem s letter to Psnsinger on such a literal
basis. Felfe, a fellow elummus ofthcaﬂmumwith Panzinger and
Busch, could have prepared a less cold-blooded reply.....We can only
gpeculate as to the reason for the chamge. At any rate it would seem that
{the) other approach would have served to keep the K3B more hopeful and
interested and at the seme time would not have rubbed salt in old Panzinger
wounds. "

Four months later a werrant of arrest for war crimes wves served on
mmgexj' and as the police officers wsited for him to eollsct his belongings
he committed suicide by poisoning himsel?. This occurred om 8 day in
early August 1959, when both Pelfe snd the ome amn in the Bavariss Justice
Ministry who bad been briefed to forestall ss arrest vere absemi. Ffelfe's commente
to & CIA limison officer made shortly afbter this are interesting. He ssid
he thought Panringer had been depressed for some time {this wes twue) end hed
shown signs of emotiomal {nstability. BEs had been clearly worried asbout
the war crimes charges. As to the operetion, Felfe thought that perhpes
the KUB might not regret having him out of the way sinee in a sense, even
though he had been the XG3B charmel to & BEHD officer, he was &lso an obstacle
between the KUB and the HND office: and now the XUB jould approsch the
latter more directly. The XOB would resson, said Felfe, that through

AT
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Papzinger they bad been able to gather epouth evidemee of Busch's
"indiscretions"to epable them to weke an approach -~ au approach which
esrlier they might not have believed posgible. In fact, said Pelfe,
the KOB might now be expected to move againgt Busch and in doing so
they might even go so far as to revenl their kpowlsdge that Busch, oo,
was & war eriminal. (This was the [irst time this imformetion about
Busch became known to CIA.)

¥hile meking wise surmises sbout the K3B to his American colleagues,
Felfe set about framtically in the 3D to cause the very comtact with
Buseh which he had been predicting. Shortly after Panzinger's sulcide
Felfe and Alfred met in Vienne, vhere, Pelle admits, Alfred asked him how
they could keep the operatiom going and extemd it to Buseh. Felfe hit
upon the effective and simple plan of baving Pensingsr's brother write
to Pamzinger's old XOB sccommodation address saying he had found the peme and
adiress among Penzinger's effects and wes informing them of Fanglimger's
death. The brother invited the eddressee to write back either to him
ar to Penzinger's "elosest friend during his last days'), i.e. Buseh.
In this way Busch begen corresponiiaz directly with the KIB. A meeting was
srranged to take place in Rome in Aazust 1960 during the Olympic Games.
A urgent OWVL message from Alfred admonivhed Pelle toc remamber that he
vas responsible for the safety of the XOB offlcer, who wes coming from
Moscow for this meeting. The KOB offieer, Heims told Busch he hed been
sent from Moscow especially to reeruit him, but on BED instructiomns
Busch played hard-to-get, challenged the XDB officer to provide boma
fides, apd refused to accept recruttment by amyome but the "boss).
They parted vwith ap sgzreemsnt tc meet sgain in Oemeva in early 1961.

- [ o B

Felfe presented this turn of events to the HND as very remavkable,
and he immedistely set about the crsation of a decaption umit on vhich
Busch could report in the event of bis recruitmemt. Scme psople found
this 2 bit premsture, but Felfe kept moving and during the next few months
gave the impression of great sctivity swrrousding the Busth case vhile
he collected &1l the necessary approvals for Busch to secept a XiB
recrultmant, to nominete a (real) cemdidate for KOB recruitmemt in the
Wtﬁfwmmﬁw&mmim He set Busch
up in Heiddlberz in en office comsinting of Pusch, ome collsagus and
e sscretary. His theory was that IMusch would report freely om this offiee,

thus 31y ing the KUB the impressiom. that they had resshed their goal of
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pemetrating the HND. He reasomed that in this wsy the HND could keep the
KB busy Mhile fending them off with deception md monitoring the extent of
KB knowledze about the BD! The files sbow fairly universel feealings of
ineredulity et the time Felfe propounded his plan. Unfortunately the inered-
ulity did not extend to Felfe’s immodiate supervisor, the BED CE chief.

He wvas fairly well hoocdwinked by Felfe in this omse, snd in several okhers,
%6 his intense embarrassment later., EBEach time the security seetion officers
wvanted to review the case, they found that the materisl was inmcoessible;
rinally, in July 1551, cne of them was able to get iato Felfe's safe and
discover, to his emmzement, that contrary to 2ll impressions, sbaolutely nothing
had hapvened in the Busch cese since the weetisz in Rome a yesr earlier.

The KO3B simply 4id not appear for the meeting with Buseh in Gemewa,
end no word came from the case officer Heims sugoesting & pew meeting. AT
the same tims, Pelfe knew from Alfred thet there woull be 2o meetimg. Via
Clemens, Alfred semt the messaze in earl)y 1961 that Busch's KGB case officer
was heving difficulty in cbteaining documents foer a trip toc Switzerlamd.
The KGBsHeinz was hard to push arcund, however. One surmises that he vas
elready guite suspicious of Busch and prepered to drop the case. FEwiIl-5»om-

( N /bt“L(i /éf ,u‘l‘d::’-W "‘,t‘ﬂ;dl-r
Atfned,  Heinms wes unviiting of the true

circumstances of the case.) Helns would laeve to be prodded from the West.
In May 1961, Buseh wrote him & lstter sayin: he vas sorry they hed missed
each other and that if Heins wes stlll interested he should set & new
meeting date. Busch stipulsted that the place should be snyvhere but
Prance, since he was dlpcklisted in that coumtry. Elightly more them

two months went by before Heimr replied offering to meet Buseh - in
Paris! Now Busch bad to write smother letter. (A tap on Felfe's talepbone,
vhich was already cperating by this time, revesls that Felfe informed
Clemens about this time that the BRD woull mot give Buseh permission to
keep a XIB meeting in Paris. Since Clemems had absclutely no offieial
reason to know this information, one assumes that he wes supposed to pass
it on to Alfred.

Another six wesks ware used up in ne;otiation for a new meeting, Pinally,
Busch and Beinz agreed to meet in Viemme ¢mi 11 September 1961, A% a meeting
in Berlin on 10 August, Felfe's own XOB hemdlers informed him privately
of the new meeting plan. They urged Pelfe not t¢ let the BEHD counter- Er
survell Busch's meeting with Heine, since if Heinz, "who doesn't know e

the real situstion were to spot the surve.llance he would simply break o =
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contact. HNeverthelsas, the WD was Insistent sbout the surveillsnce,
various sections for various resson. The CF section vanted to identify
Heinz; Felfe wanted am excuse to get Clamans (nov in the surveillamee unit)
& chance to meet with Alfred apd to coumtarsurveil Felfe's own meetings with
Alfred, and the Security Section and CIA wented to surveil Felfe! To this it
zust be added that the KOB Heinz had his diky/ countersurveillanmce; the
only man we do not know sbout is Alfred - possilhly he would have dome well
to have had some survelllance of his owm - if he didn't.

Vhon Busch arrived in Viemss, Heinz tcld him that he was the XOB "boss"
for this operation; that be bad come again especially from Moscow end vas
Whﬁfwmw,muhemmm“nmmmw
(The money would be paid later into 2 Bwiss Bank accoumt, for vhich Busch
should meke his own arrengemenis.) Busch modestly replied that hs doubted
if he could be & very good soures since he vam »not n hesdquarters case
. officer; had been in a debriefing unit (hmrm the previous fabrieaticns
about his work) for sewe years as & resul: of earlier difficulties, sod
sctually koww no more sbout the END then that which had been publisbked in the
East German and Sovietl exposes of CV'L" &% the time of the great flaps of
the serly 1950's. BHeinz sssured him (Fel'e wrote in his report to the
BED, "swore to him") that, increditle ss % might seew; the content of
these old exposes was in fact the sun totnl of X3 kmhage about the
MMMMWMfwmm. Be said that Busch vas & most
importent man for the Soviets, mnd he gave Busch a list of requirements
on the BED: true names and peeudonyme of cose officers; identification of
agents m‘m Bast; all information about the hendguarters, sboubt bus routes
to the hesdgquarters, HID license plate mmders; politieal and opsrational infor-
mation sbout Berlin. In addition to these penetrating EEI, Heinz made seversl
interesting political observatioms - much in the old IENA style. Felfe wrote
them up as follows:

"It was said thet the Soviets do not unlersiand Adensuer. Because Adenaver
doubted the determination of Soviet demendis comcerning Berlin, and was not
ready tc negotiate sconer, now, after the I3th of August, his nezotlating
position is appreciably less favorable then 1t was befare.

"The émericans in Moscow were said to be of the same opinion. From them it
became known to the Soviet intelligemce service that they wanted to force

TRy T
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the vietory of Brandt in the Bundeatas elections or in a general victory
of the SFD. 1In this case the Soviets weuld them try to-see that Rrapdt
would not become so powerful as Adensue;.

"Khrushchev reportedly will stand cp his word: a pesce tresty with
the'DIR’ can still be signed this year sed Perlin becoms a free eity.
Otherwise, one can reckon with further diffMeuliies in Berlin.”

Heinz sent Busch home with sn 5/ system, scae developer and a test
to psactice om, and the agreemsnt to meet again in Viemme inm April 1962,
In the meantime Felfe prepered his report on the case, assessing it as
follows:

“The continuing patience of the Soviets over the yesrs and their emareful
proe#dure underline the repoated statements that everything had been stopped
(referring to the hiatus between the Rere and Viemns meetings) for security
reasons, since our agent was especially importemt to them. The SN system
Ziven him and the money paid (500 DM) without roceipt support this imterpre-
tation. The interest of the Sovietls is undoubledly in this case to pmmetrate
headquarters or at leest to develop the possiblilities for deing so. For
the futuee handling of this case it is decisive to determine i, and to
what extent, build.up material on the BN, especially about ithe headquarters,
ecan be passed, and if it would be possillas to find an ostensibly witting
source in the mqm’mrn for our agent, vhom our agent could describe in
at loast & few detsils."®

When Busch got howe he tried out his nev S/W: the practice text
was in Russian, which he couldn't remd ami the code copsisted of severel
nunber groups for which he had no key, His first commmication then to
the X8 was a rather stinging ccmplaint. As of esrly November 1961, when
Felfe wvas arrested, there vas no reply to Busch; indeed none came unbtil
well after 1t was clesr that Felfe's operation was at an end. In Jeywry
1962 a routipne letter for Busch arrived sskinmg why nothing had bean heerd from

DBusch
him. This ves the end of the THNNAMINN case. Busech was interrogmted

. a1t e s s = Approved for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328
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V. Investication snd Arreet

me&mgmufmmmt-wwmmimafmn
story informmtion was ¢ntered in the files of some Western agency. Unfort-
uoately; ne one agency, much Jess the BND, lad 1% all umtil shortly
bafore his srrest, Both Clemens and Felfe have praised Soviet sscurity
practices 88 greatly superior to those of the XM, and thelir account of
the XOB hendling shows & contimuing comeern #ith operational security.
The weakness of the Seviet operetion camrct be laid so much st Alfred's
door es at Pelfe's and Clawens’' The weakasss, of course, weas built im
the clmnishwess and susceptibility of the ax-3D offiewrs which drew
them to KOB attemtion in the {irst place &lsc bore ihe seeds of sn eventusel
treakdown. Pelfe ani Clumens refused the Miﬁia of maintaining contact
vie m Ilegal, insisted on keeping up thelr hmx‘mnimtim and
their trips Esst to seet the KUB officer:. Mm}ttthWt
peyehology might have motivated the two egents in their refusal of e
Impersonal and mwehénicalsomsmiostions system, bt their :mbbm"ﬁ«
was disastrous, and &8 Slhoe pesesd their cperetionsl prectices beowme more
and more lax. Vhat saved them for so lorg was the fmct - over vhich they
hed little or no coptrol - that mo thorough investization wis over oade
of either Felfe or Clemens by sny one agency. The MED, bhamstrung between
the rqguiremsnts of "respectability” snd the need for experienced personnel,
did not {at the time Pelfe sad Clemems were recruited) perform beckground
checks on new employess ant 41d mot routinely trace them with other sgenciss.
Tnstead it tried to rely on rigid intermel cospartmentation as its wmﬁ
security teshnique.

As early as April 1959 British files contained sufficient derogatory
informmtion on Felfe to make anyone wary a«t the very least., Aside from
information o such general end commm post-wmr sine as the falsification
of persophl history statesents, "imsecure” talk, snd informstion peddling to
several agencies st onee, the British file contaimed; (a) Felfe's report
on Garda Clesmsns' attempt to reerult her husbemd for the KGB in Dresdem,
an indicstion that Clemems mizht have asccopted recruitment, and Pelle's
offer of Clemens to the Sritish &s a double agent; (b) Felfe's admision
that he had sent a report on & wiit of e LIV Hordrhein-Westfallam to
a contact in the SED in East Berlin; (c) a report that Felfe had attempted
to peddle to at Isapt two West Cermen news sgencles the charter of the

proposed BIV which was about to be presented to the Ministry of Finsmce for
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approval. The history of Felfe's poasibly dangerous eontects with Mex
Aisos) and Helmut Prodbsting was slso recorded in some datail, as well
82 indiomtions of untrustworthiness, posuible theft amd general "varne
ishing of the truth". Seme of this information wes mede available in

general terms to the HiD in Jarnmery 1958, when the HND requested traces
on Felfe In the course of their 1956-57 investigation of him.

CIC hed & certain smount of derogatory imformetion op Falfe by the fall
of 1954, mostly from Ludwig Albert, vho Iad beoume aware of the existence
of black marks agsinst Felfe in the BPV end the Pederal Criminal Office
through his cwn eerly CI Work. CIC alsc had the report of Max Wessel's allisboed
teo approaches to Telfe,

By 1956 CIA had what CIC had, althouzh in condensed
source description. It also had Deryabim's informstion in early 1954,
vhich Indicated the existence of two KGB agents in the Gehlen Organization

form, without

with the cover names"Peter” and "Paul” (Clemens' snd Felfe's cover pames
e

st the time), but wfortunstely Deryebin ms [mabla to provide deteils to

help identify the egents.®* After 1957, when CIA ofZicers begam to work

more closely with Felfe, the files of suspicious, or at lesst puzzling,

items about him grew. For exsmpls, in Falruary 1957 a CIA officer from the

liaison base in Mmich/Pullach accompanied Pelfe om & trip to Berlin. The

purpose of the trip was a specinl weeting with 1ENA, at vhich, Felfe said,

he hoped to obtain sdditionel details concerning an earlier LENA report that the

KB was targeting & homosexuel officer of the U.5. Department o State stat-

loned in Berlin.¥ After Felfe and his CIA liaison officer had alrendy

arrived in Berlin,end separated, Berlin Bese received a cable indiesting

thet Gen. Uehlen was comncerned about Felfe's safety and had regquested that

he be under CIA's 2k howr-a-dey protectior. (Was this ome of Gehlen's

fiashes of intuition, and could we have suspeeted the wuth even them?

This possibility emmmot be rejected out of hand.) ACter this cable wes

recaived, the CIA liaison officer, remelibering & rewmark Felfe had mpde

earlier in the day that he imtended to zo +o & wmvie at 1830 )ulaphwac\hlfe'rs
et

¥ Hevertheless, Deryabin's sebwintien—es tie fact of venstration should

bave led to a review of persommel security practices within the BND, but

it did mot. At thab point in Vest Cermen und BiD histery, almost any type

ufimmgatiwimmbtwmaafmmmlmmhswmmaw

deregatory information end possills indieationm of Soviet commeetions on the

part of a puubsr of HD employeesn. ‘

& This a8 a typical diversionery &llegation, CIi's Berlin Base and the

State Department security office expended considerable effort to investizate

LENA's report. The investization lasted well over a year, uniil it was dropped
with no conclusive result. . S f/
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hotel at 2030 hours. Felfe was not there, nor had he returfied by four in
the worning when our sleepy officer decided to abandon his vigil.
Iochted in his hotel at 0800 the next morning, Felfe invited our

liaison officer to breskfast. Without beilng asked to acmuni for his
time, Felfe volunteered that he bad gone to the movie at 1830, had

had something to eat and a drink, and had then gone to another movie

at 2230 Again without belng asked or challenged, he exhivited two
movie tickets. This woluntary display of props to support a story
struck the llaison officer as quite unusual. Equally unusual was the
fact that the stub was torn off only one of the ticketis, and that even
if Felfe bad in fact atiended the second wovie it would not have lasted
until some time after four o'clock in the morning. The liafson officer
@id not reveal his susplcicns to Felfe, but he did prepare t; special
oElERt report on this disapppearing acte - M{-‘_,.,fcjf@f,mc felpe fe .Ma%{u&ké‘;_*

The BHND had Ludwig Albert's denunciations of Felfe as early as
1953, but these went unheeded. Albert made a practice of dencuncing
many of his colleagues who transferred from GV'L' to the headquarters
CE units and, ﬁzrthermre,;’&van not entirely above suspicion himself.
The first concerted investigation of Felfe of which we have record was
begun by the BND in 1956 on the official grounds of “Suspected SD and
Bastern Connectiond), When the BND traced the British in the course
of this investigation, they received a‘memo on 21 January 1958 generally
outlining Felfe's insecure and deceptive yractices as a British agent and
specitically point%ng out susplcious contect with Helmut Proebsting
and "the RIS attempt to recruit Clemenst)., The memo did not contain n
account of Felfe's baving offered Clemens to them as a double agent. In
addition, the British pointed out that as late as August 195T; Felfe had
attempted to establish an unofficial connection to a British intelligence
officer in Duesseldorf. None of this seems to have stirred the BED part- .
icularly. Pelfe was called in and asked, in & rather Ero forma manner,
about kis SD connectious. Felfe, equally pro forma, denled having been
an SD officer. The "investigation" seems to have petered out at this
point, despite the fact that the falsity of Felfe's sthtement could have

been proven very easily.

In the manti.me, dnring 1956 or 1957, the CIA security liasison

—f2

¥ it m prroveq for Release: 2019/02/21 C02606328



i L

Approved for I'éelease: 2019/02/21 C02606328

SECRET
NO FOREIGH DISSL™-"

KGB had deliberately sacrificed a number of i the GV"L" bases,
it did not do so without leaving some penetratibﬂ?gf‘ . & to report on
the subsequent CL and CI organization and operations .~ .u “ND. To find

the remaining penetrations, one should ook primarily 1nAtﬁ%4ﬂ%ﬂﬂguarters
CE section.and in the Frankfurt-Cologne field base, which h#ﬁif sorbed
a numtber of the old GV"L" officers after the dissolution of that base.
In 2 memo dated in early 1957, this officer suggested seveba? candidates
for investigation, among whom were Felfe, Reile, Clemens and Schuetz.
His conclusions were given to the BND security section, where they
were added to the general suspicions of Felfe and his coterie, but again,
unfortunately, did not succeed in-:sparking any sort of investigative
action which might have tested ocut the logical ana?ysis.*

The security situation continued to fester quietly in this way
until early 1959, when finally a report from a high-level penetration
source shot us into action. In ¥arch 1959, Michal Golenfewski, a senior
officer in the Pelish Intelligence Service reported to us that the KGP
had had two agents in the BHD group which visited the U.S. in Septenber 1956,
The ¥GE aiso had an agent, Golenfewski reported, who was in position to
obtain information on a joint American-DND office running operations
against the Soviet Embassy in Bomn and against the Soviets traveling in
the Hest, The KGB had gquidance papers usea by this office and prepared
by the Americans in 1956. 7The original source of this information was
the highest level of the KGB: Gen. Gribanov, the Chief of the Internal
Counterintelligence Directorate, who revealed this information in a briefing
of the assembled satellite intelligence chiefs in 1958.*" On the basis of
this information and several other Jeads from Goleniewski, and despite some
qestions concerning Goleniewski's bone fides, CIA began a quiet, closer
investigation of suspect KGB agents in the RHD. This investigation centered
on Felfe. As a first step, file information was pulled tonether on Felfe

and on the stranger of his oper~

* U 1o o onsturel L:‘Ddf‘l]C"T 50 hervily discount hichly unpleasant#ESgieE
s.elunileons ronchad by CE sneldyste s vroventing resolute action on the

ool oz bien] zr;vie."enc:'tz. vigney may be the understandstle ropult
: :Ln_g; fwoll" too ofben, JLL'L in the caze of mlf\, the anelysts
w rosult of inesction was disaster.

'*Reve}aticﬂ of such information even to the chiefs of the satellite
services was a major K68 mistake. n
- ‘} -
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ational activities -- the LENA and Busch ceses. He was placed under uni-
lateral CIA survelllance on seversl of his trirs out of town, and a
unilateral phone tap was put on his Munich telerhone. The BND

was not lmmediately inforued because of the extreme sensitivity of the

source, Goleniewski, who was still in plsce.

By early 1961 the circumstantisl evidence against Felfe, the
positlve evaluation of Goleniewski's informstion in ggneml,_ and especlally
the fact that Goleniewski had by then safely defected to the West,
brought CIA to the point where it felt m"i‘;*é‘g inform the BND. When
General Gehlen was told in Februmry 1961 of the specific report about
two KGB agents in the g:ro\zy whleh visited the U.3. in 1956, he immediately
agreed that his herete;fcm‘ favoriie case officer - F.1fe- was the major suspect!
Re ae# up & small special task force to investigate Golenlewski's leads to penetration of
%x the BHD. Now, with the lmpetus of informetion from "the horse's
mouth,” their investigation of Pelfe plcked up rapidly where it had
left off six years previously. The BND noted that Pelfe had a weekend
house built, suspiciously it seemed, right on the Austrien border,
and in mid-March a tap was put on the telephone on this house. This
was difficult to achieve because the house was located in an ares
with virtually'no other residents, but as soonm as this tap began prod- .
uclng, the KGB's operation "Kurt" unraveled rapidly. The first lead
came from & remark by Clemens, who complained to Felfe about the high
cost of his phone calls to Felfe: if these nhad been official calls
there would have been no need to complain. The BND then began to look
at Clemens wmore closely and discovered that be was in oorrespondence
with his deughter in Dresden fhfvia a third person (Tiebel), even
though Be went to 'great yains to give the public impression that he
had no connection with his Fast German f&ailj. The BND security tesm
also discovered thht Felfe bhad been falsifying his expense aceoﬂiﬁng,
and they noticed his relatively high standard of living, In the summer
of 1961 Felfe began dropping remarks about having received a large bequest
from a recently deceased aunt in the U.S. CIA checked and found the
aunt very much alive and that there was no record of her/ having méde
any foreign money transaction. Indeed, a few weeks laterﬂée applied
for a paseport to make a trip to Germany o visit F lfe, and Felfe then
began mentioning & loan instead of a bequest.

<

o
RN
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During the course of the spring and summer of 1961, telephone coverage s E
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slandestine c*:b'nta.ct with each obber on matters which could not be jdentified

with official Gehlen operations.*

They spoike quite openly - very "{nsecurely” - about Gehlen affairs on
the telephone, but double-talked certain other matters. IV was also
evident that they were corresponding with each other on operational
matters of some knd although they had no official BAD reason to do 504
Mall cowmge wes placed on Felfe. By ;giecing;cogether various scms
and shavings from the taps and fyom close cbaervation of Felfe, the
RND security officer was able to establish a significant pattern of
action on Felfe's part. It became cleer that Pelfe was alvays curious and
aggressive just after his bi-monthly tx-igs to Cologne. (The investigator
drey up an impressive analysis showing how Felfe pushed for information
on & subject not norm'lly of direct coneern to him - namely the wheresbouts
of an engine recovered by the BND from wreckage of & Czech owned IL-18 which
had crashed in Bavaria - at a time when normal interest in the alr
crash had died down, but just after ome of Felfe's trips to Cologne.

Folfe later admitted that the wheresbouts of the IL-18 engine nad been
an urgent EEI from ARfred.) The {nvestigators reached the conclusion
that Felfe was receiving his EEI in Cologne via Clemens, wbo served

as & communications link to the East. In August three very damning
telerbone intercepts revealed that (lemens had been "called" and asked
to find out from Felfe what had happened in the Priroltsev affair. Felfe
told (Lemens that he had written something about it the yrevious day,
which would be "over there" the following dey. By early October it

was clear to monitors that Clemens was receiving OWVL, and they were
able to establiéh his frequencies and schedules (every Saturday &t noon,
alternate repeat on Mondays at 1700 hours). Beveral messages were

subsequently broken when Clemens relinquished his one-time-ypads.

In addition to this form of cbservation, Felfe's more extreordinary
operational behavior was being scrutinized as never before. In the LENA
case & full scale security review was erdered ~ the reviewver unavare
of the ;reésing reasons Pfor it, however. Within two months after this
order was given the slippery principal of the 1LENA case, Hofe, announend

that hhe Soviets had loet interest in him snd turned him over to the East

#fne phone tap on Felfe's Munlch residence remained generally unproductive.
Felfe knew this phone was easy to tap, mnd he apparently instructed Clemens
‘to alweys call at the country home on mturdsy evenings.

. ‘ il I.T g ”—
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German service. In Felfe's safe, evidence was found that he had falsified
official Registry records on the LTHA case. In tha Busch case, both
CIA and BND investigators watched norvously as Felfe and Clemens prepared
to accompany Busch to the 9 September 19¢1 meeting with the KGB in Vienna.
CIA surveillance of Felfe in Vienna revealed that he took extreme
evasive tactics when leaving his hotel at a time when no activity was
scheduled in the Busch operation. It was a Sunday morning, when the
" ¥ienna streets were quiet. . Felfe drove very fast, made several U-turns and
crashed a red Yight. The survetllance team was under instructions to let
Felfe go rather than risk being detected. It was later learned that
Felfe met with Alfred barely ten minutes after the surveillance had been
broken off. C(lemens was in his hetel voom with a bad cold and could not
make the meet with Alfred. (This was unfortunate, as after his arrest he
would have given an honest account of what happened at this meeting.)
By the-ewdadf Qctober 1961, the evidence from telephone Intercepts
was convincing enough to orompt the BND to seek the opinion of the Attorney
General's office as to the chances for taking executive action against
Felfe. On 15 October the Federal Atternsy advised that none of the tapping
evidence was juridically useful so far, hut he advised that the investiocation
be cantiéuaé. On the 28th of October, a series of very provoc;tive telaphone
calls was recorded between Clemens and Felfe. From these calls it emerged
that Clemens was-having difficuliy deciphering a “call from Alfred.” Clepens
said, "They must have called wher 1 wasn't here,” since "several pages seem
to have been skipped.” When Clenens was at last able to read Alfred's
message, he reported to Felfe thzt Alfred wanted Felfe's advice for the
continued direction of a press canpaign then being directed by the KGR against
the BRD regarding the murder of the ﬁ#rainian emigre leader, Stefan Bandera.?

The KGB had already learned from Felfe about planned American and German

*Shortly before this, the KLD assassin Bogden Stashinskiy had defected
to the West and confessed the murder of Bandera. To counter the adverse
publicity the KGB disinformation aroup in Fast Cermany mounted a campaigr
to discredit Stashinskiy and place the blame for the assassination on the DBND,
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publicity on this case, and on the basis of Felfe's 1nfarmatigﬁ and with
hig quidance were preparing to steal the show with counter publicity of
their own. Alfred alse wanted Felfe's opinton about the further handling
of Fritz 8usch's operation. Most important for the investigators, however,
was Felfe's news for Clemens that he had just made arrangements for (lemans
to accompany Busch to Berlin in mid-November as a counter-surveillant for
a meeting Busch was to have with & double ggent. Clemens could, therefore,
have an opportunity to see Alfrec again. Felfe remarked that the double
agent didn't know yet that there was to be a meeting, but that Felfe was
about to write (%o Alfred) to arrange a neeting on the 13th or 14th of
Hovember. At last 1t looked as though there would be an opportunity to
catch one or the other of the agents with incrinminating evidence on him,
Furthermore, it seemed certain that Felfe's request to the KGR to make 2
specific meeting ar?aﬂgemant woule produce a response from the KGB in the

next scheduled OWVL broadcast. This was to be on Saturday noon, 4 Hovermber,

-"“"5\‘5 .
7 : Voo

or alternately on Monday afterncon at 1700 hours, £ Novembar. Furthermere, -
it was likely that Clemens would ke telephoning te Felfe immediately after
the receipt of the QWYL message to report {ts contents. Perhaps at this

point the much needed legal evideace would appear.

The expected QWVL wessage was picked
up on Saturday noon. During the afterncon Clemens made three telephone
calls to Felfe, the gist of which was that Alfred's message contained
mora about tha~press conference, nothing as yet about the new meeting in
ferlin, in fact “nothing special “ consequently, Clemens would just send
it along to Felfe by registered wail. Thus the weakest link in the KGB's
comunications channel was presented to us. The opportunity was ideal.
The following day. Sunday, saw hurried leqal conferances hetween the BHD
security chief and the Federal Attorney’'s office and between CIA and the
chief of the mail ﬁntercept service {which 15 under Allied control).
The coordination and nlanning among these offices for Felfa's arrest was
superb - not a simple matter, since Felfe's own "special connections”
had to be circumvented without arsusing ire or suspicion.

- 87 -
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At 1030 on Monday morning, 3 lovember, Clemens' registered letier
to Felfe was officially handed to the BND and the Federal Attorney. By
1130 the appropriate police officars with BHD escort were assembled at
the BND headguarters building in Pullach; Felfe had been sumwmoned to the
office of a senior BRD official on an unalarming pretext: the compound
gates were laockad, the telephons lines cut: all principals were armed,
and the BHND doctor was standing by for any emergency. A Tew minutes later,
the arresting officers entered th~ office in which Felfe was conferring
and served their warrant., Felfe'c first reaction was to grab for his
wallet and attempt to destroy a scrap of paper which was in it. fh@re
was & small scuffle; the officers retricved the paper, subdued Felfe, Oy
an enormous stroke of luck the captured notes turned out to be Alfred's
typewritted EE1 which Felfe had received in Vienna in September, Felfe
refused for several days to make any admissions. Clemens, whose arrest
-~ had been carried out in Cologne about eight minutes after Felfe’s, beqan
talking fmmediately and led his arrestors to the place where he had
hidden his code pads. Erwin Tiebel was arrested the following day in his
home town. Thus ended, nearly ten years to the day, Felfe's career as

a West German intelligence officer. . o ~&il pece nadle @i
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VI, The Aftermath

By 2 December 1961 news of the arrests was generally known throughout
the West German government. By 12 December it was in the newspapers. The
trials took place after lengthy (and from the counterintelligence officer’s
point of view, unsatisfactory) interrogations in July 1963. Felfe received
a sentence of 14 years in priéﬁn, Clemens nine years in prison, and Tiebel
two yvears at hard labor. Through his mother in Dresden Fe]f& mananed to
reestablish contact with the ¥GP and continued to correspond with the
Soviets even from his prison cell. Ever resourceful, Felfe first prepared
an S$/W system from the alum in his shaving kit, later, he undoubtedly
received a better system. From time to time he "recruited” criminals ahout
to be released from jail to smuggle letters out for him., Some letters
were intercepted, hut others apparently got through, and it is evident
that Felfe asked the KGE ito send him, suitably concealed in laundry,
reading matter, a chess set, etc., various praraphernalia for escape and
for clandestine commuriications. ‘e also asked for pofson to be taken
in the event the XGB was unpable to spring him. He also gave the KGB
a fairly comprehensive and self-gxonerating damage report -- blaming
as much as possible op Clemens, The Soviets on several occasions
have attempted to gain Felfe's release in exchange for prisoners
in the East. As of the last reporting. Felfe romains confident that
he will eventually be pardoned, axchanged, or will manage to escape.

His spirits undoubtedly were bousted when George Blake succeeded in
escaping from jail in England.

In Felfe's two major deception operations, LENA and Busch, the
KGB endeavored to act as naturally as possible after his arrest.

Fritz Busch received 2 routine message in early 1962 asking why he
hadn't corresponded Jately with the KGE, Guenther tofe of the LERA
case went to elaborate lengths to misconstrue or simply to ignore
the danger signals which the BND kept sending him, and he insisted on
sending “polfitical intelligence™ hack to his West German case
officers., The KGB even went so far as to let him come to West
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Germany on one of his regular business trips, at which time he
was arrested and interrogated on charges of espionage. He refused
to admit KG6B control; however, there were enough fnconsistencies in
his story to bolster the earlier analysis that he had been KGB
directed from the beginning. After a brief period in prison,
LENA was returned to East Germany in a prisoner axchange agreement.
The manner in which the East Germans conducted these negotiations
was evidence in itself that LENA was regarded by the East as 2
person of special importance, whose return was urgently desired, The
entire prisoner exchange agreement, which was a big thing and
fnvalveﬁ well over 1,000 prisoners, was made contingent upon the
’ release of LENA?K
% 'dﬁ*JLlﬁlﬁizég/ One can see in the Felfe case the gradual development of KGB
U ald g g e A counterintelligence operations., Beginning with the comparatively
| "£”7”%3J£UEZJ' simple BALTHASAR, KGB deception operatien# progressed gradually
through LENA and LILLI MARLEN to the absurdly convolutéd Busch
case. The KGB learned during this period to exploit double agent
operations in a wide variaty of ways. It learned that a staff

penctration of a CE office -~ the recruitment of an officer

*Parsons knowledgeable on this case have speculated that LENA
may be a long term KGB 11legal.

**Gol{tsyn reported that in Germany in 1950, double agents
were exceptional, but that by 1955 they had become very much in
favor. He learned this from an officer who had returned to Moscow
from the KGB rezidentura in East Germany. This same officer also
commented that there was really nothina much that the Hestern
intelligence services couldn't find out about East Germany, and
that consequently the KGB disposed of a vast amount of expendable build-up
or throw-away material from East Germanv which could be used in support
of 1ts double agent operations. (From BND {nterview of Golitsyn in
January 1963,)
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responstbie for double agents -- can be 3 useful tosl for apy type of
operation against any type of taract, to callect or to disseminate
infaﬁaatiaa} and 1t rerfected tachniques for suppérting and
manipulating a well-placed staff oenetration of an oppositien
service, But the degree of support given to Felfe was so groat that
it presupposed certain additional capabilitiss, Such oxtensive
support requires: |
{1} A large working capital of agents of various types
and at various levels, for the direct cperational support or
protection of the source, and more importantly as throw-aways
for deceptions and divorsicas desianed o protect the source
'er to further his operations;
and
{7} The ability to give away information on a great
varioety of sublects. This ircludes information on Soviet
targets of interest to the dezt and information on Soviat
and satellite intelligence aperations. personnel, and
equipment deliberately given to the West to further the
source's operation. 1t also incluces willingness to give away
information which the Hestern enomy gathers through 1ts own
operations and which the KG3 cannot torminatsy without
endangaring 1ts source,
As corollaries to these conditicns, wo sep that the XG62 is willinz
‘to mount whole operations, if necepesary. in order to mansuver a
source or to protect him, and that for any given step of deception,
careful atiention is paid to providing the Western agencles with
apparent cross-checks and confirnations. The same is truv in the
KO8 defensive tactics, wheve one can point ocut numerous cases of
g creative use made out of 3 known Western operation, This {s
particularly true of Western audic penetrations and of coartain
double agent operations which are used to feed back {tems of

deception or otherwise ts divert uz from our course,

o
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It is obvious that Felfm would never have survive? as long as he
did without maﬁy helping hands, both witting and urwitting, in the BED
and in other German agencios. Wrat really saved him was that in the
West it took investigators so long to pul reason to the fest: that it
toak the fortuitous appearance of & defector, or source-in-pnlace, to
start the investigation which the extraordinarily accurdte security
analysis of 1957 had indicated was urgantly necessary. When the
detective Qerk did begin it was a orilliant and tightly handled

operation,

Lheo BED hoe talion to heczt the 52 lasaors 1osrnad T“rom this caca ~nd
e made vigorous afforts to immrove ané nroteet its sacurity. Although
hiictorical developments of the last 25 yenrs inevitably make the Germsn
sorvices more vulnerable to vpenetr tin than other VWestern Turcpesn gervices,
en= should note that since 1961 the 51D hns faced this nrobldm squerdly. the
dotormined efforts of a small grouwr of the BID's most comnetant vounger officers
furye boon focussed on this nroblem, and much progress has been mace in detecting
¢ removing of ficers who becanse of their wertime backeround or for other
o osons fall into eategoriss claesed e gecurity risks. The oroblem of Soviet
penatrotion 1s by no means limited to the Germon services, but must be faced by

wl eorvices, as is amply demonstrrt-d by the previcusly successful peanetration

2y voviet or Bloe intelligence of 11-6, (DICE, and U,S. military intelligence

anc gacurity ssrvicee as well as the 31D,
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Annex A

The HACKE Story

At the end of 1943, Hazi Party boss Hartin Bormann foresaw the
o pev b

approaching defeat of the Third YWich aésAbegé% te build up a secret
Hazi cadre organization uninown o Hitler and other Hazi leaders. This
srganfzation has come to be known in Hestern intelligencs circles under
the codeword HACKE.™ According to Bowmann's plan, HACKE was set up
according to the "y" pattern {5 persors): members af one “Y" bocame
leaders of further "V's, and the leader<hin was anonymous to the
Tower circles, It was to be nurerically limited, but expanded as
needed, Its pbiective was to exorcise clandestine influance over
affairs of the Third Refch, and %o prepore the groundwork for continucd
activity after the defeat. In carly 19424 there were allegedly only
35 members; by the end of that yoar, » hélf million dollars in
concentration camp booty had been smungled abroad and <lapdestine
bases had been set up in Spain, Portugel, Arzentina, Japan and Italy.
HACKE members were quite different from thoss who opposed Hitler on
more or less mora) orounds and who orgenizad the attennted assassination
of Hitler on 29 July 1944, They were war criminals, fanatics and
far-sighted opportunists who saw the handwriting on the wall and moved
early to assursz their personal futura, To the extent that ideoclogy as
wall as opportunism played a role, tﬁeir militance and authoritorianiss
brought them far closer to Communicm than to Western democracy. After
the war, HACKE kept alive the old wazi slogan, “Fight the Jews and
plutocrats in the USA," and its qoal was tee founding of & Fourth Reich.

Typical of Soviet capabilties in this milieu, is the fact that the
Soviets learned of HACKE at its inception. Rormann consulted with

Gestapo Chief Meinrich Mueller concerning the organization, both for

*This codename was originally coined by Michal Golenfewski for use
in reporting on this subject while he wzs sti11 1o place as a CIA
panetration of the Polish Intelligence Service, Since we do not know
the actual rame of the organization, the codeword HACKY has stuck and
is st111 used for want of any beiter term.

1: T‘i:.‘:.’.;‘hﬁi QM;,;JL.‘M
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advice on conspiratorial ovganization and to gain Mueller's
protection vis-a-vis $S Chief Himmler, who was an ensmy of Hormann
and who Bormann feared might learn of the craanization, Gestapo
Chief Mueller, in turn,’@géji%fgﬂdy ir contact with the Soviets at
least as early as the beginning of 1944, and he informed them of Hormann's
:plana* The Soviet operation with %ueiler_was;diracteﬁ personally by

‘ (MbiLery Con T Tithogs e o
Gen, Abakumov, then Chief of SHERSIand subsequently head of the antire
MGB, predecessor of the KOB. Abakumov immediately recognized the
importance of HACKE and did avervthing possihle to penetrate the
organization and direct it toward long range Soviet goals. Mueller's
knowledge of HACKE was limited. ie wes only usced by Bormann; he was
not fully trusted nor was he 2 mamber of WACKE himself. Dut his
knowledge was sufficient to {identify other ﬁambeiiagf'iye organization,
and without waiting for the end of the war, Abakumavﬁ?%é@ﬁitaé sevaral
HACKE members bv hlackmail and threat ¢f denunciation to Hitler and
Himmler,

One member of HACKE with wham the Soviets reportedly were in touch
during the war is 55 Colonel Otto Skorzeny, who 15 famous for leading
the airborn rescue of Husselini from Allied imprisonment. Shkorzeny
was under active development by 3hakumov's unit as early as 1942, He
was suspected for a while of playing a cdouble game, hut was reportedly
fimaly recruited by the Soviets in mid-1944. For a brief period
shortly before the end of the war, Skorzeny was maneuverad into position
as chief of Hazi military intelligence. Through Skorzeny. Abakumov

hoped to catch in time and expleit for Soviet purposes the Hazi Abwehr

*Mueller was well-known as a student and admirer of the NKVD, and
this apparently led him to general sympathy with the Soviet cause. In
his memoires, Gen. Walter Schellenberg, a senfor S$ and SD officer, quotes
Mueller as saying in Spring 1943: "I cannot help 1t; I incline more and
more to the conviction that Stalin is on the right road. He is {mmensely
superior to the Western heads of state, and i1f I had anything to say
about 1t we would very quickly come to an agreement with him.* It was
not long after this that Hueller apparently did make his own personal
accormodation with the Soviets., The Soviet contact to him was reportedly
arranged by Maj. Loelgen, the Gestapo chief in Danzig, who had been
recrufted by the Soviets sometime in 1943. Mueller's post-war whereabouts
1s a much~debated mystery. It was first belfeved that he died in the
siege of Berlin, but there have been 2 number of reports that he escaped
succassfully to the Soviet Union.

e
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agents in the 1.5, and South America.™ It is not known for certain
whether Skorzeny 1s still a Soviet agent. Deryabin tells us the ¥GB
was trying to locate h{m in 1952, perhans to reestablish contact, He
is presently living in Spain, from where he maintains active contact
with wartime friends and associates.

After the war, the Soviets concentrated on maximum investigation
of HACKE and maximum {nfiltration of agents into its membership. The
organization expandad in 1947-48, and this uﬁpurtunity was explofted.
Several war criminals who were knowledgeable on HACKE were located in
varfous Castern European jails. Golenfewski, for example, has described
the two-year effort to break HACKE member Foerster, the former Hazi
Gauleiter of Danzig, who had been sentenced to death as a war criminal
in Poland. It was Goleniewski himself, who in mid-1952 after six
months of patient debriefing and persuasion, finally induced Foerster
to reveal what he knew about HACKE. In this case, as in a number of
others, Go?eaiewskf operated on direct instructions from the Soviets,
wholly independent of his own Polish service. As soon as Foerster
began to talk about HACKE, he was immediately removed from prison and
flown to Moscow in a special plane. Our only source of direct
knowledge on HACKE is Goleniewski, and most of Goleniewski's
knowledge comes from his fnvolvenent in the Foerster case and
subsequent discussion with KGB officers who spacfalized in German
operations. Deryabin hé% provided circumstantial confirmation,
however. He reports that the voluminous files on Abakumov's wartime
operations against high level Hazis were known in the KGB as *Abakumov‘s
legacy," and that they read like a novel. There was renewed interest
in these files about November 1952 (i.e. after Foerster began talking

about HACKE); at that time the files were removed from the Austro-German

* One of the reasons Abakuricv rather than Merkulov became chief of the
MEB in 1946 was that Stalin agreed with his demonstrated policy of maximum
emphasis on intelligence operations against the lUnited States.
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Section to a separate location, and a high degree of compartmentation
was put into effect with regard to all files pertaining to former Hazi
officers. V ,
The HACKE story 1s gI!ﬁii%é& regardedyas an

understanding post-war German security problems, and particularly to an

important backdrop to

understanding of Soviet penetration of German intelligence and security
services as 11lustrated by the Felfe case. It shows how early in the
game and with what success the Soviets wmoved to peﬁetrate ang axploit

the varfous formal and informal groupings of former "arzis, Former 55

and SD officers were particularly vulnerable to Soviet bHlackmail, as

the Soviets systematically sought out and exploited ihe evidence of their
war crimes guilt. In this group for which conspiracy had become a way of
1ife, the Soviets could alss make an idenlogical appeal -- continued
hatred of the United States combined with respect for authoritarian
Soviet pok&r. Many of these former Nazi officers, including some with

a record of hushed-up war crimes, obtained important or sensitive
positions in the West German government. This groug_exercisad a
particularly fatal attraction on the renascent West German intelligence
and security services, which had an obvious need for experienced

personnel to counter the growing tihreat of Soviet espionage.
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Annex B:

The LILL1 MARLEN Case

Usfng information gathered (we believe) by several penetrations
of Gehlen's CE branches, the KGB prapared a comprehensive document
on the personnel, organization and operations of GV"L". The document
had the appearance of 2 repcrt from an agent in piace in GV*L" or near

" the chief of GY"L" and was signed with the name “Artur.” The content
was genuine and implied 2 real Soviet penstration or pen&tratiéns, but
there were some discrepancies in the use of erg&ﬁizationai iermino?ogy
which suggested that the document itself might be a fabrication, The
document was phofegraphed on microfilm and the microfilm placed in a
dead drop at the base of a Jamp post in the Hest German city of
Ludwigsbury by an agent whom we have never identified.

The document was brought to the attention of Hest German police
by a KGB agent who was briefed to report to the police that he had
accidentally discovered the dea¢ drop. Another KB agent was briefed
to empty the dead drop and in doing so, unwittingly, to walk into
the police stake~out, be arrested and thus provide confirmation of the
existence of 3 Soviet penctration in GV'L". The account of the
recruitment, preparation and handling of these two agents (drawn
largely from their confessions) provides some excellent examples of
tactical deception techniques. In general ii should be noted that
both agents were of véry low calibre - too low to possibly be usaed
1n'any real intelligence operation: both had already been blown in
one capacity or another to various Western intelligence agencies.

The K88 presumably used them in the L] |1 MARLEN operation not only
in spite of their low agent quality but because of itl
The Agents:

“The Informer”: Bodo Frome, born in 1915, was a former Wehrmacht
Lieutenant from the Dresden area. He joined the Fighting Group against
Inhumanity in early 1951, was caught distributing leaflets in tast
Germany and recruited by the RGP in Dresden. From: continued to work

for the Dresden KGB office as a penetration of the Fighting Group and
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and staged a “flight” to West Berlin when the Soviets arrested his
colleagues. Subsequently he tried, on Soviat fnstruction, but without
success, to get agent work with the French, the British and the
Americans in West Berlin. Later he was able to operate as & penetration
of the Committee for Liberation from Totalitarianisa, a group which was
eventually taken over by the Gehlan Organization. At this point Fromm
was introduced to a new case officer 1n Berlin who told him that his
targets were the BfV and the Gehlen Organization, In the fall of 1953
all the West Serman agents whom Fromm had been able to identify to the
Soviets were arrested in the Soviet Zone (except one - so that Fromm
wight not be suspectb and Fromm was ordered to nove from West Berlin to
West Germany where he was to await further instructions.

“The Throw-Away": Walter Kunde, born in 1908 in Serlin, was a
periodically unemployed salesman. In 1950 and 1951 Kunde worked fov
the British in Berlin, but was dropped on charges of being & swindler and
a fabricator. Hhile employed in a West Berlin department store in 13851
and 1952, Kunde made the acquaintance of an tast Berlin custower named
Rolf Rhodin. Rhodin was an old German Communist Party member from
bresden, a long time Soviet and #fS principal agent, spotter and
recrylter. He was already documented in the files of various Western
fntelligence services. (Of interest in cennection with the LILLI MARLEH
case s the fact that Rhodin hac¢ alsc appeared in the case of Yolfoang
Hacher, & Soviet penetratfon of one of GV"L"'s sub-bases {n Berlin who
had returned to the East through a staged kidnapping in 1953, and who
could very well have provided some of the information contained in the
LILL] MARLEN document.)

Kunde lost his job in mid-1952 and was destitute for the next year
and a half. In late dovember 1953 he accidentally met Rhodin on the
street; ha told Rhodin his troubles and accepted Rhodin's offer of help in

return for "favors,” to be specified at a later date, Kunde thought at

the time that Rhodin was referrin; to matters connected with East-West
trading. Between Hovember 1953 and mid-May 1954, Rhodin met Kunde
fairly often without making any specific points, but was apparently

- assessing him closely.
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The Operation:

As of spring 1954 both Fromm and Xunde were on call for the KGBR's
CE ssction, Fromm was a completely initiated Soviet agent and was in
direct contact with KGB officers. Hunde knew only Rhodin and had no
precise fdea of whom or what Rhocin represented. Helther agent knew
the other.

In mid-May 1954 Fromm received a sunmons from the KGB to come
from West Germmany to Karlshorst for a meetfng. Rhodin at the same
time called on Kunde and told him to prepare himself to make a trip
to West Germany. (Kunde had to apply for the appropriate travel
documents.) On 24 May Fromm met his case officer in Karlshorst and was
told that in the near future he was to receive instructions to do
something (not specified) within a 50 km. radius of his home in
Stuttgart. The case officer gave Fromm instructions 1n S/W, a cipher,
and open code signals to be used for making meeting arrangements.

On the 10th of June 1954, Fromm received a telegram summoning
him again to Karlshorst, but Frosm was unable to travel until the
17th, He let four days go by, hcwever, befare he informed the KGB
of this fact. In the meantime Rhodin had told Kunde to keep in very
close touch with him since he was waiting datly for a telegram from
West Germany which would give him some idea of when Kunde could make
his trips. Kunde had his travel documen’s ready by the 11th of June,

On 17 June 1954 Fromn arrived in Karlshorst for his meeting with
the KGB case officers. They werc annoyed that he had not been able to
come earlier and said that Fromwm's task concerned a very important
matter which had "already cost meny thousands of marks.," !t'was
crucial that Fromm be in Ludwigsburg on 18 June at precisely 0700 hours.
Fromm was then given his mission: he was to look for a minox box con-
cealed at the base of a certain lamp post. If he found it he was to
leava 1t there and go punctually at 0800 to the Chief of the Ludwigsburg
police and tell him the story of seeing a man put something near the
base of the lamp post. He was to give a plausible excuse for being at

that spot himself early in the morning and was to say that the man had

-
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acted suspiciously, making Fromm suspect some spying activity., The
Soviets also gave Fromm a physical description for the man, which
they said was notfonal and which he could relay to the police. Fromm
was to be sure to report only to the Chief of the Ludwigsburg Police,
since he was known to be very pro-American and would certainly inform
American agencles and have the dead drop surveilled.

The Soviet case officers further explained that another man would
empty the dead drop, would be arrested and would cénfess that he worked
for the Soviets in Karlshorst. (Here they relied on Rhodin's personal
assessmeat of Kunde's character.) As soon as From: had completed this
*issignment he was to send a report to Rolf Rhodin.

While Fromm was being thus bLriefed, Kunde was meeting with Rhodin.
Rhodin éxp!ained that the matter of Kunde's trip to West Germany (task
sti1l unspecified) would become acute two days later, on the 19th of
June. Rhodin would meet Kunde or the morning of the 19th and give him
the exact details of his mission.

On the 18th of June Fromm arrived in Ludwigsburg, found the minox
in 1ts cache as predicted and reported to the Chisf of Police at 0300
precisely as instructed. Later im the day he returned to Stuttgart
and sent his report to Rhodin. Cn the 19th Rhodin informed Kunde how
to travel to Ludwigsburg and where to find the dead drop. He instructed
Kunde to empty it between 0600 and 0700 on Monday, 21 June. He then
told Kunde that he should wrap up the fiim capaﬁle and matl it to his
own address in West Berlin, then return to Berlin and gyive the package
to Rhodin on either the 22nd or the 24th of June, when Rhodin would
meet him. He promised Kunde a reward of a new suit, a pair of shoes and
full set of dentures. Kunde was given no advice about what *o say if
he was picked up by the West German police. The bewildered man was
arrested exactly according to Soviet expectations and w1111n§¥y told
all he knew about his contact with Rhodin,

Not according to KGB plan, however, was the fact that Fromm was
an unconvincing actor and aroused the suspicions of the Ludwigsburg

police when he made his first report about accidentally finding the
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deaddrop. Also contrary to Soviot hopes was the initfal Gehlen
Organization reaction to the LILLI MARLTYN document: owing to errors

in the use of organizational terminology, it suspected Soviet deception.
Surveiilance and mail intercept coverage was instituted on Fromm, and
he was detected mailing a letter to Rolf Rhodin in East Berlin, This
was evidence of a direct link between Fromm and Kunde and the KGB.

Frome was eventually arrested and confessed his role in the Soviet

“deception.
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Annex C:

The Sokolov Case: An example of tactical deception.

The Sokolov case is an excellent illustration of
Soviet techniques for manipulating circumstances and events
without the opposition's knowledge. The KGB's primary
purpose in this operation probably was to investigate (and
eventually to arrest) an insecure and potentially treasonous
RU officer (Sckolov) stationed in Erfurt, East Germany. In
accomplishing this objective, the Soviets also succeeded in:
(1) tieing up the investigative assets of two German and
several American services:; (2) manipulating the case so as to
involve one service (the BND) not originally connected with
the case, but in which the KGB had a penetration agent (Felfe)
who could monitor the case for them; (3) causing the Western
services to create an inter-service liaison task force, which
could he exploited by the KGB to monitor the activity of ail
Western services involved in the case; and (4) creating an \
illusion of security and productive endeavor within the Wester&
services. Specific Soviet tactics included throwing away: 
seemingly valuable agents and equipment; dangling attractivég
or potentially attractive, tidbits of information; and fh

prolonging the case by causing it to suddenly take & new andﬂ

A

intriguing turn - usually just when the opposition's interest f
seemed to be lagging or when it appeared that the operation
was about to be terminated.

The wrap-up of the Sokoleov case in the.fall of 1960 was
regarded at the time in Western intelligence circles as a
Western coup and a tribute to the efficacy of German—Ameritén
operational liaison. In the light of hindsight, however, wé;l
have come to realize that it was, in fact, the Soviets who .
pulled all the strings. The original Western goal was to recruita*

a Soviet intelligence officer, Sokolov. Somewhere along the

line (as a result, it is now clear, of Soviet manipulation),
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this goal became entangled with the attractive prospect
of also rolling-up several interrelated intelligence
networks involving approximately 200 known or suspect
Eastern agents, When all was said and done, however, only
five low-level agents had been arrested.

There were six central figureg in the‘Sokolov case,
éf whom at least four, and/@gigfgzgééy five, were under
Soviet control from the first:

(1) Major Sokolov, a GSFG RU Transborder Intelligence
Point officer at Erfurt, East Germany, who ran a network
targeted against an American airfield at Sembach:

(2} Karl Heinz-Kiefer, a German railway employee,
member of Sokolov's net: who was doubled first by CIC
and then turned over to the BfV.

(3) Bruno Droste, a refugee from Erfurt who worked
for the Soviets and was ostensibly doubled by CIA;

(4) Lore Poehlmann, a long-time Soviet and MfS agent
who served as principal agent and safehouse keeper er

Sokolov, with her husband,

(5) Waldemar Poehlmann, an RU Transborder Inté;liégnce

Point agent . and B

L

(6) Wilhelm Haller, a BND agent who reported on‘@fs

activities but was almost certainly under Soviet confggl.

The Soviet case officer, Major Sokolov, had been tryin§§ L

to collect OB data on various US air bases since the early

by
1950's. Numerous traces on him, under various names, reste%i
in CIC files. The consensus of information indicated that j?
he was an almost unbelievably careless operator: & drunkard,
an insecure talker, a flamboyant and promiscuous type, well-
known around Erfurt for exactly what he was.

One of Sokolov's longer-lived operations involved a
group of low-level West German agents whose main tézéét was
the collection of information on the American airfield at
Sembach. When one of these agents, a railway employee named
Kiefer, confessed and volunteered his services to CIC, the

latter promptly doubled him. CIC, apparently suspicious
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that the Soviets knew that Kiefer was doubled, played the
agent cautiously.® (Kiefer, himself, complained that
CIC dalliance was causing the Soviets to become suspicious.)
Nevertheless, CIC continued to run him from 1954 until
March 1959, when, aftér five years of relatively unproductive
activity, they turned the case over to the BfV. CIC
recommended that the case be terminated and the network
rolled-up.

The BfV, however, was intrigued with the large number
of contacts and suspects in the RU net. They were particularly
jnterested in one lead to a W/T agent, who happened to be a
relative of Kiefer’s, wholwas in two-way contact with Sokolov.
Morcover, the BfV harbored some suspicion that perhaps Kiefer's
l1ack of productivity had resulted from CIC mishandling, and
that some of the agents in the network might be salvaged.
For these reasons, they decided to follow up some of the leads
more carefully before terminating the case.

At this point, the case suddenly began to move. Sokolov
took two important steps: he gave Kiefer an OWVL system;
and he introduced him to two Erfurt-based agents who ostensibly
were to help him rvecruit a source at the Sembach airfield.
These agents, a married couple named Lore and Waldemar Poehimann,
acted as principal agents and safehouse keepers for Sokolov.
Frau Poehlmann was already a long-time Soviet and MfS agent;
her husband had for some time been listed in CIC files as an
RU Transborder Intelligence agent. From Sokolov's action, it
appeared that he did nottconsider Kiefer to be under Western

control.

*K{eTat reported several remarks made by Sokolov's RU chief
which suggested that the Soviets might be suspicious that
Kiefer was under Western control. Moreover, it is likely
that the CIC case officer felt that Sokolov's flamboyant
insecurity was a little too good to be true.
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There is special significance to Kiefer's being given
OWVL just after the valtook over the case from cxc; We
now realize (although we did not at the time) that it is
characteristic of the Soviets, in running diversionary
opefations, to supply agents whom they know or strongly
suspect have been doubled by the opposition with sophisticated
communications systems. At least as early as 1958, the
RU was deliberately continuing to run such cases with
increasingly elaborate communications. This is conflrmed
by Iformation ffom our penetration of the GRU, Lt. Col.
Popov. In July of that year, Popov was discussing with an
RU colleague several Transborder cases aimed at Holland.
The Soviet remarked to Popov that his “entire Dutch residency
had been compromised,' Significantly, it was after this
conversation that the RU trained one of these agents (Dutch
Cryptonym PARKER) in OWVL.*

In May 1959 the BfV briefed CIA about the Kiefer case

o g ovue /@,,,\__.(

and CIA took on the job of coordination between the BfYAand

dzyp&? oS/ m—\_ﬁx{ R
CIC Ehick—in—-turs = “ st oEead During the summer

Kiefer's information was investigated and a plan was devised
for the roll-up of his net sometime in the fall, In September,
however,‘two facts were developed which served to delay this
action: (1) CIA discovered that it had an agent already in
contact with Sokolov who, apparently, was a member of the

came net as Kiefer; and (2Z) a BND agent appeared who was in a

position to provide information on the Poehlmann's.

#Tn consldering the reasons why the RU gave their agents OWVL
after they knew them to be controlled by Western services, we
surmise that this action served several purposes. It was a

new development which whetted the interest of the doubling service
and indicated that the agent was well-regarded by the Soviets.

At the same time, it provided a measure of protection to the RU,
as it allowed them to keep the cases running with a minimum of
direct personal contact between case officer and agent. It also
allowed a formal contact to be dragged out for a considerable
length of time without any real substantive content. For
example, the number of XKiefer's OWVL broadcasts consisting

simply of a call-up signal and a negative message indicator is
impressive. So is the number of breadcasts which were unintelli-
gible for technical reasons.
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The CIA agent was one Bruno Droste, a refugee from
Erfurt of obscure loyalties, who was then giving music
1essons to Americans in Frankfurt. To one of his pupils,
an American officer, he offered information about a Soviet
intelligence officer named "Starov" with whom he was in
contact in Erfurt. Droste described "Starov” as a remarkably
insecure drunkard, who ran operations against US installatioms
in Wiesbaden. Contrary to CIA orders to disregard Soviet
attempts to contact him, Droste met "Starov' in a safehouse
in Karlshorst, East Berlin, in September 1959. From Droste's
description of this encounter, "Starov' was identified as
Sokolov. At the same time, it was also discovered that Droste
had earlier reported having seen blank East German residency
permits in "Starov's" safehouse which were signed with the name
nKiefer." This information led to the conclusion that Droste
and Kiefer might be part of the same net. Droste, consequently,
was turned over for handling to the BfV.

The other development involved a resident of Erfurt named
llaller. Haller had been spotted by another BND agent in
Erfurt who reported that Haller would be amenable to recruitment
and that he could provide information on MfS activities.
Haller was easily recrﬁited and proved to be a prolific source
of information on Frau Poehlmann. 1In September 1959, Haller
stated that the Poehlmann's were both MfS and Soviet agents.
A short time later, he reported that Frau Poehlmann was working
for a Soviet intelligence officer named Sokolov, and that the
two were having an affair. This report that Frau Poehlmann was
being run by the Soviets rather than by the MfS caused her
case to be turned over by the BND's MfS section to the direct
control of Felfe in the Soviet CE section. In mid-November,
Haller reported that Frau Poehlmann was going to West Germany for
a'holiday.” Then the BND, under Felfe's direction, began to
mount an operation against Frau Poehlmann, to use her as a

means of access to Sokolov.
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Meanwhile, Sokolov had continued to contact Droste.
emdicei S
CIA and the BEV had decided to try to deses Sokolovs LL/AIZi«v
through Droste during the roll-up of Sokolov's net which
was then planned for December. Until this time, there had
been no official coordination between the BND and the BfV,
AC’MM%Z :.IE,ML Tt

althoughAPeife qu#ﬁa—&!kgtr advised informally through
his centacts within the BfV. It was not until the BND
submitted a priority namecheck request on the Poehlmann's to
the BfV, CIA and CIC that it came into the open that all
services were working on the same target.

%A1l agreed that the BND had the best chance to succeed
in éfzzi;;;;jSokolovsxvgi%;.Poehlmann was at the time, according

s
to Haller, in the Federal Republic, taking a rest cure. A
BND man, Richard Schweizer, acting on Haller's information,
had contacted her on her arrivel in West Germany and had easily
established a liaison with her.* .He reported that he found
Frau Poehlmann more than approachable: that, in fact, she
seemed to go about the business of being promiscuous as though
it were a duty.

About the same time, another event of interest occurred:
the BfV reported that Kiefer had been able to 1mpfeve his
previously somewhat strained relations with his relative: the
W/T operator; it seemed that he might be able to get some
useful information on the network's communications system.

At this point, it appeared that there were perhaps too
many plums just within reach: for CIA, an RU case officer;
for the BfV, a net with W/T operating inside West Germany: for
the BND, a clutch of East German agents. Everyone agreed to
siow down. The BND proposed a general coordinating conference,
and on 11 Pebruary 1960 representatives of the three services
met in Cologne to discuss further procedures. It was decided

that coordination at the respective headquarters would be

¥eThweTzer will be Temembered for his participation in the
CAMPUS operation.
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supplemented by daily operstional coordination b? the various
case officers from the three services. (As a measure of

the Soviet success in tieing up Western assets, it should

be noted that one CIA officer was engaged full time for

six months on this one liaison operation.)

Throughout the spring and early summer the three-way
coordination worked in high-gear, The basic agreement was
that "no service will undertake any action...without
coordinating...with the other services concerned...[and}...
there will be a free and full exchange of information..."

By July 1960, the number of identified and suspect agents
radiating from Kiefer, other members of his net, from
Droste, the Poehlmanns, and from Haller, amounted to some
200 people located in 11 West German cities and in East
Berlin and East Germany. Moreover, the criscrossing of
trace information seemed to imply overlaps with GRU, KGB,
East German, Polish cases, and even with one or two Algerian
FLN operations in West Germany. With rare exceptions,
however, these people offercd poor material for intelligence
work and little or no relevance to the goal of recruiting
Sokolov. .’ )

In mid-July, Sokolov again sent Frau Poehlmann to West
Germany. There, she came into close operational contact
with Kiefer, who thought thzt she was definitely defectable.
More important, he reported that she had quoted Sckolov as
being willing to accept American asylum rather than return
to the USSR for retirement in September. The coordinating
committee decided to move to recruit Frau Poehlmann at once.
If she would not help to defect Sokolov, she would be arrested,
Sokolov would be approached by letter, and his West German

agents would be arrested.
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Frau Poehlmann was detained on 23 July. She indicated
that she considered Sokolov to be immoral and insincere,
and claimed that he had expressed "Western tendencies.”

She agreed to work as a double agent, but it soon became

apparent that she was confessing only as much as her interrogators
already seemed to know. She was judged unreliable and was
formally arrested on 25 July. but even after this, she agreed

to write to Sokolov endorsing our defection invitation.®

Our letter was mailed to her husband for delivery to Sokolov.

On 27 July the roll-up of Sokolov's net began, starting
with a tentative 1list, compiled on the basis of Kiefer's
information, of 23 persons. The W/T operator was among the
first. Some ten days later, both Kiefer's OWVL and the
W/T operafer's communications system were still producing
messages from the East - indicating, to all appearances, that
the RU was still in the dark.

In early August, Haller reported that Herr Poehlmann
had been unable to deliver the letter to Sokolov because the
latter was out of town. Meanwhile, when Frau Poehlmann didn't
return from her trip to the health resort, her husband opened
the letter, thinking it might offer some clue to her whereabouts.
Although he couldn't read the Russian text, he recognized that
a telephone number in it (the one through which Sokolov was
to contact an American officer) was located in West Berlin.

Aided by Haller (who claimed he was helping Poehlmann because
Poehlmann was partially deaf), Poehlmann called the number,

and by this means came into direct contact with CIA's Berlin Base.
Poehlmann agreed to cooperate with the West. Poehlmann and
Haller reported that Sokolov had been in an auto accident, but
that he was due to be released soon from the hospital. CIA

gave him a seoond letter for Sokolov. Three weeks later

*Extracts of the offlcisl West German protocol containing Lore
Poehlmann's derogatory statements about Sokclov were sent by
Felfe to his KGB case officer.
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Poehlmann reported that Sokolov still had not reappeared.
At this point, the confensus at the Berlin Base was
that the effort to defect Sokolov was yEabsisly net'going to
suceed. The Base officers had begun to be sPwewhwd chary
of both Haller and Poehlmann. Although they felt that
Poehlmann was probably sincere in his relations with us,
they doubted the truth of his story about the letter to
Sokolov, and they thought that he well might be being monitored
by the Soviets., With regard to Haller, from their
discussions with BND case officers, the Base concluded that
the BND had not chécked out Haller very well, and that their
control over him was very loosé. Although they had no firm
evidence that he was controlled by the MfS or the Soviets,
they felt that he was perhaps lying about his personal affairs.
On 17 September, Frau laller appeared in West Berlin
‘and reported to BND officers that Poehlmann had learned that
Sokolov had gone to Moscow, but was expected back in two
months. Sokolov, of course, never reappeared. On 2 October,
the Hallers requested refugee status in Berlin. Héller reported
that Herr Poehlmann had been questioned in late September by
the MfS about his relations with Sokolov. He cleimed that he
himself had also been questioned by the MfS about his Western
connections, but that he had been relessed for lack of evidence.
Later, after receiving word from his brother that the MfS no
longer considered him a "Western spy,” Haller returned home.
CIA opposed this move, but the BND, thinking that he might
provide further leads to MfS operations in Erfurt, encouraged it.
Felfe's role in the Sokolov case was unusuaily passive
(for Pelfe.) His first officisl exposure to it occurred in
the fall of 1959 when he received an official briefing on the
case from the BfV.* It is likely, however, that he had heard

about the case informally several months earlier, when Kiefer

*FelTe at that time sent some pertinent documents on the case
to Alfred.
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was first turned.over from CIA to the BfV. In February 1960,
Felfe was one of the three officers who represented the BND
at the coordinating committee meeting in Cologne. His German
colleagues latey remarked that his behavior on that occasion,
as well as in ghbsequent lisison, was somewhat unusual.
Instead of railing at them for their incompetence, &s was

his custom, he allowed the BfV free rein in handling the

Kiefer side of the affair, The Poehlmann contact was rTun

to the Frankfurt field office, Felfe represented as BND

consensus his opinion that the Kiefer net should be kept
going as long as possible so that Sokolov could be recruited.
(This approach was contrary to CIA's idea, which was to force
Sokolov's defection by arresting his agents.)

Although the Sokolov case was hailed at the time as a
Western success, it is now clear that the results were, in
fact, far less than had been anticipated. In the egﬁ, of all
the 200 agent leads, only five individuals were arrested.
Moreover, it was found that these persons had simply been
collecting USAF newspapers, phone directories, and making
low-level OB observations. Although two W/T sets®* as well
as photographic and coding materials, were taken from the
W/T operator, there was actually little indication that he had

supplied the RU with any sensitive information on U,S. forces.

#0ne 6F these was supposed to have been the "newest"™ kind
of high speed transmitter, but by this time the GRU knew
this equipment had already been compromised by Popov.
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This series of operational events, comprising the

Sokolov case, was hailed at the time as a major success.

The BfV was delighted with the publicity resulting from its
arrest of five (albeit minor) apents, The BND was left with
the expectation of further MfS leads. CIA was impressed by
the proof that close operational liaison with the GCerman
services could be effective and amicable. CIC and 0SI found
out that Sokolov had done less damage than had been supposed.
It was only after Felfe's arrest that we learned {(from Felfe
himself -- a man who couldn't resist brageing occasionally)
that the KGB had paid him a rare 1,000 DM bonus for his

contribution to this Soviet *failure.*
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Annex D:

ZUVERSICHT Case

This case surmary fllustrates certain problems of source protection.
The KGB learned from Felfe, or possibly from another penetration of the
BHD, that an agent of the RU had been doubled. The KSR informed the /U

of this fact, but requested that the RU continue to run the agent in order
Lt Col E/oa\(l a.
to protect the KGB source. Our ssurce for this information was ==

CIA penctrabion ef the GRU.

T e by Lo e e

Ths R did continue to run the operation

as requested, but only in the most nominal way. Not having guite the

same operational interest in the matter, its handling was reduced to the
| %MW Kfafﬂzwyj

barest mintmum 50’ as tnﬂprnviae prétection of thelr own assets.

ZUVERSICHT (BND cryptonym) was a West German Herchant Marine Captain,
who was recruited in 1951 by the then RU Haval Point in Karlshorst while
on a visit to his family in Fast 3ermany. When he returned to Hest
Germany he reported the recruitment to the Criminal Police and was
eventually turned over to the BfY. For four years, 1953 to 1957 JUVERSICHT
was run by the BfV (which used the cryptonyn SEEBAER) as a double agent.
MI-6 (cryptonym ILLUSTRIOUS) acted as advisor on the case from about
tay 1954 on, ODuring this period ZJUVERSICHT joined the West German Havy
(Bundeswehr Harine) at RU urging. The RU gave ﬁim S/¥, dead drops,

OWVL and promised to instruct him in a new kind of W/T. When 1t was -
determined, however, that ZUVERSICHT would not be able to obtain a
comnissfon in the Navy {because of his aqent status), he decided to
resign and enter the Merchant Marine. At this point, since the agent's
activities would undoubtediy take place putside the Federal Republic,
his case was transferred to the BND., This occurred formally in
September 1957, but the BHD recefvad detailed operational briefings

on the case in mid-July.

In July 1957 the RU case officer requested ZUVERSICHT to meet him
in Vienna in August. On 24 July the BHD held a conference with the BFV
on plans for the meeting. The BiD offered the use of ﬁgz%;~¥ieﬁna based
surveiliance personnel to the BfV and proposed the photographing of the

RU case officer. The BfY later cecided to reject this offer and to

PEoLonoTo
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use its own personnel. Shortly Lefore the meeting the BFY surveillance
personnel were instructed not to attempt to photograph the RU officer.
The BfY and BND also agreed that ZUVERSICHT should not yet inform the
RU officer that he was transferring to the Merchant Marine, because
they feared that the RU might lose interest in giving him the new W/T
training 1f they %;;ﬁ this, The meeting took place as scheduled, but,
contrary to BfV hopes, the RU officer informed ZUVERSICHT that he would
not have W/T training after all, but would henceforth work through a
dead drop, which would be serviced by a W/T operator he never met.
Shortly after this, in September 1957, Lt. Col. Popov informed
us that this RU officer was Captain Yuriy Pavievich Sklavets of the Naval
operational group in Karlshorst and that his case had recently been
discussed at a routing RU officers’ meet1ng. At this meeting 1t was.
announced that the KGB had recently informed the RU Naval group that
Sklavets' agent was doubled and that Sklavets had been photographed
by a Western CI service during his meeting in Vienna," The KGE
requested the RU to keep on running it in order to protect the KGE
source.
After ZUVERSICHT's return from Vienna, he informed the RU of
his impending transfer to the Merchant Marine. He told them that his
office in the Bundeswehr Marine was undergoing a security & review and
that he had taken fright and decfded to resign and go back into the
Merchant Marine. This story had been concocted - an actual security review was
staged - by the BfV and the BND in order to avoid giving the RU the real
reason for the}transfer and in order to provide an excuse for the
abrupt notification. The RU replied to ZUVERSICHT by ordering him to
stop operating and to send his family to East Germany, but by the time the
letter reached ZUVERSICHT's home address he was already on the Atlantic

bound for a year's duty in Mexico.

#This was 2 clear indication of staff penetratfon, as only a penetration
could have known of the original plan to photograph the case officer, which
was in fact never implemented. It also gave some indication of the position
and knowledgeability of the penetration, i.e. he &ms knew of the plan but
was unaware of its cancellation.
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After the meeting with Sklavets in Vienna in 1957, TUVERSICHT had
na further personal contact with the RU: he received no EEI. Messages
were fow and far between and inevitably timed to arrive in his home
port Just after ZUVERSICHT's ship had put out on 2 cruise of mény months.

_ from ZUVERSICHT's point of view.

The method of cormunication becara more and more "1nsé¢urgjﬂA Tge RU ,
officer sinply wrote a letter using ordinary postal channels and a very
simple open code. The only sign of assertiveness was one request that
ZUVERSICHT try to get a berth on a ship putting in te Baltic ports!
Felfe kept his end of the game up with characteristic style., He
frequently elaborated on the theme that the RU is generally an incompetent
organization (as indeed 1t seemed in this case), and he had JUVERSICHT
write a letter of complaint to his RU case officer criticizing him

for the insecure cormunications and generally shabby treatment., The

7UVERSICHT case ran in this mamer until 19611

z s
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Annex E:

MERKATCR Case

A 64 il
Whereas ZUVERSICHT illustraiss a sttuation in which s=Halean

Servésr continued to tolerate % at ¥GB request and
did it with the"ﬁ%gggé effort possible, giving itself the appearance
of great incompetence, the MERKATUR case shows a more creative reaction
to the presence of a double agent. The more g purposeful handling
is probably attributable to the fact that MERKATOR was an agent of the
East German foreign intelligence (MfS/HVA) and as such more directly
controliable by a KGB advisor,

MERKATOR was a student at Bonn University in 1957 and worked
part time as a waiter at state roceptions. He was spotted by an
MFS/HVA agent in the CDU/Ost (Sectfmn of the Christian Democratic Party
for East Germany) and recruited for the tast German service in East
Berlin in January 1957 (HVA cover name OFEY) to report on security
precautions at state receptions in Bonngi%g spot agent candidates among
personnel concerned with the organization of receptions, handling of
hotel accommodations (for the purpcse of making audio insta!lations)j

frireqpal agent

etc, He was put in contact with an HVA re;ideaérin Hast Germany.,
MERKATOR turned himself in to security authorities and the BfV sub-
sequently ran him as a double in what they coﬁsiderﬁd 2 good and
productive operation.

tiot long after HERKATOR's doubling, Felfe patd a visit to sore
BfV colleagues and was briefed off-the-record about the case because
it was so interesting. Felfe was told he could mention the case in-
formally at BND headquarters. About six months after this, about
mid-1958, the operation underwent a major change. ‘hat happened was
subsequently explained to us by MIRKATOR's HVA case officer, Max Heim,
who defected to the West in May 1359, Heim reported that just when he
thought his operation was going vary well, the Soviet advisor to the
HVA approached him and informed hia that his agent had been “doubled
by Gehlen" (sic), - Heim had then bdeen instructed to turn his agent over

to ancther section (Heim specializad in operations against the Christian

-— S5~
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Democratic and Christian Social Union parties) which would continue to
r&n the case as an operation known to be controlled by a Western service.
At this point the VA objectives in the operation were changed, the HVA
principal agent who had been supporting MERKATOR in West Germany was
withdrawn, and future comwunications wers handled through personal contacts
in East Berlin,

The revised objective of the operation was to pass diversionary leads

A o oy TR A G M e g o liwn ATk

and disinformation to “the 8§§”4 The HVA endeavcfzzhig;ﬁgiﬂzé ds of
distrust within the BND concerning the governmental office wdex under which
it functioned, {.e, the office of the State Secretary in the Chancellor's
Office, by gencrating the suspicion that the sendor official in this
office was anlﬁﬁst German agent. The HVA also tried to further aggravate
the x distrust between the BND an¢ the CfV, by giving the BND further
"proof” that the BfV was penstrated. MERKATOR was given the assignment to
obtain information about a specific BFV officer, and 4n the coursc of
discussing the assignment the HYA case officer implied the BfY officer was
already cooperating with the East but was not fully trusted. Political
disinformation was also channeled through MERKATOR. The operation was
far less effective than 1t might have been, as the KGR erred in telling
the HVA MERKATGR had been doubled by "Gehlen." The doubling service
was actually the BfV rather than tho BHD, so some of the disinfomation
missed its mark.* For example, the BFV reaction to MERKATOR's report
that one af(ﬂyé officars was an HVA agent was far different than the BND
reaction would havé been to the same report. Although the BfV was
concerned about the implications of MERKATOR's reports and investigated
them, it viewed the sudden changes in the MERKATOR operation with some
reservation. The operation was broken off‘after Heim's defection in

May 1959,

*There are several possible nlausible explanations of the KGR error.

**In connection with Heim's defection, there was an intevesting
development in the PANOPTIKUM casz2, which Felfe had taken over about that
time. In July 1959, the PANOPTIKJ' double agent, Gemeral Panzinger,
recefved a KGB requivement via OWVL to find out 1f Heim hac been a BND
or a BfV agent in place prior to his defection. This was a totally
unrealistic requirement for General Panzinger, as it was not the type
of informatfon he had access to at all, but the requirement could serve
Felfe as an excuse to {ngquire into the Helm case.
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Annex F:

Glossary of German Words and Abbreviations

ADWENT o vnesseesnsnssnnnses-nas Intelligence service of the Supreme
Cormmand of the German Army.

At BIanK ... ..vvevesesssesssas Predecessor organfzation of the Yest
German Mnistry of Defense.

federal Office for the Protection of
the Constitution, principal West German
fnternal security organization.

B 4 A AP AP ISP ETRERIE R LS P T T B SR

B .t iriscesacancreenesasenanna Federal Intelligence Service, the organ-
ization responsible for foreign intelli-
gence, but which also has some internal
securdty and offensive CE functions.

D{)R ll't.ll‘;l.v.i#&t.i‘!i'.&‘i.t Gemaﬁ Dmocratic R@pub]fc; i;e; East
Germany

N :
Fremde Heere Ost (FHO) ........J6eneral Staff section dealing with infor-
mation concerning armies of countries s
to t e East of Germany, TR apicacd Lopphaoie

GRSLAPO vervevssenronansssnsasaanoPolitical police.

BY'LY vrivvnersssnsnsesssnannsss. Gehlen Organization's field base for
CE and C1 operations., located in
Karlsruhe.

HUA ©vrvessscennsesesssavassnsss. Foreign intelligence component of tho
Fast German Ministry of Security.

KarISHOTSY vvvrevevsesnneasnarsss Saction of East Berlin where the large
fast German Headquarters of the KGI was
located.

Kaiserministerium .....veoes..... Predecessor organization of the Hest
‘ ferman Ministry for All-German Affairs.

Land or Laender .ieeviesssvoess .. Political subdivision(s) of West Germany.
roughly equivalent to a province or state.

LY o ersureeneseaeenenssensenss N Land security service. While not
divectly subordinate to the BfV, it
cooperates closely with it.

HES . ienessnssvnasensneernness Cast German Ministry of State Security.

BSHA vvrnvvvossnasanesasnssaesnsss Central Security Office of the Reich: in
1939 it took over control of the Gestapo,
50, and criminal police.

Ol o iieeinrnnnesesnvssssssanasns SeCurity Service of the S5, in effect the

intelligence service of the SS and the
Hazi Party.
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SED teiiiiiissiivensevarareneess. Soclalist Unfty Party, the Comunist
Party of fast Germany.

SF5 tiiiiiiiiriasarescieriaien... Predecessor organization of the #fS,
the Fast German Ministry of Security.

P iiiiiereniereciscnianessnans. West German Socialist Party,
t SS B HEAN A 2 AN R ES IR BIAP LI R FEE AN SN E‘it@ Suard Gf the ?&azi Partya

»féiii;lzfﬁfgiagéilﬁlﬁé§§§§§£§ﬁ§§é§é§§i§?§:é“-

Haffan SO tiviivinerenvennensaees Hilitarized branch of the Elite Guard
of the Hazi Party.

IR AR
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